
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Monday, 31 May 2021 
 
 

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Tuesday, 8 June 2021 
beginning at 

7:00 pm 
in the 

The Point, Leigh Road, Eastleigh, SO50 9DE 

 
 
TO: Councillor Alex Bourne (Chair) 
 Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Tina Campbell 
Councillor Daniel Clarke 
Councillor Jephthe Doguie 
Councillor Tanya Park 

Councillor Wayne Irish 
Councillor Darshan Mann 
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk  Please email 
Democratic.Services@eastleigh.gov.uk to register to speak 
before the meeting. 
 

 Guy Riddoch, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 3369; Email: 
guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
JOANNE CASSAR 

Executive Head of Governance 
 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meetings held on 22 March 2021 and 25 March 
2021. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 
Public seating will be limited at this meeting due to the current Government 
restrictions. You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following 
email: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
midday on Monday 7 June 2021. Please let us know if you wish to attend the 
meeting in person so that we can manage numbers. 
 

5.   Chair's Report  
 

6.   Presentation on Planning Guidelines  
 

7.   Planning Application - Land West of Allbrook Way, Knowle Hill, Eastleigh, SO50 
4LZ - O/19/86980 (Pages 13 - 66) 
 
Outline planning application for up to 52no. residential dwellings (C3 use) with 
associated landscaping, infrastructure and access from Knowle Hill (all matters 
reserved except for access). (AMENDED DESCRIPTION) O/19/86980 
 

8.   Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) - Various Roads in Eastleigh (Pages 67 - 104) 
 

9.   Guiding Regeneration for Eastleigh Town Centre (Pages 105 - 128) 
 

10.   Appointments to Outside Bodies (Pages 129 - 140) 
 

11.   Financial Management Report (Pages 141 - 146) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Tuesday, 14 September 2021 at 7:00 pm 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 22 March 2021  (7:00 pm – 9:31 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Campbell (Chairman); Councillors Bourne, Bicknell, Clarke, 
Doguie, Irish, Mann and Tyson-Payne 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

160. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

161. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2021 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

162. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
Mr Bob Everett addressed the Committee on behalf of the Gym 
Improvement Group (GIG) with regards to the proposed redevelopment of 
the Samson’s Gym site. Concerns were raised with the suggested name of 
‘The Parlour’, preservation of the trees surrounding the site and the size of 
the development.  
 
The Chair thanked Mr Everett for his participation in the meeting and 
explained that Member’s were not able to comment at this stage as the 
planning application would be going to a future meeting. 
 
Councillor Gin Tidridge addressed the Committee with regards to access 
of the toilet block at The Hub. It was requested that the opening of the 
toilets be reviewed as it is an important facility for the local residents.  
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Tidridge for her comments and explained 
that the toilets had previously been vandalised and were subject to anti-
social activity. Removal of block was to take place in the next year. 
Consultation was currently under way with centre users to explore how to 
improve building. The project was put on hold due to COVID but it will 
recommence at the end of spring/summer. 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 
163. CHAIR'S REPORT 

 
Airport  

 
The Chair announced that on Thursday 25 March commencing at 10 am, 
the Committee will be determining the Southampton Airport planning 
application. The officer’s recommendation is to permit the application 
subject to a number of conditions outlined in the report.  Should the 
Committee be minded to go against officer advice and refuse the 
application then the application would need to be referred to full council in 
accordance with standing orders 4-25 F (ii). The following categories of 
development applications shall remain for determination by the Council:  
(i) Development constituting a substantial departure from any approved 
statutory or non-statutory plan where the Local Area Committee wishes to 
take a decision contrary to the recommendation of the Head of Housing & 
Development;  
(ii) Development which has a borough-wide significance where the Local 
Area Committee wishes to take a decision contrary to the recommendation 
of the Head of Housing & Development Lead. 

 
Election  

 
The Chair explained that the pre-election period had commenced, formerly 
referred to as purdah, for the election on the 6 May and wished all 
Councillors standing in the election the very best of luck for their re-
election. 

 
Residents were reminded that the deadline for registering for a postal vote 
was 5pm on 20 April.   

 
Easing of Lockdown an Eastleigh Road Map (subject of course to 
regular government reviews) 

 
On 12 April, non-essential retail together with indoor sports and leisure 
facilities (for individuals) and outdoor hospitality will re-open. On the 17th 
May, pubs and restaurants can open indoors and leisure centres and 
gyms for classes and outdoor events. If all things go well at the earliest on 
21 June things will return as close to normal as possible. 

 
Funds had been set aside to help celebrating each stage with a range of 
events and promotions to encourage a safe return to the town centre and 
the fantastic facilities. 
 
Wildflowers  

 
The previous trial plots, at the top end of Twyford Road, proved to be very 
popular. The Chair was pleased to confirm that this would be expanding 

4



3 
 

further to three new sites: on Chestnut Avenue opposite the Colleges, 
Passfield Avenue south of Nightingale Avenue, and Woodside Avenue 
near the northern Bosville junction. This year a perennial meadow seed 
mix alongside the annual mix which was used last year will be trialled.  
The perennial mix takes longer to establish but will keep going for years to 
come and is better for bio-diversity. 

 
Garden Tree Scheme 
 
200 patio fruit trees had been purchased from Brambridge Garden Centre 
and were being offered at a 50% discount price of only £10. They will be 
available on a first-come-first-served basis and limited to one per 
household (for households within the Local Area) and can be purchased 
via Eastleigh Borough Council’s website. This is just a small part of the 
wider Climate Emergency plan to increase trees in urban areas, as well as 
countryside sites. The scheme should go live within the next two weeks. 
 

164. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 
 
The Head of Housing and Development gave a short presentation on 
guidelines that had to be taken into account when determining planning 
applications; in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken 
into account.  This was set against the broader policy framework. 
 

165. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND WEST OF ALLBROOK WAY, 
KNOWLE HILL, EASTLEIGH, SO50 4LZ 
 
The Committee considered the report of Principal Planning Officer 
(Agenda item 7) concerning a planning application for up to 53no. 
residential dwellings (C3 use) with associated landscaping, infrastructure 
and access from Knowle Hill (all matters reserved except for access). 
(AMENDED DESCRIPTION) (Ref: O/19/86980). 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
Members resolved to DEFER the application to allow for 
consideration to be given as to whether children’s play provision 
could be provided on site in lieu of the proposed contribution 
towards improvements to existing off-site play areas.  
 
(Note: (A) One resident and Councillor David Betts on behalf of Allbook 
Parish Council submitted written statements in objection citing concerns 
with regards to the lack of provision on site for informal play, parking, 
access issues, poor transport links, site drainage and increase in traffic. 
(B) The applicant’s agent submitted a written statement in support of the 
application stating that the proposed development adequately reflects the 
woodland setting of the site and its relationship to the surrounding area. 
(C) Councillor Clarke left the meeting at 21:10.) 

5



4 
 

 
166. PLANNING APPLICATION -  3 NEWTOWN ROAD, EASTLEIGH 

 
The Committee considered the report of Principal Planning Officer 
(Agenda item 8) concerning a Single storey side / rear extension (Ref: 
H/21/89681). 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
PERMIT subject to the conditions as set out in the agenda.  
 
 

167. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
Consideration was given to a report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 9) that contained recommendations for expenditure from the 
Committee’s capital and revenue budget. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
(1) £250,000 to be allocated to support an Eastleigh Town Centre 

improvement programme from developers’ contributions; 
 
(2)  £164,903 to be allocated for the provision of a new community 

building for Allbrook Parish from developers’ contributions; 
 
(3) £156,964.11 to be allocated for improvements to local health care 

facilities from developers’ contributions; 
 
(4)  £97,000 to be allocated for a three-year bus subsidy for the 

diversion and evening extension of the existing Bluestar 2 bus 
route to the North Stoneham Park development from developers’ 
contributions; 

 
(5)  £77,363 to be allocated to the Freespace Skatepark project from 

developers’ contributions; 
 
(6)  £50,000 to be allocated to Fleming Park Play Area and Paddling 

Pool improvements from developers’ contributions; 
 
(7) £45,000 to be allocated flood management measures for Fleming 

Park from developers’ contributions; 
 
(8)  £40,000 to be allocated for the extension of the Wells Place event 

space from developers’ contributions 
 
(9)  £8,000 to be allocated for a vehicle access at Allbrook Meadow 

from developers’ contributions; and 
 

6



5 
 

(10)  £1,050 to be allocated for The Local Area Community Grants 
from the Revenue Budget. 

 
 
M6615 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 25 March 2021  (10:00 am – 11:59 pm) 
Friday 26 March 2021 (6pm – 8:30pm) 

 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Campbell (Chairman); Councillors Bourne, Bicknell, Clarke, 
Doguie, Irish, Mann and Tyson-Payne  
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor Bicknell declared that he is a member of Southampton 
International Airport Consultative Committee. The Committee is not a 
committee of the Council and its role is to help provide a forum for 
discussing airport-related issues with those who may be affected. He 
declared he had taken advice and that his membership of the consultative 
committee did not conflict with his role as a local councillor at ELAC today. 
 
For total transparency, Councillor Bicknell also declared that he holds a 
nominal number of shares in one of the airlines proposing to fly out of the 
airport. He had taken advice and this was not a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. Neither will it influence his participation today as an elected 
councillor of Eastleigh Borough Council, taking into account what is said 
and contained within the officer’s report. 
 

2. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 
 
The Head of Housing and Development gave a short presentation on 
guidelines that had to be taken into account when determining planning 
applications; in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken 
into account.  This was set against the broader policy framework. 
 

3. PLANNING APPLICATION - SOUTHAMPTON INTERNATIONAL 
AIRPORT, MITCHELL WAY, EASTLEIGH, SOUTHAMPTON, SO18 2HG 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda item 4) concerning a planning application at 
Southampton International Airport, Mitchell Way, Eastleigh, Southampton, 
SO18 2HG for construction of a 164 metre runway extension at the 
northern end of the existing runway, associated blast screen to the north of 
the proposed runway extension, removal of existing bund and the 
reconfiguration and extension of existing long stay car parking to the east 
and west of Mitchell Way to provide additional long stay spaces. (Ref: 
F/19/86707). 
 

9



2 
 

The Committee was updated that: 

 An additional circa 277 letters of representation were received, of 
which 222 were in support of the development and 52 were against. 
The points expressed both for / against were set out in the public 
representation section of the report already – no substantive new 
matters had been raised.  

 Natural England – no objection to Appropriate Assessment subject to 
clarification around long term maintenance and management of 
sustainable drainage serving the car park and runway extension.  

 Recommendation - remained to Permit with added qualification within 
the “subject to” of (2) the conditions set out below with delegated 
authority to make minor amendments to the conditions to ensure they 
dovetail with, and do not duplicate with, the section 106 agreement; 

 Revised conditions - no.3 (construction controls), no.4 (dust 
management), no.6 (underground services), no.8 (car park 
completion), no.13 (rollout of fixed ground electrical power), no.20 
(drainage). 

 Conditions moved to S106 Agreement – no.9 (night flights), 
unnumbered condition (ATMs between 0600-0700), no.10 engine 
testing, no.11 (Reverse thrust), no.12 (noise cap contour), no.21 
(Biodiversity Environmental Management Plan). 

 Para. 12 - A Sensitivity Test of alternative operations was submitted in 
July 2020 (with ESA) and not October 2020. 
 

 Para. 673 – “Further mitigation to be secured via a Section 106 
Agreement includes a Noise Insulation Policy (NIP), a noise contour 
cap, restrictions on night-time flights, a cap on “vehicle movements”, 
and not a cap on “passenger numbers”. 

 
After 14 hours, The Committee adjourned the meeting at midnight on 25 
March 2021 until Friday 26 March 2021 at 6pm when it recommenced. 
 
A recorded vote occurred: 
 
FOR: Councillors - Bicknell; Bourne; and Mann. 
 
AGAINST: Councillors – Campbell (Chair); Clarke; Doguie; Irish; and 
Tyson- Payne. 
 
(FOR: 3; AGAINST: 5) 
 
RESOLVED - 

1. On 25-26 March the Eastleigh Local Area Committee (ELAC) 
resolved to not support the recommendation of the Head of 

10



3 
 

Housing and Development to permit the planning application. 
The Council and Committee Procedure Rules (Standing 
Orders) (Part 4 of the Constitution) details the process to 
follow for Planning Applications (Appendix A page 4-25). Of 
relevance is paragraph (f) part (ii). In summary this states that 
for a development which has “borough-wide significance” 
and where the Local Area Committee wishes to take a 
decision contrary to the recommendation of the Head of 
Housing & Development shall be determined by Full Council.  

2. In not supporting the recommendation to approve the 
development, ELAC members expressed concerns in regard 
to increased air traffic movements (ATMs) and resultant 
impact of emissions on the climate, the increased impact of 
noise on the community and impact of additional vehicular 
movement on the highway.  

(NOTES: Councillors had a lengthy debate citing concerns about 
environmental impact, climate change, noise pollution, increased traffic 
and the climate change and environmental emergency declaration.  
 
Approximately 58 people spoke in objection to the application, citing 
concerns including – but not limited to - air quality and pollution, climate 
change, increase in air traffic, noise disruption, lesson disruption in 
schools, CO2 emissions, road traffic increases, ecological impact, parking, 
impact on health and wellbeing, tree felling, economical impact on 
Bournemouth Airport, unnecessary expansion and wider transport network 
pressure. 
 
In the region of 60 people spoke in support of the application, citing – but 
not limited to -economic prosperity, income and job improvements after 
Covid 19, benefit to local businesses, increased transport links, benefits to 
the Channel Islands, rebuilding local businesses after the pandemic, 
concerns around loss of airport if it cannot be financially viable, 
conjunction with Freeport, reduction of internal road travel, environmental 
benefits of using local airports, increased travel destinations and that 
planes of the same size already operate from and to the airport but with 
reduced capacity due to the length of runway.) 
 
M6818 
 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
ELAC – Eastleigh Local Area Committee Tuesday 8 June 2021 

 
Application 
Number: 

 
O/19/86980 

Case Officer: David Huckfield 
Received Date: 28/11/2019 
Site Address: Land West of Allbrook Way, Knowle Hill, Eastleigh, 

SO50 4LZ 
Applicant: Cranbury Estates Limited 
Proposal: Outline planning application for up to 52no. residential 

dwellings (C3 use) with associated landscaping, 
infrastructure and access from Knowle Hill (all matters 
reserved except for access). (AMENDED 
DESCRIPTION) 

 
Recommendation:  
 

 

Subject to:  
 

i) the receipt and consideration of outstanding consultation 
responses from Hampshire Countryside Services and 
Environmental Health;  
 

ii) the receipt of updated parameter plans to accord with the 
latest iteration of the indicative layout; 
 

iii) the imposition of any necessary additional or amended 
conditions including updating the list of approved plans;  
 

iv) the applicant entering into a legal agreement to secure the 
required planning obligations and affordable housing; and, 

 
v) the receipt of the additional information requested by Natural 

England in relation to sediment loading in the River Itchen, the 
completion of a Habitats Regulations Assessment and 
subsequent further consultation with Natural England. 

 
To Delegate back to the Head of Housing and Development in 
conjunction with the Chair and Vice Chair of Eastleigh Local Area 
Committee to GRANT OUTLINE PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 

with the following plans numbered: BRS.3586_14 (Location Plan), 
BRS.3586 Figure 3 (Proposed Site Access and Associated Works), 

13

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 

(Amended parameter plan references to be added once updated 
drawings are received).  
 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.  

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall begin either no later than the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or no later than 
the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.  
 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 and to ensure the timely delivery of housing. 
 

3. No development shall start until details of the: a) the site layout; b) scale 
of the buildings; c) external appearance of the buildings; and d) 
landscaping of the site [hereafter called "the reserved matters"] have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be 
made within two years of the date of this permission. The development 
shall accord with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 and to ensure the timely delivery of housing.  

 
4. The site layout to be submitted as part of the reserved matters 

application shall be in general accordance with the indicative site layout 
(drawing number: BRS.3586_16 Sheet No: 01 Revision: P). 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area.  

 
5. No development above slab level shall start until details and samples of 

the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area. 

 
6. Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Demolition and 
construction work shall only take place in accordance with the approved 
CEMP which shall include:  
 
a) a programme and phasing of the demolition and construction work; 

14



 
 
 

b) the location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material and plant storage areas used during demolition and 
construction;  
c) safeguards to be used within the construction process to ensure 
surface water contains no pollutants on leaving the site. This should 
include safeguards for fuel and chemical storage and use and 
incorporate the recommendations for construction drainage as set out 
within Section 5 of the submitted Ecological Impact Assessment 
(Species Ecological Consultancy, November 2020); 
d) the arrangements for the routing / turning of lorries and details for 
construction traffic access to the site;  
e) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading / unloading of plant and materials and restoration of any damage 
to the highway [including vehicle crossovers and grass verges];  
f) the parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors;  
g) management measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 
generated by demolition and construction;  
h) a scheme, following assessment, for controlling noise and vibration 
impacts on noise sensitive properties from demolition, site preparation 
and construction activities (to include details of any piling if proposed);  
i) provision for the storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during the construction period;  
j) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition 
and construction;  
k) the erection and maintenance of security hoardings including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing (where appropriate);  
l) temporary lighting to be used during construction which shall be 
designed in accordance with best practice to protect commuting and 
foraging bats.  
 
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the 
locality and neighbouring residents, in the interests of highway safety, 
and to ensure no adverse impact on biodiversity and hydrology during 
the construction process. 
 

7. No development shall start until plans including cross sections to show 
proposed ground levels and their relationship to existing levels both 
within the site and on immediately adjoining land, have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be occupied until the approved details have been 
fully implemented, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To limit the impact that the development has on the locality and 
in the interests of amenity.  

 
8. No development shall start until details of the width, alignment, gradient, 

sight lines and type of construction proposed for any roads, footpaths, 
cycleways and accesses, have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be 

15



 
 
 

occupied until the approved details have been fully implemented, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To limit the impact that the development has on the locality and 
in the interests of amenity.  
 

9. No development shall commence until a detailed surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on the principles within the submitted Flood 
Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (Cole Easdon Consultants, Ref: 
6557, Issue 5, November 2020), has been submitted and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details should 
include:  
 
a. A technical summary highlighting any changes to the design from that 
within the above referenced Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy; 
b. Detailed drainage layout drawings at an identified scale indicating 
catchment areas, referenced drainage features, manhole cover and 
invert levels and pipe diameters, lengths and gradients; 
c. Detailed hydraulic calculations for all rainfall events, including those 
listed below. The hydraulic calculations should take into account the 
connectivity of the entire drainage features including the discharge 
locations. The results should include design and simulation criteria, 
network design and result tables, manholes schedule tables and 
summary of critical result by maximum level during the 1 in 1, 1 in 30 
and 1 in 100 (plus an allowance for climate change) rainfall events. The 
drainage features should have the same reference as the submitted 
drainage layout; 
d. Evidence that Urban Creep has been considered in the application 
and that a 10% increase in impermeable area has been used in 
calculations to account for this; 
e. Confirmation on how impacts of high groundwater will be managed in 
the design of the proposed drainage system to ensure that storage 
capacity is not lost, and structural integrity is maintained; and  
f. Exceedance plans demonstrating the flow paths and areas of ponding 
in the event of blockages or storms exceeding design criteria.  
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
Reason: To secure the provision of satisfactory surface water drainage 
infrastructure to serve the development.  

 
10. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details for 

the long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface water drainage 
system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The submitted details shall include a) Maintenance 
schedules for each drainage feature type and ownership, and b) Details 
of protection measures. The surface water drainage system shall be 
maintained in accordance with the approved details.  

16



 
 
 
 

Reason: To secure the ongoing provision of satisfactory surface water 
drainage. 

 
11. No development shall start until details for the disposal of foul sewerage 

from the development hereby permitted, and a timetable for its 
implementation, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of foul drainage.  
 

12. Prior to the commencement of development, measures for the protection 
of any public water apparatus (water distribution main and water trunk 
mains) on or in the proximity of the site that could be affected by the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority, in consultation with Southern Water. The 
development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
Reason: To ensure the adequate protection of the public 
water/sewerage system. 

 
13. No development shall be carried out until a detailed landscaping scheme 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall cover all hard and soft landscaping 
including trees, boundary treatments, and hard surfacing and provide 
details of timings for all landscaping. The works shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the 
appropriate British Standard.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality.  

 
14. No development shall be carried out until a Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The LEMP shall include the 
following: 

 
(i) The detail and extent of new planting; 
(ii) Details of maintenance regimes; 
(iii) Details of proposed species enhancements; 
(iv) Details of any habitat created / retained on site; 
(v) Timings for the implementation of proposed ecological mitigation, 

compensation and enhancement measures; and,  
(vi) Details of ongoing management responsibilities.  

 
 Ecological mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures to be 

included in the LEMP shall accord with the recommendations within 
Section 5 of the submitted Ecological Impact Assessment (Species 
Ecological Consultancy, November 2020). 

17



 
 
 
  
 The works and their ongoing management and maintenance shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat found on the site 
and to secure opportunities for the improvement of wildlife corridors and 
wider enhancement of the nature conservation value of the site. 

 
15. All hard & soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatments shall 

be carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the 
appropriate British Standard. For a period of no less than 5 years after 
planting, any trees or plants which are removed, die or become seriously 
damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably 
practicable with others of the same species, size and number as 
originally approved in the landscaping scheme.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents. 
 

16. Prior to the commencement of development, a minerals safeguarding 
report or assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The report shall include empirical data of 
underlying geological stratigraphy captured by borehole or trial pit 
sampling, recommendations and measures for how the use of any 
minerals present could be maximised and timescales associated with 
any extraction. The development shall then be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To protect potentially economically viable mineral resource 
deposits from needless and unnecessary sterilisation and encourage the 
recovery, where possible, of potential viable mineral resources prior to 
development.  
 

17. No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological assessment in 
accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation that has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
assessment should take the form of trial trenches located across the 
whole of the proposed development area to ensure that any 
archaeological remains encountered within the site are recognised, 
characterised and recorded.  
 

Reason: To assess the extent, nature and date of any archaeological 
deposits that might be present and the impact of the development upon 
these heritage assets. 
 

18. No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation of impact, 
based on the results of the trial trenching, in accordance with a Written 

18



 
 
 

Scheme of Investigation that has been first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To mitigate the effect of the works associated with the 
development upon any heritage assets and to ensure that information 
regarding these heritage assets is preserved by record for future 
generations. 

 
19. Following completion of archaeological fieldwork a report will be 

produced in accordance with an approved programme submitted by the 
developer and approved in writing by the local planning authority setting 
out and securing appropriate post-excavation assessment, specialist 
analysis and reports, publication and public engagement.  

 
Reason: To contribute to our knowledge and understanding of our past 
by ensuring that opportunities are taken to capture evidence from the 
historic environment and to make this publicly available. 

 

20. Prior to the commencement of development, the following details shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA): 

 
a) a written report of the findings of intrusive site investigation works 

which includes a description of the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination, an assessment of all potential risks to known 
receptors, an update of the conceptual site model (devised in the 
desktop study), identification of all contaminant linkages and, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA and identified as 
unnecessary in the written report, an appraisal of remediation 
options and proposals for the preferred option(s) identified as 
appropriate for the type of contamination found on site; 

 
and unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the LPA: 

 
(b)  a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a 

condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable 
risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural 
and historic environment. The scheme should include all works to 
be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation 
criteria, a timetable of works, site management procedures and a 
verification plan outlining details of the data to be collected in order 
to demonstrate the completion of the remediation works and any 
arrangements for the continued monitoring of identified 
contaminant linkages. Site works and details submitted shall be in 
accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a 
competent person. 

 
Site investigations are to be undertaken by a competent person and in 
accordance with best practice as outlined in BS10175:2011+A2:2017 
and CLR11. Any gas monitoring deemed appropriate is to be in 

19



 
 
 

accordance with best practice as outlined in such documents as 
BS8576:2013, BS 8485:2015+A1:2019, Claire RB17 and CIRIA C665. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the site and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors 

 
21. Before any part of the development is occupied or used, unless 

otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA), a 
verification report demonstrating the effectiveness of the remediation 
works carried out in accordance with the details approved under 
condition 20, and a remediation completion certificate confirming that the 
approved remediation scheme has been implemented in full, shall both 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. 
 
The verification report and remediation completion certificate shall be 
submitted in accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a 
competent person in accordance with Defra and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the site and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors. 

 
22. All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that 

contamination not previously identified is found to be present on the 
development site and details of the contamination shall be reported 
immediately in writing to the Local Planning Authority (LPA). 
Development shall not re-start on site until the following details have 
then been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA: 

 
(a) a written report of the findings which includes a description of the 

extent, scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all 
potential risks to known receptors, an update of the conceptual site 
model (devised in the desktop study), identification of all 
contaminant linkages and, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the LPA and identified as unnecessary in the written report, an 
appraisal of remediation options and a proposal for the preferred 
option(s) identified as appropriate for the type of contamination 
found on site. 
 

and (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the LPA): 
 

(b) a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable 

20



 
 
 

risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural 
and historic environment. The scheme should include all works to 
be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation 
criteria, a timetable of works, site management procedures and a 
verification plan outlining details of the data to be collected in order 
to demonstrate the completion of the remediation works and any 
arrangements for the continued monitoring of identified 
contaminant linkages. 

 
Before any part of the development is occupied or used (unless 
otherwise first agreed in writing by the LPA) a verification report 
demonstrating the effectiveness of the remediation works carried out and 
a completion certificate confirming that the approved remediation 
scheme has been implemented in full shall both have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the LPA.  

 
The above site works, details and certification submitted shall be in 
accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent 
person in accordance with best practice as outlined in 
BS10175:2011+A2:2017 and CLR11. Any gas monitoring deemed 
appropriate is to be in accordance with best practice as outlined in such 
documents as BS8576:2013, BS 8485:2015+A1:2019, Claire RB17 and 
CIRIA C665. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the site and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors. 

 
23. The first reserved matters application shall be accompanied by an 

updated Arboricultural Implications Assessment (AIA) for consideration 
and approval by the local planning authority. The updated AIA shall 
consider the arboricultural impacts of the detailed layout submitted for 
approval as part of the reserved matters and shall be based upon the 
principles set out within the submitted Arboricultural Implications Report 
(SJA Trees, Ref. SJA air 00609-02, November 2020). The development 
shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important 
part of the amenity of the locality.  
 

24. No development shall start on site until the access to the development 
has been constructed and lines of sight of 2.4 metres by 43.0 metres 
provided in accordance with the approved plans (Drawing Number: 
BRS.3586 Figure 3 (Proposed Site Access and Associated Works) as 
contained within the Submitted Transport Assessment produced by 
Pegasus Group, September 2019). The lines of sight splays shown on 
the approved plans shall be kept free of any obstruction exceeding 1 

21



 
 
 

metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be 
subsequently maintained so thereafter.  
 
Reason: To provide satisfactory access to the development and in the 
interests of highway safety. 
 

25. A pedestrian footway along Knowle Hill linking the site to Woodside 
Avenue shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans 
(Drawing Number: BRS.3586 Figure 3 (Proposed Site Access and 
Associated Works) as contained within the Submitted Transport 
Assessment produced by Pegasus Group, September 2019). The 
footway shall be provided in its entirety and shall be available for use by 
pedestrians prior to first occupation of the residential development 
hereby approved.  
 
Reason: To provide satisfactory pedestrian access and in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

26. The footway linking the existing pedestrian network to the bus stop and 
hardstanding on the southern side of Woodside Avenue shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved plans (Drawing Number: 
BRS.3586 Figure 3 (Proposed Site Access and Associated Works) as 
contained within the Submitted Transport Assessment produced by 
Pegasus Group, September 2019). The footway shall be provided in its 
entirety and shall be available for use by pedestrians prior to first 
occupation of the residential development hereby approved. 

 
Reason: To provide satisfactory pedestrian access and in the interests of 
highway safety. 

 
27. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling within each individual phase of 

the development (or, in accordance with a timetable to be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority), as built stage SAP data and 
an as built stage water calculator confirming energy efficiency and the 
predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the following 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: In respect of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% 
improvement of dwelling emission rate over the target emission rate as 
set in the 2013 Building Regulations; in respect of water consumption, a 
maximum predicted internal mains water consumption of 105 
litres/person/day. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 
than in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design 
across the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government's 
Ministerial Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning 
Authorities should, from the date of its publication, take into account the 
government's intentions in the statement (and not set conditions with 
requirements above a Code level 4 equivalent). 

 

22



 
 
 
28. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of 

any external lighting, including street lighting, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Lighting shall be 
designed to avoid disturbance to commuting and foraging bats and the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and protecting the amenities of 
the area. 
 

29. No vegetation clearance shall occur on site during the bird nesting 
season (between 1st March & 31st August) unless supervised by an 
appropriately qualified ecologist.  
 
Reason: To prevent harm to breeding birds.  

 
30. No construction or demolition related activities or deliveries to the site 

shall take place during the construction period except between the hours 
of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to Fridays or 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays and 
not at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays.  
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings. 

 

31. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source 
shall take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out 
process.  

 

Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 
 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a 
positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner. 
 
Note to Applicant: Southern Water requires a formal application for any new 
connection to the public foul and surface water sewer to be made by the 
applicant or developer. To make an application visit: 
https://developerservices.southernwater.co.uk/ and refer to their New 
Connections Services Charging Arrangements documents which are available 
on their website via the following link: https://southernwater.co.uk/developing-
building/connection-charging-arrangements  
 
Note to Applicant: Given the nature of the proposed development it is 
possible that a crane may be required during its construction. The applicant’s 
attention is therefore drawn to the requirement within the British Standard 
‘Code of practice for safe use of cranes’ for crane operators to consult the 
aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome. This is 
explained further in Advice Note 4, ‘Cranes and Other Construction Issues’, 

23

https://developerservices.southernwater.co.uk/
https://southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements
https://southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements


 
 
 
available at http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-
4-Cranes-2016.pdf 
 
 

 
 
Report 
 
Introduction 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 

development proposal that is contrary to the development plan and is 
deemed to be controversial.  
 

2. The application was previously considered at the meeting of the 
Eastleigh Local Area Committee on Monday 22 March 2021 with 
members resolving to defer the application. This was in order to allow for 
consideration to be given as to whether children’s play provision could 
be provided on site in lieu of a proposed contribution towards 
improvements to existing off-site play areas which had been the initial 
proposal. Subsequent to this meeting an updated layout plan has been 
received with this now showing an equipped play area to be provided in 
the area of open space at the southern extent of the site. As a result of 
the provision of the play area in this location, minor changes to the 
proposed indicative layout have been required with the total number of 
units reducing from 53 to 52 and, whilst remaining at 35% provision, the 
number of affordable units has also reduced from 19 to 18. These 
matters, along with those others of material relevance to the application 
are considered in the sections below.  

 
The site and its surroundings 
 
3. The application site extends to an area of approximately 4.2 hectares 

and lies to the north of Knowle Hill and to the west of Allbrook Way, with 
the latter linking to junction 12 of the M3 motorway further to the north. 
The site is raised notably above the level of Allbrook Way with a 
vegetated bank separating the site from the road. The site itself slopes 
relatively gently from north to south and west to east and is currently 
utilised for grazing purposes. The area includes a large residential 
property (Westfield House) within its central section which is set on a 
sizeable rectangular plot. This property and its curtilage are excluded 
from the red line for the application site.  
 

4. The site is currently accessed from Knowle Hill, with this road being 
bound by existing residential development to part of its southern side. 
There is a public footpath which runs roughly north to south across the 
western part of the application site, with there being an area of woodland 
which is protected by a tree preservation order abutting the north-
western boundary. There is further mature vegetation along the length of 
the western boundary of the site and a tree belt which provides a buffer 

24

http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf


 
 
 

to Allbrook Way along much of the eastern perimeter. There are further 
protected trees along the access drive to Westfield House and the site 
also borders the Allbrook Clay Pits Site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC) to the west.  
 

5. The site abuts the built-up area of Eastleigh but currently lies outside of 
the urban edge and within designated countryside and local gap within 
the Council’s adopted Local Plan. It is however proposed to be allocated 
for residential development for approximately 45 dwellings within the 
Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 under the provisions 
of Policy AL2, with this policy setting a number of requirements that any 
development proposal should adhere to.  
 

Description of application 
 
6. The application seeks outline planning permission for the construction of 

up to 52no. dwellings with details of access only for consideration, with 
this being proposed to be from Knowle Hill at the southern extent of the 
site. Details of layout, design, scale and landscaping are therefore 
reserved for consideration at the subsequent reserved matters stage 
should outline permission be granted. The application is however 
accompanied by an indicative layout which seeks to demonstrate that 
the site can accommodate the level of development proposed as well as 
indicating how the site may be developed.  
 

7. The indicative layout shows a main spine road leading from the site 
access and running roughly parallel with the site’s eastern boundary with 
this being fronted by a number of dwellings which are predominantly set 
within short terraces. The remainder of properties are detached or semi-
detached and are generally set within perimeter blocks with access 
being provided via secondary routes, multi-headed cul-de-sacs or in 
some cases short sections of private drives. The indicative mix of units 
includes 2no. 1-bedroom, 19no. 2-bedroom, 20no. 3-bedroom, and 
11no. 4-bedroom properties, with the majority of dwellings indicated to 
be two-storeys in height with the exception of three detached single-
storey bungalows which are proposed to be positioned at the 
northernmost extent of the site. The proposals include 35% affordable 
housing provision (18no. units).  
 

8. The public right of way along the western side of the site is proposed to 
be retained with connecting links, including via a tree-lined 
pedestrianised route which dissects the site from east-to-west, to be 
provided. An area of open space which will include an equipped 
children’s play area is proposed at the southern end of the site with 
smaller areas or pockets of landscaping, including street tree planting, 
shown in other areas of the development. An undeveloped buffer will be 
included along the western perimeter of the site to take account of the 
easement requirements for the public water main. Additionally, the 
application includes the provision of a connecting footpath along Knowle 
Hill to link the site to the existing pedestrian infrastructure on Woodside 

25



 
 
 

Avenue, as well as a fully funded controlled crossing point on Twyford 
Road. The speed limit on Knowle Hill is also proposed to be reduced 
from 40 to 30mph as part of the works.  
 

9. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical 
assessments which have been updated where necessary throughout the 
course of the application: 

 

 Air Quality Assessment  

 Arboricultural Implications Report 

 Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment 

 Design and Access Statement  

 Ecological Appraisal, Ecological Impact Assessment and 
Ecological Surveys 

 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 

 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

 Noise Impact Assessment 

 Phase I Land Contamination Assessment 

 Planning Statement 

 Statement of Community Involvement 

 Transport Assessment  
 
Relevant planning history 
 
10. There is no planning history on record specifically for the site itself. 

Westfield House was however granted planning permission in 1980 
(under reference Z/03311/001) for the construction of a two-storey 
extension on its eastern side and a single storey rear extension. Despite 
the age of this permission, as it was part implemented (with the rear 
extension having been constructed), it technically remains extant and the 
potential for the two-storey element to be constructed at a later date is 
therefore of material relevance to the consideration of the application.  

 
Representations received 
 
11. A total of 26 letters of objection have been received in relation to the 

application with these including those for the scheme as originally 
proposed (for 59no. units) and those for the scheme as subsequently 
amended. The following matters were raised as concerns or objections 
to the proposals (summarised): 

 
 Loss of green fields and countryside. 
 The site is a designated local gap and the emerging local plan has 

not been adopted yet and should not be used to guide decisions.  
 The application is premature in light of the status of the local plan.  
 The gap should be preserved to protect the identities of the 

communities in Boyatt Wood and Otterbourne.  
 The number of dwellings exceeds what is proposed in the local 

plan allocation.  

26



 
 
 

 Overdevelopment of the site.  
 The development is unnecessary and is not needed.  
 Impacts on the character of the landscape. The LVIA was 

undertaken when trees and shrubs were in full leaf. There will be 
visual impact in winter and early spring months, as well as the loss 
of viewpoints looking south east which provides views across the 
Hampshire hillside and into the South Downs.  

 Will set a precedent for further development in the local gap.  
 Some of the gardens appear to be too small.  
 Impacts on wildlife including birds and bats, as well as on the 

adjacent SINC.  
 The site should be retained to assist in preventing flooding and 

improving air quality.  
 Additional trees should be included within the site to make it part of 

the landscape.  
 It is unclear that the additional planting shown will be realisable due 

to Southern Water restrictions.  
 Regular maintenance of landscaping and the adjacent wooded 

area is required due to additional pressures on the site from future 
residents.  

 The transport assessment was carried out during a holiday season 
and should be redone.  

 Access to the existing properties on Knowle Hill is already difficult 
and inadequate and the additional dwellings will endanger highway 
safety and add to existing congestion including at the Allbrook 
roundabout.  

 Question whether visibility splays are achievable and a road safety 
audit has been carried out, as well as whether the access is 
suitable for bin lorries.  

 The site is unsustainable and insufficient public transport is 
available with likely high car ownership levels.  

 No shops nearby and nearest school indicated is no longer a 
school.  

 No safe walking route to school.  
 Lack of a footpath on Knowle Hill which is currently a 40mph road. 
 Lack of parking provision.  
 The internal road layout is inadequate. 
 The hard landscaping shows only tarmac.  
 The route of the public footpath is incorrectly shown on the plan.  
 The development placing further pressure on local services 

including health care and schools.  
 A community building should be provided on site.   
 Fibreoptic broadband should be provided for the area.  
 If the site to the east of Allbrook Way is developed there should be 

a footbridge provided over the road to allow residents to access 
both sides of the village.  

 The housing balance / mix requested by the housing officer should 
be addressed.  

 Additional dust, noise and smells from the development and 
additional traffic.  

27



 
 
 

 Noise and air quality impacts for future residents.  
 The proposed acoustic fence will have an adverse landscape 

impact.  
 Impact on views from existing properties on Knowle Hill.  
 Bungalows are proposed at the north of the site and should be at 

the opposite end to allow ease of access for residents to local 
services.  

 More bungalows should be provided.  
 Inadequate drainage provisions increasing the risk of flooding and 

exposing the Itchen Valley SAC (Special Area of Conservation) to 
pollution risk.  

 Pollution arising from the construction phase of the development.  
 Risk of contamination from construction works including earth 

movements and piling.  
 Potential damage to the water trunk main.  

 The application should be referred to committee and not 
determined by delegated powers.  

 The submitted statement of community involvement does not 
include all of the comments made.   
 

12. A representation to the scheme as originally proposed (for 59no. units) 
was also received from University Hospital Southampton requesting a 
contribution of £56,758 towards the provision of capacity for the trust to 
maintain service delivery during the first year of occupation of the 
dwellings in the context of blended contracts and during the first three 
years of occupation for Premium Staffing Costs.  
 

13. A further representation was received from Hampshire Swifts requesting 
that if planning permission is granted that swift nest bricks be installed to 
provide improvements for biodiversity.  

 
Consultation responses  
 
14. Allbrook Parish Council 

 
Objection on the following grounds: 
 

 No provision on site for informal play – space at the north of the 
development for a ‘kick about’ area. 

 Protection of the footpath no. 716. Ensure statutory start point 
south of Westfield House is maintained as per Ramblers 
submission. 

 Lack of contribution to the community infrastructure. S106/278 
contributions to the parish of Allbrook. 

 Requirement for a subsidy towards public transport. 

 Parking and access issues in Knowle Hill if the new road is 
privately maintained. 

 Development in isolation from the village of Allbrook. 

28



 
 
 

 Concern with 40mph approach to roundabout – safer crossing 
points required for Woodside Avenue and Twyford Road. 

 Drainage needs to be sufficient to prevent any impact to the Itchen 
Valley.  A variety of porous surfaces should be considered. 

 
Members considered the matter of play provision. It would be preferable 
to have something for younger children on site with the increase in 
multiple bedroom properties which would encourage families with 
children to the development. However, a contribution towards the 
existing play area at Allbrook Hill Recreation could be considered if a 
safer crossing point was installed across Woodside Avenue and Twyford 
Road. Currently, there is no safe passage from the development site to 
the village or local amenities. 
 

15. Ecology 
 

The reduction in the number of dwellings enables improvements in green 
infrastructure with a more complete planted buffer around the entire site 
boundaries. A Construction Environmental Management Plan and an 
Ecological Mitigation Strategy will still need to be conditioned. The 
relevant recommendations in the Ecological Impact Assessment 
(including details of a temporary drainage scheme) must also be 
incorporated into the CEMP to avoid pollution from surface water runoff. 
Any trapped gullies must be supplied with amphibian escape ramps as 
recommended by the Ecological Impact Assessment. The SuDS 
recommendations in the amended Flood Risk & Drainage Strategy by 
Cole Easdon Associates (November 2020) shall be implemented.  

 
16. Tree Officer 
 

Site access and tree loss – in terms of BS5837, the proposed removal of 
trees 5, 6, 7 and 81 is justified: they are all relatively small specimens 
and their loss will not be significant in the wider context. Any tree 
removal will obviously have to be compensated for through landscape 
design. There is some caution with regards to the potential footpath 
connections. These will have to be carefully identified and should avoid 
the RPAs (Root Protection Areas) of retained trees. Where avoidance is 
not possible, the arboricultural specialist will have to demonstrate that 
construction can be achieved without tree loss or significant harm. 
Overall, the submitted arboricultural document provides suitable detail 
and demonstrates that the retention of the identified trees is feasible. 
The arboricultural document should be conditioned, with an updated 
assessment provided at reserved matters stage.  

 
17. Planning Policy 
 

The submission Local Plan proposed a link road and associated 
widening of Allbrook Way, related to a strategic growth option (policy S5 
and S6). The plan’s evidence included a high-level feasibility study 

29



 
 
 

regarding the widening of Allbrook Way which suggested there would be 
no conflict with this proposal. In the light of the Local Plan Inspector’s 
post hearing letter (examination document 71) policies S5 and S6 will 
need to be deleted to secure the adoption of the Local Plan. The 
Council’s Cabinet resolved to proceed on this basis on 25 June. On this 
basis, and in the absence of any comment to the contrary from HCC, we 
do not need to consider the relationship between this planning 
application and the widening of Allbrook Way any further. No policy 
objection is raised on these grounds. 

 
18. Urban Design Officer  

 
No objection. The latest changes to the site layout plan represent very 
positive improvements to the scheme taking on board the previous 
comments that have been made. There are therefore no further 
comments to make at this stage.  
 

19. Landscape Officer 
 

The recent changes to the site layout are welcomed, especially the 
redesign that means an acoustic barrier will no longer be required. There 
was concern that the construction of a barrier would result in significant 
landscape and visual impact. Since the acoustic barrier has been 
omitted, the existing LVIA report is considered acceptable. 
 
Any future detailed application must demonstrate the proposal has been 
genuinely landscape led. The creation of robust Green Infrastructure is 
essential. The revised site layout improves the relationship between the 
proposed units and the existing retained Westfield House. There is 
scope to further bolster the screen planting here. The latest site layout 
shows the strengthening of the east – west green links. This is a positive 
contribution to the overall Green Infrastructure on the site. Detailed 
design will need to demonstrate that the tree planting in these linear 
spaces can be successfully implemented. In some locations, where 
proposed trees are within hard surfacing, specialist underground tree 
cells may be required to provide the new trees with sufficient soil 
volumes to ensure successful long-term growth. 
 
Other points to be considered at the detailed design stage include 
opportunities to bolster the existing boundary screening with further trees 
and native mix planting; the angle of slope of the attenuation basins to 
create a natural profile; the incorporation of SUDS elements into the 
drainage scheme; the setting and enhancement of the existing public 
right of way; a fully detailed hard landscape plan including a range of 
quality surfacing; measures for the ecological enrichment of the site. 
 

20. Natural England 
 
It remains Natural England’s advice that further information is required. 
The impact of sediments on the Itchen is quite specific to this 

30



 
 
 

development in that it is a localised problem dependent on local geology 
and hydrology. In normal circumstances sediments may be appropriately 
addressed mainly through infiltration to ground, however this site is on 
clay which means surface drainage has to be largely managed and 
directed offsite. This site drains into the River Itchen SAC and may 
impact Atlantic salmon which are known for sensitivity to fines, plus there 
is evidence the local population is not faring well. 
 
In order to be able to conclude no adverse effect on integrity, it needs to 
be ensured that the development will result in a betterment of sediment 
run off into the SAC. Therefore, we consider further consideration and 
clarity is needed on the existing baseline situation – e.g., what are the 
current sediment loading routes through the site, where is the exact 
discharge point/outfall into the SAC; what is the current state of the 
Itchen along this stretch with regards to silt levels etc.  
 
Then further consideration should be given to the measures proposed to 
deal with surface drainage - it will be absolutely key to detail exactly how 
the run-off will be treated for pollutants and allow for as much sediment 
capture as possible, and to ensure such a SuDS system is maintained in 
perpetuity to ensure its effectiveness over the lifetime of the 
development. A long-term and funded maintenance and monitoring plan 
is recommended. 

 
21. Environmental Health 
 

Contaminated Land 
 
The submitted Desk Study has identified pollutant linkages in relation to 
the proposed development and recommends that further intrusive site 
investigation works are required. Conditions are therefore recommended 
in this respect requiring the submission of a report of the findings of the 
requisite investigations, along with remediation proposals and the 
subsequent validation of these. A further condition is recommended in 
relation to the potential encountering of unsuspected contamination 
during development works and how this shall be dealt with.  

 
Noise 
 
Comments are awaited from the Council’s Environmental Health Officer 
on an updated noise assessment and accompanying information to 
address concerns that had been raised in respect of the indicative layout 
as originally proposed (for 59no. dwellings). These had related to noise 
levels within the amenity areas of dwellings within the eastern section of 
the site (closest to Allbrook Way where noise levels are highest), the 
ventilation strategy proposed for some of the properties, as well as the 
need for consideration of overheating risks and the interplay with 
external noise conditions.  
 
Air Quality 

31



 
 
 
 

No objection. The air quality report screens out the impact of additional 
trip generation resulting from the development as likely having a 
negligible impact upon air quality at existing receptors. This is based 
upon screening data [from national IAQM (Institute of Air Quality 
Management) guidance] referenced in paragraph 4.24 of the 
assessment, with the relevant criteria being related to the level of the 
change in light duty vehicle traffic flow on local roads with relevant 
receptors and whether the site lies within or adjacent to an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA).  

 
Whereas this site is not geographically adjacent to the AQMA, one of the 
primary transport routes passes through it (Twyford Road) at a short 
distance from the site and, therefore, the proportion of traffic arising from 
the development which passes through Twyford Road on a daily basis 
should be considered against the criterion in the IAQM guidance. In this 
respect, applying the modal split of the data in the transport report and 
peak hour flow to the headline AADT (Annual average daily traffic), 
which has been confirmed to be a justifiable approach by the highway 
authority, should give confidence that the IAQM screening criteria for the 
development would not be exceeded and requiring a dispersion model 
assessment would therefore be disproportionate in this case. A 
proportionate contribution towards air quality monitoring and mitigation 
measures should however be made to reflect the increase in movements 
through the AQMA.  

 
In terms of air quality impacts on future occupiers, the distance shown to 
the kerbside (from the nearest house to Allbrook Way) should prevent 
any significant risk of exceedances of air quality objectives at receptors 
on this development. The proposed estate roads will be serving the 
estate only and will have low flow and so are unlikely to present a 
material risk either. The junction with the estate road may change traffic 
flow (speed etc.) but so long as no existing receptors are located close 
to this point this should not be material either. As such, I see no need for 
a condition to assess air quality in the expectation that air quality should 
influence estate layout. 

 
22. Hampshire County Council Highways 

 
No objection subject to planning obligations / developer contributions to 
secure the following highways improvement schemes: 
 

 Pedestrian crossing improvements on Twyford Road; 

 Bus stop shelters at the two nearest bus stops on Woodside 
Avenue; 

 Real Time information and raised bus kerbs on the same bus 
stops (1 already in place); and,  

 Traffic Regulation Order updates in respect of the access 
prioritisation and speed limit reduction on Knowle Hill. 

32



 
 
 
 

Conditions with regards to the delivery of the access and footway 
provision (with these to be provided prior to commencement of 
development and prior to occupation respectively) and to require a 
construction management plan to be submitted prior to commencement 
of development should also be imposed.  

 
23. HCC Flood and Water Management 

 
The information submitted by the applicant in support of this planning 
application indicates that surface water runoff from the application site 
will be managed through a combined infiltration and attenuation-based 
scheme with a controlled discharge into the public surface water sewer 
(16.9 l/s). This is acceptable in principle since the infiltration test carried 
out by the applicant showed that infiltration is feasible at the south of the 
application site. The information submitted by the applicant is acceptable 
in principle since this is an Outline Planning Application with approval 
sought for the site access. Therefore, the County Council as the Lead 
Local Flood Authority has no objection to the proposals subject to 
conditions requiring a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the 
site, and details for the long-term maintenance arrangements for the 
surface water drainage system to be submitted to the LPA for approval 
prior to the commencement of development.  
 

24. Hampshire County Council Children’s Services 
 

The proposed development is expected to generate a total of 18 
additional primary age children and 12 secondary age children. This was 
derived by conducting demographic surveys of developments that have 
been completed within Hampshire and calculating the average number 
of primary and secondary age children on those developments.  
 
The development site is served by Otterbourne CE Primary School. This 
Primary school has the capacity to cater for the additional children that 
will be yielded from this development. The required primary contribution 
is nil. The development site is served by Thornden Secondary School. 
The school has the capacity to cater for the additional children that will 
be yielded from this development. The required secondary contribution is 
nil. 
 

25. Highways England 
 
No objection.  
 

26. NHS West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

Whilst we recognise that not all of the occupants of the proposed 
dwellings will be new to the area, we make the Health Care planning 
assumption that this application will generate additional residents at a 
ratio of 2.3 persons per dwelling. The resulting growth in the local 

33



 
 
 

population will inevitably seek registration with a local GP surgery and 
place additional pressure on existing NHS services; NHS services in 
primary, community and secondary care settings.  
 
Our estimate of the level of additional demand that will be placed on 
NHS primary care does not, in our view, warrant the commissioning of 
an additional GP surgery. The increased demand will be accommodated 
by the existing GP surgeries open to new registration requests from 
people living in the area of the proposed development. However, 
additional capacity within the premises will be required. The CCG 
considers that the applicant should be required to make an appropriate 
financial contribution to the capital investment that the NHS will make in 
this regard. 

 
27. Southampton Airport 

 

The proposed development has been examined from an aerodrome 
safeguarding perspective and does not conflict with safeguarding 
criteria. Therefore, no objection is raised to this proposal. 
 
Given the nature of the proposed development it is possible that a crane 
may be required during its construction. The applicant’s attention is 
therefore drawn to the requirement within the British Standard ‘Code of 
practice for safe use of cranes’ for crane operators to consult the 
aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome.   

 
28. Hampshire County Council Planning Team (Minerals and Waste) 
 

The proposed development lies within the minerals and waste 
consultation area (MWCA) – Minerals section. The County Council as 
the Minerals Planning Authority (MPA) take this opportunity to request 
further exploratory work to be undertaken on site and submitted to the 
MPA in the form of a minerals safeguarding report or assessment. This 
report should include empirical data of underlying geological stratigraphy 
captured by borehole or trial pit sampling, as well as recommendations 
on how the use of any minerals present could be maximised (ideally 
established through discussions with a local mineral operator). The 
Planning Policy Team are happy for the requirement to submit a Mineral 
Safeguarding/Resource Assessment Report to be conditioned as part of 
any permission for the proposal. 

 
29. Housing Officer 
 

In relation to the affordable housing provision the amended application 
has sought to revise the proposed affordable mix having regard to the 
reduction in numbers proposed on the site overall. The mix is acceptable 
with the reduction of 1 affordable unit still leaving a range of house sizes 
within the affordable provision. As advised previously we would expect 
the affordable units to be split 65/35% between rented and shared 
ownership respectively. Based on the reduced number this would equate 

34



 
 
 

to 12 rented homes and 6 shared ownership. 
 

30. Direct Services 
 

No comments provided.  
 
31. Southern Water 

 
There is a public water main and water trunk mains within the 
development site which require varying stand-off distances to protect 
them from construction and allow for access for future maintenance. 
Further stand-off distances apply to the siting of surface water drainage 
features. A condition is requested with regards to protection measures 
for the public water supply main.  
 
Initial investigations indicate that Southern Water can provide foul 
sewage at manhole SU45216001 and surface water at manhole 
SU45216150 (surface water flow of 16.9 l/s) to service the proposed 
development. Southern Water requires a formal application for a 
connection to the public foul and surface water sewer to be made by the 
applicant or developer. The planning application form makes reference 
to drainage using Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS). Under 
certain circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern Water should 
this be requested by the developer. Where SUDS rely upon facilities 
which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers the applicant will need 
to ensure that arrangements exist for the long-term maintenance of the 
SUDS facilities.  

 
A condition is requested to require final details of foul sewerage and 
surface water disposal to be submitted for approval prior to the 
commencement of development.  

 
32. Eastleigh Ramblers 
 

Public footpath No 716 crosses the application area. Whilst the site 
layout is a schematic illustrative one and there may be significant 
changes at reserved matters stage it does not address the matters we 
previously referred to. Is there an intention to apply for a footpath 
diversion or is the definitive alignment going to be reinstated and 
retained? The alignment of the public footpath is not shown in its entirety 
at the southern end of the site layout plan.  
 
We consider that financial contributions should be sought towards the 
improvement of Footpath 716 Allbrook as the prospective residents will 
rely on it extensively to gain access on foot north to Otterbourne and 
south to Allbrook. We consider that the proposed pedestrian network 
does not address what will be desire lines. There is a link shown to 
Footpath No 716 in the centre of the site but links need adding from the 
two turning areas either side of the path near the western end and from 
the access road to the south. Links should be formed from the northern 

35



 
 
 

and southern ends of the development from the roads running parallel. If 
not desire lines will be formed to Footpath 716 because residents are not 
going to walk in the opposite direction to the way they want to go and will 
create their own route to Footpath 716. 

 
33. Hampshire County Council Countryside Team (Rights of Way) 

 
Comments awaited.  
 

Policy context: designation applicable to site 
 

 Within Designated Countryside 

 Within Designated Local Gap 

 Subject to a Tree Preservation Order 

 A Public Right of Way Runs Through the Site 

 Contains / Adjacent to a Site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC) 

 
Local and National Planning Policies and Guidance  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
34. At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ 

or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as 
required by statute) applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.  
 

35. The three identified dimensions of sustainability should to be sought 
jointly: economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); 
social (providing housing, creating a high quality environment with 
accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting 
and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment) whilst local 
circumstances should also be taken into account so that development 
appropriately responds to the different opportunities for achieving 
sustainable development in different areas.  

 
Planning Practice Guidance  
 
36. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the 

provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the 
consideration and determination of planning applications. 

 
Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 
(EBLP 2001-2011)  
 

36



 
 
 
37. The key saved policies of the adopted local plan relating to this 

application are: 
 

 1.CO (Protection of the Countryside), 3.CO (Local Gaps), 18.CO 
(Landscape Character), 23.NC (Protection SINCs), 25.NC and 
26.NC (Biodiversity), 28.ES (Storage and Collection of Waste), 
30.ES (Noise Sensitive Development), 31.ES (Noise Standards), 
33.ES (Air Quality), 34.ES (Energy and Climate Change), 35.ES 
(Land Contamination), 36.ES (Lighting), 37.ES (Water 
Consumption), 45.ES (Surface Water Drainage), 59.BE (Promoting 
Good Design), 73.H (Creating Mixed Communities), 74.H 
(Affordable Housing), 100.T, 101.T, 102. T, 103.T and 104.T 
(Transport and New Development), 147.OS (Open Space 
Provision), 165.TA (Public Art), 168.LB (Archaeology), 190.IN 
(Infrastructure and Public Utilities), 191.IN (Developer 
Contributions).  

 
The Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 

 
38. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 

examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  
Whilst this has not been withdrawn and remains a material 
consideration, it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited 
weight in the determination of this application. 

 
The Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 
39. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 was submitted by the 

Council to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st October 2018 with hearings 
in public having commenced in November 2019 and concluded in early 
2020. The Council subsequently received the Inspector’s feedback and 
recommended action points on the plan in April and May 2020. On 25 
June 2020, the Council’s Cabinet resolved to progress the examination 
on the basis of the main modifications outlined in the Inspector’s letter 
and action points and/or any other main modifications which may be 
necessary.  
 

40. The Council’s Planning Policy Team subsequently prepared further 
evidence and drafted the main modifications in response to each of the 
Inspector’s letters and points and the Inspector has also held an 
additional hearing in January 2021 in relation to Mercury Marina. 
Following on from this, the Inspector has now finalised the main 
modifications for public consultation and the Council has also prepared 
modifications to the policies map and proposed additional modifications. 
A report of the Planning Policy Senior Specialist will be considered at 
Cabinet and Full Council on 27 May which recommends the approval of 
the modifications proposed for public consultation.  

 

37



 
 
 
41. Subject to approval by Cabinet and Council, public consultation will then 

be undertaken for a period of 6 weeks between mid-June and late-July. 
The Inspector will then consider any representations and will 
subsequently complete her report which will include a final set of main 
modifications considered necessary to achieve a sound and legally 
compliant Plan. The Council may then move forward to adopting the 
Local Plan with all of the main modifications recommended in the 
Inspector’s final report together with any additional modifications it 
wishes to include, providing that these do not materially affect the Plan.  

 

42. Given the status of the emerging Plan, it is considered that considerable 
weight can be attributed to it. Further details on this matter and its 
relevance to the application are covered in the below section on the 
principle of development.   
 

43. Within the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, the site is proposed 
to be allocated for residential development of up to 45no. units under the 
provisions of policy AL2 and would be incorporated into a realigned 
urban edge and would no longer form part of a countryside gap. In 
addition to this allocation, the following policies are also of relevance to 
the proposals: S1 (Delivering Sustainable Development), S2 (Approach 
to New Development), S3 (Location of New Housing), S10 (Green 
infrastructure), DM1 (General Criteria for New Development), DM2 
(Environmentally Sustainable Development), DM3 (Adaption to Climate 
Change), DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water Management and 
Watercourse Management), DM8 (Pollution), DM11 (Nature 
Conservation), DM12 (Heritage Assets), DM13 (General Development 
Criteria – Transport), DM14 (Parking), DM30 (Affordable Housing), 
DM32 (Internal Space Standards for New Residential Development), 
DM35 (Provision of Recreation and Open Space Facilities within New 
Development), DM40 (Funding Infrastructure). 

 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 
 
44. The application site lies within a Minerals Safeguarding Area, to which 

Policy 15 ‘Safeguarding – mineral resources’ applies. This policy seeks 
to protect potentially economically viable mineral resource deposits from 
needless and unnecessary sterilisation. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking 
Standards (2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Biodiversity (2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 
Development (2009, Updated 2015) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (2008) 

38



 
 
 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Affordable Housing (2009, 
Updated 2016) 

 
Other Relevant Documents 
 

 Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 

 
Assessment of proposal  
 
45. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local 
planning authority determining an application to do so in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

46. As indicated above the Development Plan comprises of the Saved 
Policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the 
policies within the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013) 
and the application must be assessed against those that are of 
relevance to the proposed development.  

 
The principle of development  
 
47. The application seeks outline approval for the development of the site for 

up to 52no. residential dwellings, together with public open space and 
access from Knowle Hill. The site is located outside of the urban edge 
and within both designated countryside and a defined local gap within 
the Council’s adopted Local Plan (the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2001-2011). As such, Saved Policies 1.CO and 3.CO are of relevance to 
the application. Large-scale developments such as that proposed are not 
supported by these policies and the proposals would physically diminish 
the gap. The principle of the development is therefore contrary to the 
development plan and, accordingly, if permission were to be granted 
there would have to be other material planning considerations that 
provide support for the scheme in order to justify this decision.  
 

48. In this regard, the site is proposed to be allocated for residential 
development within the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-
2036 under the provisions of Policy AL2 and would be incorporated into 
a realigned urban edge. This policy allocates circa 4.2 hectares of land 
west of Allbrook Hill and north of Knowle Hill for approximately 45 
dwellings subject to a number of criteria being adhered to. These 
include, amongst other things, provision for the access to the 
development to be from Knowle Hill; provision for the retention of 
existing public access rights across the site and to secure public access 
to the SINC woodland to the west; contributions towards highway 
improvements considered necessary to serve the development; 
respecting the ecological constraints affecting the site and mitigating any 
potential impacts; as well as addressing noise, air quality, contaminated 
land, sewerage, and mineral related considerations.  
 

39



 
 
 
49. In addition, and as originally submitted, the plan had also included a 

requirement for the safeguarding of land for the construction of a new 
junction for the SGO (strategic growth option) link road. Following the 
receipt of the Inspector’s feedback and action points on the plan 
however, this requirement along with policies S5 and S6 of the plan 
(which related to the SGO) will need to be deleted, with this forming one 
of the proposed main modifications within the report which will be 
considered by the Council’s Cabinet and Full Council on 27 May (see 
section on the Emerging Local Plan above). No other modifications were 
requested by the Inspector to policy AL2, although a modification is put 
forward within the aforementioned report to Cabinet and Council for a 
requirement to safeguard appropriate land if needed for the construction 
of a new junction with Allbrook Way for a local relief road to address 
traffic constraints on Allbrook Hill (see section on Traffic and Highway 
Matters below).  

 
50. Given the status of the Emerging Local Plan, it is considered that 

considerable weight can be given to the Plan and the policies contained 
within it, including policy AL2 which is of direct relevance to the 
proposals, and this is therefore a significant material consideration in the 
determination of this application. Any planning approval for the 
development of the site for residential purposes would however still be 
subject to the criteria of policy AL2 being met as well as the proposals 
being deemed to be acceptable when assessed against the other 
relevant local and national planning policies and associated 
supplementary planning guidance. The matters of material relevance to 
the proposals in these regards are considered in the sections below.  

 
Sustainable Development  
 

51. The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or ‘Framework’) is 
a significant material consideration in the assessment and determination 
of planning applications. Section 2 of the NPPF states that the purpose 
of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs.  

 
52. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has 

three over-arching objectives – economic, social and environmental 
(which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways as set out above) that should be delivered through the 
preparation and implementation of plans and the application of policies 
in the Framework. Planning policies and decisions should play an active 
role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing 
so, should take local circumstances into account to reflect the character, 
needs and opportunities of each area. Each of the three dimensions of 
sustainable development is considered in turn in the sections below.  

 

40



 
 
 
53. The NPPF also states that development proposals which accord with the 

development plan should be approved without delay. Where the 
development plan is absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
planning permission should be granted unless: the application of policies 
in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
Economic Sustainability  
 
54. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out that the economic objective of 

sustainable development is to help build a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is 
available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating 
the provision of infrastructure.  
 

55. The proposals would provide for some economic benefits. These include 
employment opportunities that would be created during the construction 
phase of the development, which will in turn result in increased spending 
within the local economy, for example on materials, goods and other 
services. In addition, the future occupiers of the residential properties 
would be likely to support local services and facilities, and a New Homes 
Bonus would also be paid. Further, the proposals would result in 
financial contributions being secured to offset certain impacts of the 
development, and result in the enhancement of local infrastructure and 
facilities.  
 

56. Provided that they are appropriately secured, these elements are 
benefits of the development that would be considered in the planning 
balance and, overall, it is considered that the development would be 
economically sustainable. However, it should be noted that these 
benefits are not unique to this scheme and could be accrued from a 
development of this size in a different location.  

 
Social Sustainability  
 

57. Chapter 5 of the NPPF ‘Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes’ states 
that it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come 
forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific 
housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is 
developed without unnecessary delay. 

 
58. The development would provide for up to 52 dwellings in a mix of 

detached, semi-detached and terraced properties of between 1, 2, 3 and 
4 bedrooms. It is considered that the overall range of house types, which 
includes a small number of bungalows as well as two storey houses, and 
their sizes are appropriate and would assist in providing a mixed and 

41



 
 
 

balanced community. The proposals would also incorporate 35% 
affordable housing (18 units) in accordance with the requirements of 
Saved Policy 74.H of the adopted Local Plan, with these dwellings being 
an appropriate mix of size and tenure.   

 
59. In addition, the development would provide for an area of on-site public 

open space incorporating an equipped children’s play area, with financial 
contributions also being sought towards local health and community 
facilities that would be of benefit for the residents of the development as 
well as the local community. Provided that they are appropriately 
secured, these elements are benefits of the development that would be 
considered in the planning balance and, overall, it is considered that the 
development would be socially sustainable. However, once more, it 
should be noted that these benefits are not unique to this scheme and 
could be accrued from a development of this size in a different location.  

 
Environmental Sustainability  
 
60. The size and location of the application site is such that it has the 

potential to impact on a number of environmental factors with these 
being discussed in detail below.  

 
Impact on the countryside, local gap and surrounding area 
 
61. The application site is located within designated countryside and also 

forms part of the local gap between Boyatt Wood and Otterbourne Hill 
and Allbrook within the current adopted Local Plan. Saved Policies 1.CO 
and 3.CO therefore apply. These policies seek to protect the countryside 
from inappropriate development and ensure the separate identity of 
settlements. As set out above, large scale development proposals such 
as that proposed are not supported by these policies and the proposals 
would physically diminish the gap. In addition, Saved Policy 18.CO 
seeks to protect valued landscapes. The site lies within Landscape 
Character Area 1: Broom Hill Farmland and Woodland (as identified 
within the Council’s ‘Landscape Character Assessment for the Borough 
of Eastleigh’) although it is not covered by, nor does it contain, any 
statutory landscape protection designations.  
 

62. The existing site is predominantly open space with it having been used 
as a horse paddock, although a degree of built form exists towards the 
centre of the site in the form of Westfield House, a large, detached, two-
storey dwelling with an extensive plot. The proposals would see the 
site’s redevelopment for residential purposes in the form of up to 52.no 
dwellings, with Westfield House and its existing curtilage to remain. This 
development would invariably bring a notable change to the character of 
the application site, with it altering from predominantly open land to one 
where built form and associated infrastructure are dominant and the 
proposals would also serve to extend the existing settlement boundary to 
the north of Boyatt Wood.  
 

42



 
 
 
63. The site is however, as noted above, proposed to be allocated for 

residential development within the Council’s Emerging Local Plan under 
the provisions of Policy AL2, with it being incorporated into a realigned 
urban edge and no longer therefore within a countryside gap. Owing to 
the advanced stage of the local plan process, it is considered that this 
policy can be afforded considerable weight as a material consideration in 
the determination of this application, and this and the need to allocate 
sites for the delivery of housing and affordable housing in the Borough, 
must be weighed against any harm arising from the development.  

 
64. In this regard and in respect of the impacts on the local gap, the 

Emerging Local Plan is supported by a Settlement Gap Study which has 
been published as part of the local plan examination process, with this 
including an analysis of the Boyatt Wood, Otterbourne Hill and Allbrook 
Gap (referenced as Area G). This analysis sets out that there has 
already been some merging of the settlements that the gap aims to 
protect with Boyatt Wood having merged with Allbrook via Woodside 
Avenue and the Allbrook Roundabout, and Otterbourne Hill and Allbrook 
being linked by the residential development along Pitmore Road, with it 
being the topography and extensive woodland areas that provide a 
backdrop to the settlements that affords the primary separation.  

 
65. Whilst the development would physically diminish the land within the 

local gap, these woodland areas would remain unaltered, with Allbrook 
Way as a further intervening physical feature between settlements. 
Further, in terms of the matter of the sense of leaving one settlement 
and arriving at another, for vehicles and pedestrians moving along the 
routes between Allbrook and Boyatt Wood referred to above, this is 
limited to the roundabout landscape itself and associated buffer planting, 
with a sense of separation being relatively negligible and relying on a 
change in architectural character of development to afford perceptual 
separation. The development of the application site would not therefore 
be considered to have a significant impact on the existing local gap in 
this particular respect and for the users of these routes.  

 
66. It is acknowledged that there would be a greater degree of impact on the 

alternative pedestrian route which links Boyatt Wood to 
Allbrook/Otterbourne Hill via the public right of way that passes through 
the site and onwards to the Allbrook Way underpass, with the 
development having an urbanising visual effect for users of the section 
of the path which would be bound by the development to its eastern 
side. Whilst this would diminish the existing extent of the separation 
when moving between settlements in terms of the point of leaving one 
and arriving at another, this would not be in its entirety and some 
separation would be maintained by the remainder of the route moving 
north beyond the site and via Boyatt Lane.  
 

67. In terms of the landscape and visual impacts of the proposals, the 
application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
(LVIA) which appraises the degree to which the site and its surroundings 

43



 
 
 

can accommodate the proposed development in landscape and visual 
terms. This has been updated during the course of the application, with 
an addendum to the LVIA having been provided in response to the initial 
comments of the Council’s Landscape Officer who had requested more 
information including an analysis of winter views, as well as a more 
detailed discussion of the topography, which is a key aspect of the 
landscape character of the site, in order to understand the importance of 
the views outward towards the south-east.  

 

68. The LVIA concludes that the scale and form of the development is likely 
to result in a very limited change at a localised level and that the 
potential landscape and visual effects are not likely to be significant. Due 
to the relative containment of the proposed development, the highest 
degree of effect is shown to be from high sensitivity receptors situated 
adjacent to the site and notably the users of the public right of way 
where these pass through the settlement edge with views towards the 
wider countryside in the south-east. Beyond this there are shown to be 
very limited views of the site or the proposed development due to 
intervening vegetation and the existing settlement pattern with only 
potential, heavily filtered views available in winter months when leaf 
cover is reduced.  

 
69. The degree of impact and significance of effect in landscape and visual 

terms will also be reduced between completion and 15 years post 
completion due to the establishment of the landscaping proposed as part 
of the development. In this respect, the site layout has been updated 
during the application process with the number of dwellings being 
reduced and additional landscaping provision being proposed, with the 
latter including planted mitigation in an east to west alignment through 
tree lined streets and routes. Owing to the site’s topography which rises 
to the north, this planting would be provided at staggered heights which 
would help to filter longer range views and better integrate the 
development into the landscape. The revisions to the indicative layout 
have also accommodated a greater proportion of open space in the 
southern section of the site and the use of a small number of single 
storey dwellings on the higher northern part. These changes further 
augment the east to west vegetation links and alignment of parts of the 
street layout on an east to west basis to facilitate views through the 
development and out of the site, including from the public right of way. 
The Council’s Landscape Officer and Urban Designer have 
subsequently confirmed that they have no objection to the proposals, 
with the final detailed landscaping scheme and its implementation to be 
covered at the reserved matters phase and by conditions.  
 

70. Overall, therefore, it is acknowledged that the development would result 
in a change to the character of this countryside site and that the 
proposals would physically diminish the gap and have a degree of 
impact upon users of the right of way when travelling between Boyatt 
Wood and Allbrook. The landscape and visual effects would however be 
limited and localised with additional landscaping proposed which, as it 

44



 
 
 

establishes and matures, would reduce these effects further. Notably, 
the site is also proposed to be allocated for residential development 
within the Emerging Local Plan which would see it removed from the 
countryside gap and incorporated into the urban edge, and overall, the 
harm identified as resulting from the proposals is considered to be 
outweighed by the benefits of housing delivery in this case and the need 
to allocate sites to meet the housing needs of the borough.  

 
Layout and design 
 
71. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan requires that development 

takes full and proper account of the context of the site including the 
character and appearance of the locality and that it is appropriate in a 
number of regards including its massing, scale, layout, design, siting and 
density. In terms of national policy, Paragraph 122 of the NPPF 
encourages the efficient use of land and the achieving of appropriate 
densities on development sites for housing, whilst at the same time 
respecting the character of the area, promoting regeneration and 
change, and securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places. 
Paragraph 127 goes on to state that planning decisions should ensure 
that developments: will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture; and, are 
sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting. 
 

72. The application proposes the development of the application site to 
provide up to 52no. residential dwellings at a density of approximately 
12.4 dwellings per hectare (28.9 dwellings per hectare net density based 
on the developable area). Whilst the detailed layout, appearance and 
scale of the development, along with the exact landscaping 
arrangements, would be considered at a subsequent reserved matters 
stage, the application is supported by an indicative masterplan and 
Design and Access Statement which set out principles which would 
inform these detailed matters and demonstrates one way in which the 
site may be developed for the number of dwellings that are proposed.  
 

73. The development would be accessed from Knowle Hill at its southern 
end, with the indicative layout showing the residential dwellings then 
being served by a main spine road which leads on from this access and 
runs roughly parallel with the site’s eastern boundary. The spine road is 
fronted by a number of dwellings along its length, with these 
predominantly being set within short terraces. The remainder of 
properties across the site are detached or semi-detached and are 
generally set within perimeter blocks with access being provided via 
secondary routes, multi-headed cul-de-sacs or in some cases short 
sections of private drives.  
 

74. Residential properties are stated to be no more than two-stories in 
height, with a small number of single-storey bungalows situated to the 
north to respond to the topography and landscape constraints, with this 

45



 
 
 

area being the most elevated part of the site as noted above. An 
appropriate mixture of 1, 2, 3 and 4 bedroom properties are proposed to 
be provided in accordance with the requirements of Saved Policy 73.H of 
the adopted Local Plan, and the range of dwelling types and plot sizes, 
as well as the mixed building lines indicatively proposed, are considered 
to demonstrate that the site has suitable potential to create attractive and 
varied street scenes at an appropriate density when taking account of 
the number of units that are proposed.  
 

75. A core area of open space would be provided at the southern end of the 
site which is considered to be appropriately located to allow accessibility 
for the future residents of the development, as well as those of existing 
nearby properties. An equipped on-site play area is also proposed to be 
provided within this open space with this conforming to the requirements 
for an area of 400sqm in size and for a 30m buffer to be provided to the 
nearest residential property such as to minimise potential disturbance for 
residents. Whilst the play area would not be subject to the level of 
natural surveillance that would usually be desirable in terms of the 
number of properties that would look onto this, it is in an accessible 
location for both existing and new residents and its provision on site 
would negate the need to cross Woodside Avenue and Twyford Road to 
reach the nearest alternative play areas.  
 

76. The proposals would, as noted above, also retain the wooded areas to 
the north and west, as well as the existing vegetation along the site’s 
perimeters which would be enhanced with additional planting. The 
provision of open space at the southern end of the site and landscaping 
to the north, as well as the requisite stand-off distances required to the 
water main to the west and the space required for the drainage features 
to be introduced to the east, allow for green buffers to be provided to 
varying degrees to each side of the development. Space would also be 
provided for further landscaping internally within the site, including for 
the planting of street trees and a tree lined pedestrian route running east 
to west through the centre of the development would also be provided as 
noted above, with this linking onto the public footpath which runs north to 
south through the site and providing access to the woodland beyond. 
Additional indicative pedestrian links are shown to the right of way within 
the northern and southern sections of the development. Whilst the 
indicative layout plan does show a proliferation of tarmac surfacing 
across the site, this can be addressed at reserved matters stage through 
detailed consideration of the hard landscaping in order to seek to 
achieve more variety in this respect.  

 
77. Taking account of all of the above factors, overall it is considered that 

the development is acceptable in that the proposals demonstrate that the 
site has the capacity to be developed for the number of units proposed 
within an appropriate layout and to this effect, the application achieves 
the balance advocated within national planning policy of making efficient 
use of land and achieving appropriate densities, whilst at the same time 
respecting the character of the area, and securing well-designed, 

46



 
 
 

attractive places. The development is therefore considered to comply 
with Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan in these regards.  

 
Residential amenity and noise 
 
78. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 

Review 2001-2011 requires that development avoids unduly interfering, 
disturbing or conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses, including by way 
of overlooking and loss of light or outlook, whilst Saved Policy 30.ES 
states that proposals for noise-sensitive development which would result 
in the occupiers of such development being exposed to unacceptably 
high levels of noise and/or vibration will not be permitted. Paragraph 127 
of the NPPF, amongst other things, requires that planning decisions 
ensure that development provides a high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users. The Council’s adopted Quality Places SPD provides 
additional guidance in relation to amenity in support of Saved Policy 
59.BE and there are two primary considerations in this respect in this 
case, these being the impact of the development on that of the occupiers 
of existing neighbouring properties and the appropriateness of the level 
of amenity that would be afforded for the future occupiers of the 
proposed dwellings. 
 

79. In terms of the latter first of all, the application is in outline form with 
access as the only matter for consideration. The detailed layout, scale 
and appearance of the proposed development (along with the 
landscaping of the site) would be considered in detail as part of a 
subsequent reserved matters application(s), the assessment of which 
would include such measures as the ensuring of suitable separation 
distances between properties, and the provision of appropriate internal 
floor areas, private amenity space, and levels of light and outlook for 
dwellings.  

 
80. Taking account of the number of units proposed and the site constraints 

however, it is considered that there is suitable potential for the relevant 
standards to be met in each case and, as such, for an appropriate level 
of amenity to be provided for the future occupiers. Indeed, following the 
reduction in the level of development (from 59 to 52 units), the indicative 
layout and accompanying supporting information demonstrate that each 
plot would meet the government’s national internal space standards, as 
well as the requirements which are set out within the Council’s Quality 
Places SPD for a private amenity area equivalent to at least 60% of the 
internal floor space of the dwelling to which it relates, a garden depth of 
at least 12m where this is within 30 degrees of north, and for a 20m 
separation distance to be afforded between rear facing first floor 
windows.  

 
81. In terms of noise implications for the proposed properties, the site is 

subject to traffic generated noise arising principally from the proximity of 
the site to Allbrook Way which lies to the immediate east and links 
onwards towards Junction 12 of the M3 motorway to the north. This 

47



 
 
 

presents a constraint to the development site, particularly in respect of 
its eastern section which lies closest to this noise source.  
 

82. The application is accompanied by a noise impact assessment which 
appraises the noise conditions at the site, the potential impacts of these 
upon the development and proposes mitigation where this is deemed to 
be required. On the basis of the indicative layout originally proposed (for 
a scheme of 59no. dwellings) a number of properties experienced noise 
levels in excess of the recommended level (55dB) within their private 
amenity areas. Concerns had also been raised by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer in respect of the ventilation strategy 
proposed for some of the dwellings themselves and the need for 
consideration of overheating risks and the interplay with external noise 
conditions. The acoustic barrier which had been initially proposed along 
the eastern boundary of the site had also raised some notable concerns 
in visual terms particularly given the elevated position of the site relative 
to Allbrook Way.   
 

83. In order to seek to address these matters, the indicative site layout has 
been revised to demonstrate how a more defensive acoustic design 
could potentially be achieved within the eastern part of the development 
(where noise levels are highest), with this area now incorporating a 
number of short terraces of dwellings fronting onto the road, with their 
amenity areas situated to the rear whereby the buildings could provide 
for some acoustic screening from Allbrook Way. Whilst a small number 
of plots would still exceed the recommended noise level within their 
external amenity areas (these would experience levels of between 55dB 
and 60dB during the daytime), the majority of plots would now be below 
this level, without there being a requirement for an acoustic fence along 
the site boundary. The updated noise report shows that the plots fronting 
Allbrook Way would still require passive means of ventilation to their 
facing facades, however, there is reasonable potential for habitable room 
windows to be openable for these plots on the non-road (rear) side. The 
comments of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer are presently 
awaited on the updated information provided and members will be 
updated on this matter at the committee meeting.  

 
84. With regards to the relationship between the development and existing 

neighbouring properties, the proposed dwellings are situated at a 
sufficient distance from the existing properties along Knowle Hill and 
Allbrook Knoll to the south and south-west of the site such that the 
development would not be overbearing, adversely affect light or outlook 
to or from them, or unduly compromise the privacy of their occupiers. 
Westfield House lies much closer to the development, with this dwelling 
and its plot being situated such that it is surrounded by the application 
site. The indicative layout has however been designed to ensure that 
sufficient separation is afforded and the new properties are orientated 
such as to not unduly impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of this 
existing property.  

 

48



 
 
 
85. Taking account of all of the above factors and subject to the final 

comments of the Council’s Environmental Health Officer on the updated 
noise assessment and accompanying information, the application is 
considered to comply with the requirements of Saved Policies 30.ES and 
59.BE of the adopted Local Plan and Paragraphs 127 and 170 of the 
NPPF in respect of the matter of residential amenity.  

 
Transport and highway matters 
 
86. Saved Policy 100.T of the adopted Local Plan requires that development 

is or could be well served by public transport, cycling and walking and it 
includes measures which minimise its impact on the existing highway 
network, whilst Saved Policy 102.T requires that development requiring 
new or improved access does not interfere with the safety, function and 
standard of service of the road network or have adverse environmental 
implications and is to the adopted standard of the highway authority. 
Saved Policy 59.BE (v.) requires that development has a satisfactory 
means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians 
including appropriate links to surrounding footpaths cycleways and 
public transport services, whilst Saved Policy 104.T requires that an 
appropriate level of car parking be provided in accordance with the 
Council’s adopted standards. These policy provisions are considered to 
be consistent with the requirements of the NPPF and in particular those 
of paragraphs 108 and 109.  

 

87. The application is supported by a Transport Assessment which 
appraises the key transport matters associated with the development, 
including the site’s accessibility, the development layout and car and 
cycle parking arrangements, access and servicing arrangements, and 
the impacts of the proposals on the local road network. This assessment 
has been reviewed by the Highway Authority and supplemental 
information has subsequently been received in response to their 
comments during the application process.  
 

88. With regards to the impacts on the local highway network, the Transport 
Assessment (TA) includes a trip generation assessment which considers 
anticipated vehicle movements arising from the development and the 
subsequent impacts upon the local highway network. This utilises the 
TRICS (Trip Rate Information Computer System) database to establish a 
net vehicle trip generation level and demonstrates that the proposed 
residential development would generate 31 two-way vehicle trips during 
the AM peak hour and 27 during the PM peak hour, which in terms of 
traffic percentage impact, would result in a maximum increase of 0.85% 
on Allbrook Way (impacts upon Woodside Avenue (0.67%), Twyford 
Road (0.7%) and Allbrook Hill (0.56%) are shown to be lower). When 
considered against existing traffic flows, in highway terms the residual 
cumulative impacts of the development would not be considered to have 
a detrimental impact on the local highway network.  

 

49



 
 
 
89. Access to the development is a detailed matter for consideration as part 

of the application, and this is to be taken from Knowle Hill, an existing 
dead-end road which currently primarily serves a small number of 
residential dwellings. Knowle Hill then onwards leads onto a 5-arm 
roundabout with connecting links to the M3 to the north, Allbrook to the 
East and Eastleigh to the South. In terms of the specific site access, this 
is proposed to be via a simple priority junction with vehicle tracking 
drawings having been supplied which indicatively show that movements 
in and out of site for all vehicles (private cars, emergency and refuse 
vehicles) are achievable in an acceptable manner that would not likely 
cause a highway safety concern and this has been accepted by the 
highway authority. They have however queried a lack of clarity within the 
submitted information in respect of who would have priority at the 
junction. It has been suggested that this be given to the new 
development as it would accommodate the greater proportion of 
dwellings that would be served by Knowle Hill which is deemed to be the 
most appropriate approach, and this will be secured via the S278 
Agreement process.  

 
90. Knowle Hill is currently subject to a 40mph speed limit which the 

transport assessment outlines is not considered to be in-keeping with 
either the current or future residential developments. It is proposed for 
this to therefore be reduced to 30mph which has been supported by the 
highway authority and which will require a Traffic Regulation Order 
(TRO) which will need to be secured as part of the S106 Agreement. A 
further TRO will also be needed for the requisite give-way markings as 
part of the junction prioritisation at the access to the development which 
is referenced above.  

 
91. In respect of the matter of connectivity, whilst the site is presently 

situated within designated countryside within the Council’s adopted 
Local Plan, it adjoins the built-up area boundary, lying on the edge of the 
settlements of Boyatt Wood and Allbrook, with there being a range of 
facilities and amenities within a reasonable walking and cycling distance 
of the site. There are also nearby bus stops which provide routes and 
relatively frequent services to nearby towns and cities, including 
Southampton and Winchester, as well as into the centre of Eastleigh.  
Some concerns have however been raised, including within the 
comments of the Parish Council, in respect of the direct links that are 
currently available from the site to the existing pedestrian network to 
enable residents to be able to safely reach these facilities. These notably 
relate to a lack of pedestrian infrastructure on Knowle Hill with there 
being no pavement or footway linking directly to Woodside Avenue to the 
south, as well as the matter of the adequacy of crossing facilities to 
reach Allbrook Hill to the east, which provides a route to the nearest 
nursery, scout hut and also the primary school which will serve the 
development (Otterbourne CE Primary School), via Woodside Avenue 
and Twyford Road.  
 

50



 
 
 
92. In order to address these issues, off-site highway improvements are 

proposed as part of the application in the form of a 2m wide footway to 
the western side of Knowle Hill to connect this to the existing pedestrian 
infrastructure on Woodside Avenue, as well as a further section of 2m 
wide footway on the southern side of Woodside Avenue to provide 
improved pedestrian access to the existing bus stop in this location, with 
the final design of these works being subject to a S278 Agreement. 
Additionally, whilst the existing crossing provision on Woodside Avenue 
(which includes dropped kerbs, tactile paving and a central refuge) is 
considered adequate, the highway authority have identified the need for 
a controlled crossing facility at the northern end of Twyford Road and 
have requested developer contributions to fund this in full from the 
development, with these having been agreed to by the applicant. 
Additionally, developer contributions have also been agreed to provide 
raised kerbs, bus stop shelters and real time information at the two 
nearest bus stops on Woodside Avenue to improve the existing facilities 
and enhance the sustainability credentials of the development.  
 

93. In terms of other connections from the development, the site is bound to 
its western side by a public right of way (Allbrook 716) which links 
Knowle Lane to the south onwards towards Otterbourne to the north. 
The indicative site layout shows a connecting central link from the 
development on to the right of way, with further possible connections to 
the north and south of this shown in response to the comments of the 
Eastleigh Ramblers and in order to ensure that the development 
addresses desire lines and appropriately links to the existing footpath 
network. The Ramblers have also advised that they consider that 
contributions should be sought towards the improvement of the footpath 
with increased usage anticipated from future residents and have 
questioned whether a formal footpath diversion is to be applied for or the 
definitive alignment is to be reinstated and retained, as the present 
‘walked route’ does not correlate with this in its southern section.  

 
94. The applicant has stated their intention to reinstate the definitive route of 

the right of way as part of the proposals which would negate the need for 
a diversion order and an updated drawing has been received to show 
this. With regards to the securing of improvements to the right of way, 
this is supported in principle. Confirmation of the level of any 
contributions and the nature of the improvement works is however 
required from Hampshire County Council (Countryside Team) who have 
the duty of holding and reviewing rights of way improvement plans. Their 
comments have been requested via a number of formal consultations 
which have been carried out during the course of the application process 
and they have now confirmed that they will respond on this matter 
shortly. Members will be updated further on this matter at the committee 
meeting. 

 
95. The internal layout is not for detailed consideration at this stage and 

would be fully assessed as part of a subsequent reserved matters 
submission should outline approval be granted. Overall, however, it is 

51



 
 
 

considered that the indicative layout provided demonstrates that an 
acceptable scheme could be achieved from a highway perspective which 
would allow for suitable vehicular and pedestrian movement through the 
site in a safe and appropriate manner.  

 
96. With regards to parking, the Council has an adopted Supplementary 

Planning Document (Residential Parking Standards SPD) which sets out 
the requisite levels of car parking for residential uses. The number of 
spaces required is relative to the size of properties and also whether 
parking is provided on an allocated or unallocated basis. In this case, the 
indicative layout shows fully allocated parking which is generally 
provided on-plot (by driveways or garages) or to the frontage of 
dwellings, with the layout demonstrating that the Council’s adopted 
standards could be met in an acceptable manner for the level of 
development proposed, with visitor parking also being able to be 
provided either within designated bays or informally on-road in non-
obstructive locations. 

 
97. Finally, and as noted earlier in this report, the draft policy allocation for 

the site, policy AL2 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, had 
set out a requirement for appropriate land to be safeguarded for the 
construction of a new junction with Allbrook Way for the Strategic Growth 
Option (SGO) link road which was proposed to cross the land to the 
opposing side of Allbrook Way (which is also allocated for residential 
development under policy AL1 of the Emerging Local Plan).  

 
98. As noted by the Council’s Planning Policy Team within their consultation 

response and as set out in the above section on the principle of 
development however, following on from the local plan hearings which 
took place last year policies S5 and S6 (which related to the SGO) will 
need to be deleted from the plan in order to secure its adoption moving 
forward. As such, the aforementioned criteria for the safeguarding of 
land for the SGO link road is no longer applicable and will not form part 
of policy AL2 when the plan is adopted.  

 
99. The proposed main modifications, if agreed by Cabinet and Council, do 

however include an additional requirement which has been put forward 
for the safeguarding of land if needed for the construction of a new 
junction with Allbrook Way for a local relief road to address traffic 
constraints on Allbrook Hill. The applicant had provided information 
during the course of the application process to demonstrate that no land 
take would actually have been required from the site to implement the 
junction for the SGO link road and allow for the development proposed 
to take place. Taking account of this, it is not considered that the local 
link road would affect the development proposals to any materially 
greater extent than the SGO link road which is no longer proposed. As 
such, no further information is deemed to be required in relation to this 
matter.  

 
 

52



 
 
 
100. Overall, the proposals are considered to be acceptable in terms of their 

accessibility and highway related impacts and comply with Saved 
Policies 59.BE, 100.T, 102.T and 104.T in these regards.  

 
Contaminated land 

 
101. Saved Policy 35.ES of the adopted Local Plan requires that it be 

demonstrated that land that is known or suspected to be contaminated 
will be remediated to a suitable standard for the proposed end use. 
Paragraphs 170 and 178 of the NPPF stipulate that planning decisions 
should contribute to and enhance the natural environment through 
remediating and mitigating contaminated land and that decisions should 
ensure that sites are suitable for their new use, taking account of ground 
conditions and former activities. Paragraph 179 goes on to state that 
where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, 
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer 
and/or landowner. 
 

102. The application is accompanied by Phase 1 Desk-Based Assessment 
which considers potential land contamination impacts associated with 
the proposed development. The report identifies that the site has not had 
any previous use that is likely to provide a source of contamination on 
the site. However, the historical search and environmental enquiries 
undertaken as part of this assessment show the potential for significant 
depths of made ground to exist to the west that are associated with the 
former brick works that was present in this area. This has the potential to 
pose a risk to on-site receptors (residents and property) should the site 
be redeveloped (for example through the migration of landfill gases). The 
qualitative risk assessment and CSM (conceptual site model) 
undertaken identify a number of potential pollutant linkages that must be 
investigated further to determine their extent and inform whether 
remedial action is required.  

 
103. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has confirmed that this 

matter can be adequately addressed through planning conditions 
requiring the submission of a report of the findings of the requisite 
investigations, along with remediation proposals where required and the 
subsequent validation of these. A further condition is recommended in 
relation to the potential encountering of unsuspected contamination 
during development works and how this shall be dealt with. These 
conditions will be imposed accordingly and with these, it is considered 
that the development complies with the above referenced local and 
national planning policies in respect of the matter of land contamination.  

 
Air quality  

 
104. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF requires that planning decisions contribute 

to enhancing the natural and local environment, by amongst other 
things, preventing new and existing development from contributing to, 

53



 
 
 

being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of air pollution. Saved Policy 33.ES states that 
where new development appears likely to have a significant impact on 
air quality in the locality, or future occupiers of the development may be 
subject to unacceptable air quality, the Council will require a suitable air 
quality assessment to be carried out prior to consideration of the 
application. 
 

105. The application is supported by an Air Quality Assessment which 
considers the air quality impacts associated with the development during 
both the construction and operational phases. In respect of the former of 
these first of all, as with any major development there is the potential for 
air pollutant impacts to arise through emissions from construction plant 
and other vehicles associated with the development phase, as well as 
from dust arising from physical construction works undertaken on site. 
The submitted Air Quality Assessment outlines a number of 
recommendations for measures to mitigate and limit the residual effects 
in these regards upon sensitive receptors, with these including a range 
of measures for managing dust arising on site. These can be 
incorporated in a construction environmental management plan which 
will be required by condition to be submitted the local planning authority 
prior to the commencement of development.  
 

106. In terms of the operational phase and based upon the anticipated traffic 
movements associated with the proposals, the air quality assessment 
concludes that the proposed development will not meet the traffic or 
alignment criteria (whereby further assessment is necessary) which is 
specified within the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) 'Land-
Use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality (2017)' 
guidance documents. This criteria imposes a threshold for light duty 
vehicle traffic levels at which development can be ‘screened out’ in 
respect of its air quality impacts, with the relevant thresholds being more 
than 100AADT (Annual average daily traffic) for sites within or adjacent 
to an air quality management area (AQMA), and 500AADT for sites that 
are not.  
 

107. The transport data for the application has been used in the air quality 
assessment, with this setting out that the development will generate a 
total of 313 daily trips. The report therefore concludes that as this is 
below the 500AADT threshold and the site is not adjacent to the AQMA, 
no further assessment is required. However, whilst acknowledging that 
the AQMA is approximately 1km to the south of the site (along Twyford 
Road), the Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has advised 
that as traffic to and from the development will pass through the AQMA, 
with Twyford Road providing a primary transport link to Eastleigh Town 
Centre, the proportion of traffic arising from the development and which 
uses this route should be specifically considered against the 100AADT 
threshold in order to determine the significance of the impacts on air 
quality within the AQMA.  
 

54



 
 
 
108. The dispersion of the total traffic levels has not been specifically covered 

in the air quality assessment. The submitted transport assessment 
however includes modelling for peak periods in this regard, with this 
showing that the proportion of traffic to and from the development which 
would use Twyford Road during these times is approximately 22.95% 
(with the remaining traffic travelling via Allbrook Way, Allbrook Hill or 
Woodside Avenue). If this percentage is applied to the overall annual 
average daily traffic figure of 313 trips, this would result in 72 trips using 
Twyford Road and thereby passing through the AQMA per day, which 
would be below the 100AADT threshold referred to above with a large 
safety margin for error.  
 

109. Whilst the data presented in the transport assessment is for peak 
periods only, the Highway Authority have confirmed that it is reasonable 
and justifiable in this case to also apply the aforementioned percentage 
rate for vehicle dispersion on a daily basis. The Council’s EHO has 
subsequently confirmed that there can therefore be confidence that the 
IAQM screening criteria for the development would not be exceeded and 
impacts upon air quality within the AQMA are not likely to be significant. 
Further assessment is not therefore considered necessary. A 
contribution towards air quality monitoring and mitigation measures 
within the AQMA has however been requested to reflect the increase in 
vehicle movements through the AQMA and this would need to be 
secured within the Section 106 Agreement.  

 
110. In terms of the air quality impacts on residential amenity, the Council’s 

EHO has raised no objections with the distance of the nearest proposed 
dwellings to Allbrook Way and the separation between the access point 
for the development site and the nearest existing neighbouring 
residential properties (along Knowle Hill) being considered to be 
sufficient to prevent any significant risk of exceedances of air quality 
objectives for these receptors.  

 
Archaeology 
 
111. Saved Policy 168.LB of the adopted Local Plan states that planning 

applications for development affecting a site where there is evidence that 
archaeological remains may exist but whose extent and importance are 
unknown, will only be permitted if the developer arranges for an 
appropriate level of evaluation to be carried out. This will enable the 
Borough Council to be fully informed about the likely effect that the 
proposed development will have upon such remains. 

 
112. The application is supported by an Archaeological Desk Based 

Assessment which considers the archaeological potential of the site in 
light of the development proposals. The report concludes that while there 
is some evidence in the area for prehistoric, Roman and medieval 
activity, it is unlikely that any archaeological finds that may exist within 
the proposed development area would be of sufficient significance to 
warrant preservation in-situ. This information has been reviewed by 

55



 
 
 

Hampshire County Council’s Archaeologist who, whilst concurring with 
this conclusion, has also highlighted that the site is located on high 
ground on the western side of the Itchen Valley in an area known to 
have been settled though the later prehistoric, Roman and medieval 
periods. The scale of the development also means that there is an 
increased opportunity for chance finds of hitherto unrecorded 
archaeological features being exposed and impacted during 
construction. 

 
113. Therefore, whilst the County Archaeologist is satisfied that there is no 

indication that archaeology presents an overriding concern, conditions 
have been recommended in respect of the assessment, recording and 
reporting of any archaeological deposits affected by construction. These 
conditions will be imposed accordingly and as such there is considered 
to be no conflict with Saved Policy 168.LB of the adopted Local Plan. 

 
Minerals considerations 
 
114. The application site lies within a mineral safeguarding area as defined 

within Policy 15: ‘Safeguarding – mineral resources’ of the adopted 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). The safeguarding area 
indicates that safeguarded mineral resources are likely to be present, 
with the purpose of Policy 15 being to protect potentially economically 
viable mineral resource deposits from needless and unnecessary 
sterilisation. The policy seeks to encourage the recovery, where 
possible, of potential viable mineral resources prior to development 
(known as prior-extraction). 

 
115. In light of this designation, Hampshire County Council as the Minerals 

and Waste Authority, have requested that further exploratory work be 
undertaken on site in the form of a minerals safeguarding report or 
assessment. Whilst no assessment has been provided at this stage, the 
Planning Statement which accompanies the application sets out that 
given the size of the site, any commercial scale mineral extraction 
operation is unlikely to be viable but proposes that a minerals 
investigation be undertaken prior to the commencement of development, 
with its provisions to include an investigation of the presence or 
otherwise of mineral deposits within the developable areas of the site 
and subsequently, where found to be present, a plan for the appropriate 
extraction and use of minerals found, which may include their reuse on 
site as part of the construction process.  

 
116. Hampshire County Council have, following further consultation, 

confirmed that this approach is acceptable in this particular case and a 
condition is therefore recommended accordingly to require that the 
minerals safeguarding report / assessment be submitted prior to the 
commencement of development. With this, it is considered that there is 
no conflict with Policy 15 of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan.  

 

56



 
 
 
Trees  
 
117. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan 2001-2011 requires that 

development takes full and proper account of the context of the site and 
is appropriate in relation to natural features and trees worthy of retention. 
Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction – 
Recommendations (BS 5837:2012) advises that a realistic assessment 
of the probable impact of any proposed development on trees should 
take into account the characteristics and condition of the trees 
concerned, with due allowance and space for their future growth and 
maintenance requirements. To maximise the probability of successful 
tree retention account should be taken during the design process of any 
shading of buildings and open space, any direct damage both below and 
above ground, future pressure to remove trees, and seasonal nuisance. 
 

118. The application is supported an Arboricultural Implications Report which 
appraises and categorises the arboricultural features on and adjacent to 
the site and considers the potential impacts on trees or other vegetation 
that could be affected by the development. The site’s borders contain a 
number of mature trees, with an area of woodland to the west which is 
protected by a Tree Preservation Order. There are further protected 
trees to the south of Westfield House including along the access drive to 
the property from Knowle Hill and the site also lies adjacent to the 
Allbrook Clay Pits Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC).  

 
119. The submitted arboricultural statement shows that to accommodate the 

development, four individual trees (nos. 5, 6, 7 and 81) are to be 
removed in and around the access point. In addition, two groups of 
trees/shrubs to the south of the site are proposed to be partially removed 
as part of the proposals. None of these trees are category ‘A’ (trees of 
high quality) or ‘B’ (trees of moderate quality) trees, with the trees to be 
removed each being category ‘C’ (trees of low quality). In addition, the 
indicative site layout and drainage strategy suggest that there may be 
incursions into the root protection areas (RPAs) of eight trees or groups 
of trees to be retained within and around the periphery of the 
development site. The incursions are indicated to be relatively minimal 
(no more than 9% of the RPA of any tree) and the submitted statement 
states that it is envisaged that these incursions can be minimised 
including through low impact construction techniques or, in some cases, 
potentially designed out at the reserved matters stage. 

 

120. The submitted statement and the arboricultural related impacts of the 
development have been considered by the Council’s Tree Officer, who 
has raised no objection to the proposed tree removals, with these being 
relatively small specimens and their loss not being deemed to be 
significant in the wider context. All those trees or groups of trees that 
constitute the main arboricultural features of the site and which make the 
greatest contribution to the character and appearance of the local 
landscape, to amenity or to biodiversity are shown to be retained. As the 
proposed connecting links to the public right of way to the west of the 

57



 
 
 

site will pass through the intervening linear tree belt in this area, the 
Council’s Tree Officer has advised that these will have to be designed 
such as to avoid tree loss or significant harm to retained trees.  

 
121. This matter can be considered at reserved matters stage and a condition 

will be imposed to require that the development be carried out in 
accordance with the principles as set out within the submitted 
arboricultural statement and to require that an updated assessment be 
provided as part of the reserved matters submission to take account of 
the exact implications of the final layout. With this and having regard to 
the Tree Officer raising no objection, the application complies with the 
requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan in respect 
of its arboricultural related impacts.  

 
Ecology and drainage  

 
122. Saved Policy 45.ES of the adopted Local Plan requires that development 

provides for adequate drainage infrastructure, whilst Saved Policy 25.NC 
states that development which will adversely affect a habitat or feature of 
importance for wild fauna and flora will not be permitted, unless it can be 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Council that: (i) the benefits of the 
development outweigh the adverse impacts (ii) the adverse impacts are 
unavoidable, and (iii) appropriate measures are taken which would 
mitigate or compensate for any adverse impact. This includes in relation 
to drainage and the potential for the pollution of designated sites as a 
result of inadequate surface water drainage provisions.  

 
123. These policies are considered to be consistent with Paragraphs 155 to 

165 of the NPPF which, inter alia, require that development incorporates 
appropriate sustainable drainage systems and does not increase flood 
risk elsewhere and Paragraph 170 which requires that, when 
determining planning applications, local planning authorities minimise 
impacts upon and provide net gains for biodiversity, including wherever 
possible, through helping to improve local environmental conditions such 
as water quality.  

 
124. The site is located within Flood Zone 1, which is defined as having low 

probability of flooding and an area where residential development is 
considered acceptable in principle. The application is supported by a 
drainage strategy which sets out the proposed provisions for both foul 
and surface water drainage to serve the development. This proposes to 
discharge foul sewage to the existing foul sewer in the vicinity of the site. 
Southern Water have advised that their initial investigations indicate that 
this is able to be accommodated within the current sewer network. A 
condition will be imposed to require details of the final sewerage 
provisions in this regard prior to the commencement of development with 
an informative to advise the applicant that a separate application will 
need to be made to Southern Water to connect to the existing network.  

 

58



 
 
 
125. For surface water drainage, the drainage strategy sets out that surface 

water runoff from the application site will be managed through a 
combined infiltration and attenuation-based scheme with a controlled 
discharge into the public surface water sewer which lies within Knowle 
Hill to the immediate south of the site. Hampshire County Council, as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority, have confirmed that this is acceptable in 
principle taking account of the outline nature of the application and that 
infiltration testing has been undertaken to show that this is feasible at the 
south of the site. Southern Water have also raised no objection to the 
drainage strategy subject to conditions and have confirmed that the 
discharge can be accepted at the proposed rate of 16.9 l/s at the surface 
water sewer.  

 

126. In terms of the ecological considerations associated with the drainage 
scheme, whilst no objection has been raised by the Council’s Ecologist 
in terms of the method proposed, Natural England have requested 
further details in respect of surface water drainage in the context of the 
potential for increases in sediment loading within the River Itchen to 
arise from the construction and operational phases of the development. 
They have advised that this could have the potential to impact upon the 
River Itchen (and Test) salmon population which is genetically distinct 
from other populations and is one of the features for which the River 
Itchen SAC is designated, with excessive sediment input being a major 
factor in poor salmonid spawning habitat, and further mitigation may 
therefore be required. Additional information is therefore awaited on this 
matter and re-consultation with Natural England will thereafter need to 
be carried out.  

 

127. With regards to other drainage related considerations, there are water 
distribution and water trunk mains which run along the western and/or 
southern parts of the site. Southern Water have advised that there are 
stand-off distances that are required to be adhered to in respect of these 
apparatus in order to provide sufficient clearance to protect them from 
construction works and allow for future access for maintenance. The 
stand-off distances can affect where excavation, tree planting and 
certain drainage features are able to be sited. The indicative layout has 
been amended during the course of the application process and now 
demonstrates that the level of development proposed, along with the 
drainage features to serve it, can be accommodated in an appropriate 
manner which respects the relevant stand-off distances in each case. 
The condition requested by Southern Water in respect of a requirement 
for details of measures to protect the public water supply main during 
construction will be imposed accordingly.  

 
128. The application is supported by an Ecological Impact Assessment as 

well as further Ecological Surveys which were subsequently carried out, 
with additional information having also been provided during the course 
of the application process in response to comments from Natural 
England and the Council’s Ecologist. The Assessment sets out that the 
site largely comprises of pasture fields which are poor, semi-improved 

59



 
 
 

grassland that are dominated by grasses with low levels of herbs and 
are surrounded by mature hedgerows and vegetation with trees. As the 
sward is generally kept short through grazing it offers little refuge for 
wildlife and is of limited nature conservation value.  

 
129. Protected species have however been identified on site, with these being 

largely associated with the mature, vegetated boundaries and the 
woodland/scrubland to the west which extends into Allbrook Clay Pit 
SINC, and includes great crested newts, bats, reptiles, birds and 
badgers. A mitigation strategy is proposed within the submitted 
Ecological Assessment that will retain and manage the mature vegetated 
boundaries of the site and buffer them with new native planting. As part 
of this, land to the north and west of the site is proposed to be brought 
into improved management for nature conservation and enhanced for 
use by Great Crested Newts in particular, with grassland also proposed 
to be restored in these areas. In addition, hibernacula is proposed to be 
constructed to provide refuging and hibernation sites for amphibians and 
reptiles.  

 

130. The recommended ecological mitigation and enhancement measures 
can be covered by way of a condition requiring the submission of a 
Landscape Ecological Management Plan as recommended by the 
Council’s Ecologist, with this including further specific detail on the 
measures proposed, the timing for their undertaking and their ongoing 
management. The specific management of the woodland area in the 
western portion of the site will additionally require a woodland 
management plan which will be secured within the Section 106 
Agreement.  
 

131. Subject to the outstanding matters raised by Natural England being 
suitably addressed, it is considered that the application is acceptable in 
terms of its drainage and ecological related impacts and complies with 
the requirements of Saved Policy 25.NC of the adopted Local Plan and 
the provisions of paragraphs 155 and 170 of the NPPF.  

 
Nutrient neutrality 

 

132. The water environment within the Solent region is one of the most 
important for wildlife in the United Kingdom. It is internationally 
recognised and is protected under the Water Environment Regulations 
and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended). Natural England have advised that there are high levels of 
nitrogen and phosphorus input to this water environment with evidence 
that these nutrients are causing eutrophication at these designated sites. 
These nutrient inputs currently mostly come either from agricultural 
sources or from wastewater from existing housing and other 
development. The resulting dense mats of green algae and other effects 
on the marine ecology resulting from an excessive presence of nutrients 
are impacting on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species. There 
is presently uncertainty as to whether new growth will further deteriorate 

60



 
 
 

designated sites and whilst this uncertainty remains, Natural England 
have advised that new housing developments across the Solent region 
have the potential to exacerbate these impacts and create a risk to the 
future conservation status of these sites.  

 
133. The Council, as the responsible body for Habitats Regulations 

Assessments under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations, must ensure as part of a planning application that a 
development will not have an adverse impact on any European 
protected sites or the features for which they are designated and the 
above-mentioned impacts are therefore required to be mitigated. One 
way in which to address this issue is for new development to achieve 
nutrient neutrality which is a means of ensuring that development does 
not add to existing nutrient burdens and provide certainty that the 
scheme is deliverable in line with the requirements of these Regulations.  

 
134. The Council has adopted a strategy whereby it will identify areas of 

agricultural land and remove them from a nitrate intensive use, which 
would provide mitigation through offsetting the impacts of a 
development. This will ensure no net increase in nitrates within the 
Solent complex and thereby allow a development to achieve nutrient 
neutrality. In order to do this, the Council calculates the level of nitrate 
mitigation this land provides (measured in kg) and makes ‘nitrate credits’ 
available to developers to buy, with the securing of the required funding 
being done through the S106 process. The charge for these credits 
includes estimated costs of land purchase and ongoing maintenance. 
The applicant has proposed to utilise this scheme as a means of 
offsetting the impacts of the development. The requisite contributions will 
need to be secured via a legal agreement and a Habitats Regulations 
Appropriate Assessment will also need to be undertaken by the local 
planning authority to set out the potential effects on the European 
protected site and the mitigation measures to address these, with 
subsequent consultation being undertaken with Natural England.  

 
Environmentally sustainable development and climate change 
 
135. Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the adopted local plan require 

development to be sustainable in terms of climate change and resource 
and energy use, whilst the NPPF, within Paragraph 8 as part of the 
environmental objective of sustainable development, states that 
development should use natural resources prudently, minimise waste 
and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to climate change, including 
moving to a low carbon economy. 

 
136. All planning applications should therefore be tested for their resilience to 

and impact on the environment. The environmental implications of this 
application are detailed throughout this report and proposed mitigation 
measures can be secured through conditions and obligations (as 
applicable) to include requirements for low energy and water use 

61



 
 
 

infrastructure for the proposed dwellinghouses, extensive tree planting 
and landscaping, provisions for sustainable transport, sustainable urban 
drainage, and ecological protection and habitat enhancements, should 
permission be granted.  

 
Planning obligations and affordable housing 
 
137. In accordance with the guidance contained within the National Planning 

Policy Framework, Saved Policies 25.NC, 74.H, 101.T, 147.OS, 165.TA 
and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-2011, 
Policies DM1, DM13, DM30, DM35 and DM40 of the submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, the Council’s ‘Planning Obligations’ 
SPD, and the requirements of Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Regulations, there is a requirement for planning 
obligations to ensure on and off-site provision for facilities and 
infrastructure made necessary by the development, and to mitigate 
against any increased need/pressure on existing facilities. This is in 
addition to the requisite on-site provision of affordable housing. 
 

138. Contributions / obligations towards the provision of the following 
infrastructure, community and environmental facilities, or mitigation 
measures have been identified as being required as part of the 
application: 
 

 35% on-site affordable housing (18no. units) 

 Transport infrastructure and a traffic regulation order (TRO) 

 Community infrastructure projects 

 On-site open space and play area provision including measures for 
its ongoing management and maintenance  

 Off-site public open space improvements 

 Local health infrastructure provision 

 Nitrogen deposition mitigation 

 Public art 

 Air quality monitoring 

 Enhancements to the public right of way (subject to the comments 
of Hampshire County Council Countryside Services) 

 A woodland management plan  
 
139. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure would 

comply with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy 2010, in that the monies would go towards projects 
which are directly related to the development and are fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development. The 
contributions would be index-linked to ensure that they rise in line with 
the costs of providing the identified projects/measures. The obligations 
sought are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms and to meet the needs generated by the new residents and the 
potential impact on existing services and facilities.  
 

62



 
 
 
140. The granting of planning permission will be subject to the applicant 

entering into a Section 106 Agreement to secure the provision of these 
contributions. 
 

141. In terms of the contributions requested by Southampton University 
Hospital, as noted above these were requested in respect of the initial 
development proposal for 59no. units. The cost per dwelling tariff-based 
contributions which are sought to bridge the lag in funding of staff from 
other sources in response to the direct impact on, and cost to, their 
acute healthcare services as a result of additional pressure placed on 
the service, are not unique to Eastleigh but are experienced across the 
Trust’s wider catchment area. All new development will place pressure 
on the service, and it is considered that this pressure should be 
assessed and planned for at a strategic level (and not on a site-by-site 
basis) based on forecast housing growth within the catchment of the 
Trust. It is not considered that seeking such contributions would 
therefore be reasonably justifiable as part of this application. The 
contributions that have been sought by the NHS CCG are, however, 
considered to meet the tests for planning obligations and these will be 
sought accordingly as noted above.  
 

Equalities implications 
 
142. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality 

duty. Section 149 states that: 
 

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 
 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 
other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
and, 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the 
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.  

 
143. It is not considered that this application raises any equality implications. 
 
Other material considerations 
 
144. None. 
 

Conclusion 
 
145. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

requires a local planning authority determining an application to do so in 

63



 
 
 

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. In this regard, the site lies within designated 
countryside and local gap within the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2001-2011 where Saved Policies 1.CO (protection of the 
countryside) and 3.CO (local gaps) apply. Large scale developments 
such as that proposed are not supported by these policies and the 
proposals would physically diminish the gap. The proposals are 
therefore, in the strictest terms, contrary to the development plan and as 
such there would have to be material considerations which weigh 
sufficiently in favour of the proposals to justify a decision to grant 
planning permission.  

146. In this respect, the site is subject to a draft allocation for residential 
development within the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-
2036 (Policy AL2). Given the status of the Plan, it is considered that 
considerable weight can be attached to the policies within it and the 
proposal to allocate the site for development of the nature proposed as 
part of this application is therefore a significant material consideration 
which weighs in favour of the development proposals. Whilst the draft 
allocation is for 45 units which would be exceeded in this case, the 
submitted information demonstrates that the site has the capacity to 
accommodate 52 dwellings and that it could be developed in an 
acceptable manner for this level of development.  

 
147. Additionally, the development would give rise to social benefits. This 

includes the provision of on-site open space and play provision and 
notably housing to meet the needs of the borough, with this including 18 
units of affordable housing of an appropriate mix and tenure. In addition, 
there would be economic benefits resulting from the construction phase 
of the development, an increase in local population, payment of a New 
Homes Bonus, and financial contributions secured via S106 planning 
obligations. The site also abuts the urban edge and is located within 
walking distance of bus services and local facilities, with the provision of 
a footway link from the site down Knowle Hill, footway improvements on 
Woodside Avenue, and controlled crossing facilities on Twyford Road 
addressing current connectivity constraints for pedestrians and bringing 
benefits for residents of the site and the wider local community. The 
proposals would also not result in harm to highway safety, protected 
trees, or residential amenity, and would be acceptable in terms of their 
air quality impacts, as well as in relation to minerals and contaminated 
land related considerations subject to appropriate safeguards being in 
place.  
 

148. Subject to the outstanding comments of consultees (Environmental 
Health and Hampshire Countryside Services) and the matters raised by 
Natural England being suitably addressed, the development would also 
make adequate provision for drainage, not be adversely affected by 
noise, and not unduly impact upon the public right of way or ecology, 
with net gains for biodiversity being proposed as part of the development 
scheme, thereby enhancing its environmental sustainability credentials.  

64



 
 
 
 
149. In assessing harm, whilst the development is located within countryside 

and local gap, it would not unduly undermine the functionality of the gap 
in protecting the individual identify of settlements. Although the character 
of the site itself would invariably be changed as a result of the 
development, subject to an appropriate design, scale, layout and 
landscaping, each of which would be controlled as part of a subsequent 
reserved matters application(s), the proposals would not result in 
unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the immediate 
area or its wider surroundings.   

 
150. Taking account of these factors, it is considered that the development 

proposal would constitute sustainable development for which the 
National Planning Policy Framework establishes a presumption in favour 
and that there are material considerations that provide justification for a 
decision otherwise than in accordance with the development plan. 
Subject, therefore, to the outstanding matters as listed in the 
recommendation set out at the outset of this report being addressed, it is 
considered that outline consent should be granted subject to conditions.  

 
 
 
 
 

65



 
 
 

 

66



EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE  

Tuesday, 8 June 2021  

TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER, 

 VARIOUS ROADS, EASTLEIGH 

Report of the Traffic and Engineering Team 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that   
 
(1) Waiting and parking restrictions are introduced as advertised on the following 

roads: 

Allbrook Hill, Stoneham Lane, Grantham Road, Arnold Road, Mansbridge 
Road; 

(2) A decision on introducing restrictions on Crestwood View is deferred until 
further engagement with residents and the Waste and Recycling Service has 
taken place; 

(3) An amendment is made to the provisions of the Borough of Eastleigh 
(Eastleigh Town Centre) Order 2013 (as amended) such that up to six 
Disabled Person’s Parking bays can be introduced as required in the 
following roads:  Albert Road, Barrington Close, Beaulieu Road, Blenheim 
Road, Browsholme Close, Chestnut Avenue, Consort Road, Cox Row, Curlew 
Square, Devon Drive, Drum Road, Essex Green, Falcon Square, Falkland 
Road, Great Farm Road, Greenfinch Close, Haddon Drive, High Street, Kent 
Road, Launceston Drive, Leigh Road, Lewes Close, Linnet Square, Magpie 
Lane, Market Street, Maypole Villas, Mottisfont Road, Nightingale Avenue, 
Oxburgh Close, St John’s Road, Selborne Drive, Somerset Crescent, Sparrow 
Square, Surrey Road, Sussex Road, Swift Close, The Quadrangle, Twyford 
Road, Victoria Road, Wells Place, Westfield Crescent, Westfield Road, 
Whyteways, Wiltshire Road, Woodpecker Way; 

(4) An amendment is made to the provisions of the Borough of Eastleigh 
(Eastleigh Town Centre) Order 2013 (as amended) such that up to twelve 
Disabled Person’s Parking bays can be introduced as required in the 
following roads:  Belmont Road, Cornwall Road; 

(5) An amendment is made to the Borough of Eastleigh (Arnold Road area) 
(Residents parking places and Prohibition and Restriction of Waiting) 
(Disabled Persons Parking places) (Fourth zone) (controlled zone) Order 2004 
(as amended) to update the descriptions of waiting and parking restrictions 
on Cheriton Road to reflect the current property numbers (no physical 

67

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

restrictions will be amended) 

(6) The proposals to introduce time-limited parking places on Nursery Gardens 
and Chestnut Close, and “no waiting” restrictions on Chestnut Close are 
withdrawn; 

(7) The proposals to revoke “prohibition of motor vehicles except for access” 
restrictions on Chestnut Close, Red Lodge, Nursery Gardens, the Croft and 
The Oaklands are deferred, pending further monitoring by the Traffic and 
Engineering Team. 

 

Summary 
 
A proposal to introduce waiting and parking restrictions in various roads in Eastleigh was 
advertised on 12 February 2021.  Representations were received both in support of and 
objection to the restrictions.  This report summarises the comments received and 
recommends how to proceed. 

Statutory Powers 
 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984; Traffic Management Act 2004.  

Legal Agreements 

Agency Agreement between Hampshire County Council and Eastleigh Borough Council 
dated 10 September 2019 
 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Creating an Excellent Environment for All by managing roadspace and 
removing obstructive and inconsiderate parking  

Introduction 

2. Various roads in the Local Area have been investigated in response to 
reported problems such as obstructive or inconsiderate parking.  Site 
investigations were undertaken to assess the issues being experienced by 
road users, and to decide on appropriate measures to mitigate the issues.   

3. This report details the comments received during the public consultation 
period.  The Committee is asked to consider the comments received, before 
making a decision to introduce, amend (within legal tolerance) or withdraw the 
Traffic Regulation Order. 

68



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Detail 

4. Consultation was undertaken by means of a Public Notice on the Eastleigh 
Borough Council (EBC) website, published in the Hampshire Independent 
newspaper, and posted on street furniture in the vicinity of the proposed 
restrictions.  The Public Notice was also posted to properties directly affected 
by the proposals.  Plans showing the proposed restrictions are shown in 
Appendix 1, along with amendments recommended in the light of comments 
or objections received. 

5. 44 representations were received.  Eighteen of these representations were 
objections relating to the proposal to introduce up to six Disabled Person’s 
Parking Bays (twelve in Cornwall Road and Belmont Road) as required in 
various roads within the Local Area. 

6. The objections for each site are summarised below, along with the Engineer’s 
response.  The full (redacted) text of the representations can be found in 
Appendix 2 

7. Allbrook Hill 

Comment Engineer’s response 

One objection was received from a 
resident of Allbrook Hill who would 
like to have permission to wait outside 
her property on the occasions she 
has to unload shopping or other items 
from her small car.  She is elderly as 
are her neighbours, who may have 
the same problem.  

Stagecoach Bus company supports 
the proposal, saying as a bus 
company serving this road we are in 
favour of any additional no parking 
zones which will make progress of 
buses through this area easier for our 
drivers. 

There is an exemption for loading and 
unloading on “no waiting” restrictions, 
which should satisfy the residents’ 
requirements.  Apart from this 
occasional use, the part of the road in 
question should be kept clear of 
parked vehicles to allow pedestrian 
access to properties higher up the 
bank, and for eastbound vehicles to 
queue in advance of the “Give Way” 
at the traffic island at this location.  It 
is recommended therefore that this 
restriction is implemented as 
advertised. 

 

8. Crestwood View 

Comment Engineer’s response 

Fourteen objections were received, 
along with one comment in support of 
the proposal.  The objections are 
mainly from residents who own more 
vehicles than they can accommodate 
in the off-street parking provided with 

EBC has received complaints over 
the years about vehicles, particularly 
larger vehicles such as Refuse 
Collection Vehicles (RCVs) and 
delivery trucks, being unable to gain 
access due to obstructive parking.  

69



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

the property.  Two of the comments 
were from addresses outside the 
borough. 

Residents who rely on being able to 
park on the road state that they will 
have nowhere else to park if these 
restrictions are introduced, and that 
the parking that occurs at the moment 
does not obstruct the passage of 
vehicles. 

Some residents feel that Eastleigh 
Borough Council (EBC) should take 
some responsibility for permitting a 
such a poorly designed development. 

One resident has asked if EBC will 
build a parking area nearby, another 
has asked for a permit scheme. 

Other residents have requested that 
restrictions are introduced during the  
daytime only, which would allow 
residents to park more vehicles on 
street overnight when there is greater 
demand. 

One resident, whilst not objecting to 
the proposal, is concerned that the 
restrictions would encourage 
residents to park inconsiderately in 
the private parking courts and cause 
conflicts between residents.  She is 
not confident that the management 
company would be able to resolve 
such matters. 

There is one comment in support of 
the proposals, saying that this is a 
well thought out plan, being a 
compromise on the number of much 
needed parking spots and access to 
the under arch car parks. 

The majority of properties on 
Crestwood View are provided with 
one parking place per property (the 
larger properties are provided with 
two - a garage and driveway), There 
is also a small number of off-street 
visitor parking bays, which are usually 
occupied by residents’ vehicles.  This 
parking provision reflects planning 
guidance at the time the development 
was built; a maximum number of 
parking places was permitted, in order 
to encourage more sustainable ways 
of travel than the private car.  Many of 
the residents own two or more 
vehicles; the additional vehicles are  
parked on both sides of the road, 
partially or wholly on the footways. 

Residents should be aware that the 
primary purpose of the highway is for 
the passing and repassing of traffic, 
and should consider their parking 
requirements before they purchase 
the property.  Whilst parking at the 
kerbside is generally permitted 
provided that this allows the 
unobstructed passage of traffic, the 
highway must remain available for its 
primary purpose.   

Permit parking schemes are intended 
to protect kerbside parking for 
residents (where the majority have no 
access to off-street parking places) in 
areas where this would otherwise be 
taken up by non-residents.  The on-
street parking that takes place in 
Crestwood View is by residents’ cars, 
and the estate is designed in such a 
way that there are very few parts of 
the highway which are suitable for 
parking without causing obstruction.  
Furthermore, a Permit Parking 
scheme would be unviable under the 
highway authority’s criteria for a 
single street. 

A daytime restriction would resolve 
the problems experienced by the 

70



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

RCVs; however, deliveries by courier 
often take place late into the evening 
and emergency vehicles may need 
access at any time. 

Given the level of objections, it is 
recommended the restriction is not 
implemented at this time, and that 
EBC further engages with residents 
and the Waste and Recycling service 
to ascertain if more acceptable 
measures can be identified. 

 

9. Chestnut Close, Nursery Gardens/Red Lodge/The Croft/The Oaklands 

Comment Engineer’s response 

Nine objections were received from 
residents of Chestnut Close, along 
with a petition signed by 45 residents 
of Nursery Gardens/The Croft/The 
Oaklands.  Their objections are that 
the current “prohibition of motor 
vehicles except for access” (POD) 
restriction is in place to protect the 
on-street parking space for residents 
and their visitors, and it is illegal for 
cars not visiting a property to park in 
the road.   

The objectors feel that the proposed 
time-limited parking place will not help 
them, and that commuters will 
continue to park in their roads. 

Some objectors have asked for a 
waiting restriction for one or two 
hours during the working day (e.g. 
Monday – Friday 10-11am) to be 
introduced. 

Some of the objectors have stated 
that many of the residents are elderly 
and rely on visits from carers. 

Other objectors have requested that a 
permit parking scheme be introduced. 

One resident of Nursery Gardens 

The reason for the proposed time 
limited parking bay was to address 
comments from residents that their 
visitors were often unable to park in 
Chestnut Close during the working 
day.  The proposed parking bay 
would provide short stay parking for 
residents’ visitors (including carers) 
during the working day.   

The objections received indicate that 
residents are unhappy about non-
residents parking in their road, but the 
level of non-resident parking is not so 
great that they or their visitors are 
unable to find kerbside parking space 
during the working day.  Measures to 
reduce parking by commuters could 
be considered as part of a more 
comprehensive review of travel to 
work in the southern part of Eastleigh 
and Chandlers Ford.  However, 
introducing restrictions aimed at 
removing commuter parking from 
residential roads in a piecemeal 
fashion simply displaces the cars to 
other nearby roads and eventually 
this parking is concentrated into a few 
roads, where it may cause a genuine 
problem for residents who rely on 
being able to park at the kerbside. 

71



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

objects to the location of the 
proposed parking bay because it 
would obstruct two-way traffic and 
obscure visibility at the junction of 
The Oaklands and Nursery Gardens; 
he suggests that a parking bay could 
be located further into Nursery 
Gardens. 

One resident of Nursery Gardens is in 
support of the proposals. 

Introduction of a waiting restriction for 
one or two hours during the working 
day would require a new TRO to be 
proposed; this is outside the scope of 
this report.  However, it is worth 
noting that the restriction would apply 
equally to residents as other vehicles, 
and may impact on essential visits by 
carers. 

Permit parking schemes are intended 
to protect kerbside parking for 
residents (where the majority have no 
access to off-street parking places) in 
areas where this would otherwise be 
taken up by non-residents.  The 
majority of properties within Chestnut 
Close/Nursery Gardens/The Croft/The 
Oaklands have at least one off-street 
parking place.  Any permit scheme 
would therefore largely benefit 
residents’ visitors rather than the 
residents themselves.  The current 
policy around funding is that Permit 
Parking schemes should be self-
funding, and it is unlikely that a 
scheme would be viable for these 
roads. 

Given the level of objection, the 
recommendation is to not introduce 
proposed parking bays and waiting 
restrictions in Nursery Gardens and 
Chestnut Close at this time. 

Proposals for alternative waiting or 
parking restrictions are outside the 
scope of this report. 

The current “prohibition of motor 
vehicles except for access” (POD) 
restriction permits vehicles requiring 
access to premises to proceed along 
Chestnut Close.  That Article could be 
interpreted that vehicles may drive 
into or out of premises on the roads in 
question, but not park on those 
roads.  Others may interpret the 
Article differently, and this would need 
to be tested in court.  However, if this 
interpretation does hold true, 

72



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

introducing any parking place would 
be a contradiction to the POD Order, 
hence one of the reasons for 
proposing its revocation.   

Furthermore, some of the objectors 
have asserted that they or their 
visitors wish to park at the kerbside 
from time to time. 

Recent advice from the Roads 
Policing Unit is that a “Prohibition of 
Driving” TRO is not an appropriate 
way of preventing non-resident 
parking.  A driver who contravenes a 
prohibition of driving order commits a 
moving traffic offence.  Police 
enforcement of moving traffic 
offences can only be made via a 
Constable in Uniform.  Enforcement 
of POD Orders best evidence 
requires the Constable to see a 
vehicle drive through the regulatory 
signs, stop the vehicle at the time and 
speak to the driver to establish the 
driver has not entered the area 
covered lawfully.  A Constable should 
not issue a fixed penalty unless those 
evidential requirements are proved. 

Demands for Police enforcement of 
road traffic regulations continues to 
be extremely high along with many 
other competing demands for all 
areas of Police activity. Consequently, 
Police are required to prioritise their 
limited resources to meet the those 
demands.  Directed Police 
enforcement of road traffic laws 
primarily focuses upon efforts to 
reduce road casualties and protect 
the community.  Enforcement of some 
moving traffic offences such as PODs 
will only occur via general patrol 
activities of uniformed 
Constables.  Nowadays the Police will 
object to POD Orders which are 
proposed to deter non-resident 
parking.  Parking concerns are best 
addressed via decriminalised local 

73



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

traffic regulations which can be 
enforced by Civil Enforcement 
Officers (CEOs).  Enforcement of 
those orders does not require a CEO 
to witness a vehicle park in 
contravention of the restrictions or 
speak to the driver.   

Advice in the Department for 
Transport Traffic Signs Manual 
Chapter 3 (Regulatory signs) clearly 
indicates that the purpose of a POD 
restriction is to remove unwanted 
traffic (i.e. moving vehicles) from a 
street, for example for environmental 
or traffic management reasons, not to 
prevent parking.  Clearly in a cul-de-
sac, there can be no through traffic, 
hence a POD restriction is 
inappropriate for this situation. 

It is recommended, given the 
objections from residents, that the 
POD restriction is not revoked at this 
time.  However, Members should be 
mindful that the continued presence 
of the POD restriction raises 
unrealistic expectations that 
enforcement will take place, and risks 
bringing this type of restriction into 
disrepute through inappropriate use.   

 

10. Stoneham Lane 

Comment Engineer’s response 

The Rector of St Nicolas Church is 
largely in support of the proposed “no 
waiting at any time” restriction on 
Stoneham Lane, but objects to the 
blanket restriction which would impact 
on the Lych Gate being used for 
weddings and funerals, as is 
traditional.    

BlueStar bus company supports the 
proposed restriction, as it will greatly 
improve journey time reliability 
because buses will not have to 

There is a general exemption from 
waiting restrictions for loading and 
unloading.  Additionally, cars being 
used in connection with weddings and 
funerals are generally exempted from 
waiting restrictions; this exemption will 
be included in the TRO when it is 
made.  The Rector has been made 
aware of this and has withdrawn her 
objection. 

74



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

negotiate parked vehicles on this 
section of highway and will also go 
towards general journey time savings 
as part of the transforming cities 
project for this route.  

 

11. Disabled bays (various roads) 

Comment Engineer’s response 

Nineteen comments were received 
objecting to the imposition of up to six 
Disabled Persons’ Parking bays on 
their roads (or up to twelve Disabled 
Persons’ Parking Bays on Belmont 
Road and Cornwall Road) 

There are no current proposals within 
this scheme to install any new 
Disabled Persons’ Parking Bays 
(DPBs).  The proposal in question is 
to amend the existing TRO in such a 
was so as to enable the Council to 
install up to six DPBs (twelve in 
Belmont Road and Cornwall Road) in 
a road, as required for disabled 
residents, subject to their application 
meeting strict criteria, without having 
to go through a TRO process each 
time.  This would make the process of 
installing and removing DPBs much 
quicker and more flexible.  Residents 
directly affected by proposed DPBs 
would still be consulted as they have 
been in the past.  It is recommended 
that the committee approves this 
proposal as advertised. 

 

12. No representations were received in respect of proposed restrictions in 
Grantham Road and Arnold Road/Mansbridge Road. Therefore it is 
recommended that the committee approves these proposals. 

Financial Implications 

13. The costs of the TRO and associated road markings are funded from the core 
TRO Programme budget as part of the “Various roads” allocations, at a cost of 
approximately £4,000. 

Risk Assessment 

14. If the proposals in Allbrook Hill, Arnold Road, Grantham Road and Stoneham 
Lane are not implemented, it is likely that the issues associated with 
obstructive parking would continue.  This also applies to Crestwood View, but 
it is recommended that EBC further engages with residents before a final 
decision on the proposals is made. 

75



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

15. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision and an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out and attached as Appendix 3 to the 
report.  In summary the EqIA shows that: 

(a) There is a positive impact to disabled road users by increasing the 
speed and flexibility with which Disabled Persons’ Parking Bays can be 
implemented or removed; 

(b) There are positive impacts to road users by prohibiting waiting at 
junctions, which improves visibility between road users (including 
pedestrians) at potential conflict points; 

(c) There are minor positive impacts for pedestrians, particularly 
wheelchair and pushchair users by prohibiting waiting at the kerbside, 
thereby discouraging drivers from obstructing footways, driveways and 
other accesses; 

(d) There are minor negative impacts on residents who may now have to 
park further away from their homes. 

 

16. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

The proposals should not increase Greenhouse Gas/CO2, or damage ecology 
or the environment.  There should be minor positive impacts by facilitating 
access for dustcarts, thereby reducing the need for repeat visits to roads 
where obstructive parking had occurred. 
 

Conclusion 

17. The proposals have due regard to the requirement of S122 of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act, by securing the expeditious, convenient and safe movement 
of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) and the provision of 
suitable and adequate parking facilities on the highway.  The proposed waiting 
restrictions attracted objections, comments and expressions of support.  This 
report takes into consideration all the representations received and 
recommends that the committee approves the introduction of the restrictions 
as advertised, with the exception of the proposed waiting restriction and 
parking places and removal of the “prohibition of driving” in Chestnut Close 
and Nursery Gardens, and the proposed waiting restriction in Crestwood 
View, on which it is recommended the decision is deferred. 

BARBARA THOMAS 
TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT ENGINEER  

 
Date: 12 May 2021 
Contact Officer: Barbara Thomas 
Tel No: 02380 688231 
e-mail: barbara.thomas@eastleigh.gov.uk 

76



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendices Attached: 3 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 
 

77



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Plans 

Allbrook Hill 

 

79



Arnold Road 

 

80



Crestwood View 

 

81



Grantham Road 

 

82



Stoneham Lane 

 

83



Chestnut Close  

 

84



 

Nursery Gardens 

 

85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Representations (redacted) 

Allbrook Hill 

1 --------------- would like to have permission to wait outside her property on the 
occasions she has to unload shopping or other items from her small car.  ----------------
----- will find it difficult if she has to park elsewhere and carry her shopping to her 
house.  Also her neighbours at ------------------------ are elderly and may have the same 
problem.   
 

2 Stagecoach as a bus company serving this road are in favour of any additional no 
parking zones which will make progress of buses through this area easier for our 
drivers. 

 

Chestnut Close/Nursery Gardens 

1 1. (i)   This is an objection by ------------------- of -- Chestnut Close to proposals within 
the Borough of Eastleigh (Eastleigh Town centre) (Amendment No.12) Order 2021. 
   (ii) In particular, we object to the proposals affecting Chestnut Close, whilst noting 
that similar circumstances apply in Nursery Gardens. 
 
2. History 
 Chestnut Close was built on an isolated site off Chestnut Avenue in 1958.  It 
was a semi-rural environment, with a little commercial development on Chestnut 
Avenue.  In 1974, the Carrefour (now Asda) Hypermarket was built close by.  A 
Prohibition of Driving Order was put in place in Chestnut Close to prevent overspill 
parking. 
 In the years since then, substantial offices have been built in Templars Way 
and Bournemouth Road, more shops were built in Chestnut Avenue (now Aldi etc),and 
a large development has been undertaken by B & Q, effectively the headquarters of 
the company. 
 Houses were built on the site of Rogers Nursery (hence Nursery Gardens), 
which were badly affected by vehicles parking all day from the Hampshire Corporate 
Park.  As a consequence, the Council put in place a Prohibition of Driving Order. 
 The former Warner Lambert site was developed for offices (Tollgate), a large 
car showroom and workshop was built in Chestnut Avenue, and substantial office 
blocks were built in Stoney Croft Rise. 
 With the notable exception of B & Q, most of these offices were built subject to 
a planning policy restricting on-site parking.  This was in the belief that commuters, 
travelling from whatever distance, could be persuaded or cajoled into going to work on 
foot, by bicycle, or on public transport.  These policies were thought by many people, 
including some Members, to be unrealistic and doomed to failure; the best that has 
happened is the inauguration of some Park and Ride schemes, which have not been 
well supported. 
 So it is that Chestnut Close (and Nursery Gardens) are surrounded by 
commercial developments. 
 A substantial housing development has occurred, partly in Test Vally district, off 
Templars Way.   The whole of this is protected from commuter parking by a Controlled 
Zone. 
 
3. Current Position 
  Before the pandemic, it was not unusual to have significant unlawful commuter 
parking in Chestnut Close ( still with the occasional Asda shopper).  This has 

87



sometimes led to unpleasantness when drivers were spoken to by residents.  On one 
occasion, the Police had to be called to deal with a serious obstruction when 
commuters from offices in Bournemouth Road effectively blocked the street by parking 
on both sides. 
 In the early days, the Police enforced the Prohibition of Driving Order.  
However, they say they no longer have the resources to do this.  For a time, they 
allowed residents to put “official” letters on offending vehicles, but later told us to stop 
doing that.    
 The pandemic has caused a massive rise in working from home.  So much so 
that we were told that on one day, the multi-storey car park at B & Q had only 60 cars 
in it.  The daily average in Chestnut Close is about 5 (usually the same cars). 
 If this were to continue, perhaps we could live with it, leaving no need to do 
anything at all. 
 The fact remains that all surrounding residential roads have protection against 
all-day parking: 
 
 - Suffolk Drive/Cambridge Drive etc have a Residents Parking Scheme 
 -  Montgomery Way/Guildford Drive/Donnington Drive etc (off Templars Way) 
have a Controlled Zone. 
 - Velmore Road, Castle Lane, Bournemouth Road (service road) and Holland 
Close have waiting prohibited for one or two hour(s) a day, which evidently is enough 
to prevent all day parking.  Velmore Road also has a Prohibition of Driving Order.** 
The western end of Castle Lane also has a Prohibition Order. 
(vi)      Before the pandemic, we were in discussion with officers about the possibility of 
extending the adjoining Residents Parking Scheme.   There had also been talk of the 
council building a car park off Falklands Road, on part of the old golf course.  It was 
said that this was not pursued for financial reasons. 
 
4. Future 
   (i)     If any action is to be taken, it should cater for all future scenarios, including a           
 significant return to office working. 
   (ii) Removal of the Prohibition of Driving Order would expose us once again to all-
day parking.  This is a real problem for residents and carers trying to go about their 
normal lives. There would be a strong possibility of real obstruction affecting 
emergency vehicles, tradespeople, and deliveries (much more frequent since the 
pandemic). 
   (iii) no-one here seeks confrontation with the Council.  We are confident that, if 
allowed, we can work with your officers to find a mutually acceptable solution (see 
below).  This would depend on your Committee agreeing with us that commuter 
parking should not be permitted in Chestnut Close and Nursery Gardens. 
 
5.Preferred Solution 
  (i) We are advised that the Police are now unlikely to enforce the Prohibition of 
Driving Order. 
  (ii) We recognise the downsides, including cost, of a Residents Parking Area. 
  (iii) The solution of a single yellow line to prevent all-day parking is our preferred 
 solution.  The actual time(s) of the restriction could be set after consultation with 
residents, taking account of carer visiting times, convenience of enforcement etc. 
 
6. Conclusion 
  (i)       Everyone around us is protected from this nuisance, but not us.  How can the 
 Council now say that commuter parking on our residential streets should be 
allowed (even encouraged)? 
  (ii).    We absolutely cannot see how the proposals meet the Statement Of Reasons 
given in the Order.  How do they avoid danger to persons or traffic? - the road will be 

88



busier. How do they facilitate passage of vehicular traffic? - the street will be narrowed 
by parked vehicles.   How do they preserve or improve the amenities of the area? - it 
will be cluttered up with cars.  There is no existing right for commuters to park here.    
  (iii) The Committee is requested to do one of the following: 
 
 (a) Take no action at all 
 (b) Defer the matter until such time as interested parties can actually sit round a 
table and come to a conclusion. 
 (c) authorise your officers to consult remotely with residents regarding moving 
forward with the single yellow line proposal. 
 
Thank you for you consideration 
 

2 Sorry for strongly disagreeing with your proposal and response to my neighbour 
colleagues who have put forward a reasonable proposal which affects us living in this 
quiet street with a family atmosphere. 
I am a surgeon and do oncall. I deal with complex needs of individuals in the 
community and I do not want to start my day stressed trying to negotiate my car out of 
my drive with unknown people coming and parking their cars in our street while 
worrying who they are and what their motive is on the street.  
Please reconsider your plan and save our street from the parking menace of 
different people. 
As majority of our street residents have needs which revolve around their families, 
friends and care workers to visit, your proposal will severely affect their needs and God 
forbid, might even be responsible for serious harm  

3 I am writing to reinforce the objections made by our neighbors to the proposed 
changes to parking in Chestnut Close.  
 
Whilst the current Prohibition of Driving Order does not prevent the persistent 
commuters from unlawfully parking in Chestnut Close all day, it does seem to deter the 
majority. I understand that the Police do not have the capacity to enforce this 
prohibition, however the current situation, whilst tolerable, is better than the most 
recent proposal.  
 
The new proposal will undoubtedly cause a parking free-for-all by commuters to the 
nearby offices who choose to park inconsiderately. Resulting in higher levels of traffic 
in a confined area, further access and egress challenges to residents, service 
providers and fundamentally would delay the emergency services when they are 
needed by our friends and neighbors.   
 
My wife and I are both paramedics and know all too well that inconsiderate parking, 
whilst often considered trivial, can ultimately be the difference between life and death. 
Obstructing vehicular access can delay life or property saving interventions by our 
colleagues in the emergency services. In the last two months we have had both 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service and South Central Ambulance Service in 
attendance in the close.  
 
Furthermore, as a paramedic for the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Air Ambulance, if I 
am delayed getting to work due to not being able to drive out of our close, then it could 
mean that the Air Ambulance is offline and unable to provide critical care to people of 
Hampshire and the Isle of Wight when they need it most. 
 
All surrounding residential roads have schemes in place which protect against all day 
parking. I sincerely hope that we, (the residents of Chestnut Close) and the Council 

89



can work together to achieve a pragmatic solution for all parties involved.  
4  

 

90



 

 
5 Please accept this email as objection to the proposals within the Borough of Eastleigh 

(Eastleigh Town Centre)(Amendment No.12) Order 2021. 
 
This objection is in reference to the proposed changes to Chestnut Avenue of which I am a 
resident. 
 
In reference to the 'no waiting at any time', 5m shown by red line, I would not be opposed if this 
is on the basis of safety to ensure that parking is a further 5m from the junction, but there is no 
mention of safety requirement. 

91



 
 
In reference to the 'no waiting Mon-Fri 9-11am' (shown in blue) I strongly object to the proposed 
change on the basis of no identified benefit, but significant negative impact for residents. 

 There has never been a problem that I'm aware of with parking and other traffic being 
able to use the turning. (There is no benefit from this change). 

 The limited road space is used by the neighbours at the end of the close, specifically at 
the time specified, for the inevitable shuffling of cars from driveways as people ready for 
work, (The change would significantly negatively impact residents). 

 The space is the only close area for residents at the bottom of the close for visitors to 
park. I should say this is rare and used sparingly but is essential. (again the proposed 
change would negatively impact residence.) 

On Street parking is particularly important to residents at the end of the close. 
 
In reference  'parking place 2 hrs, no return within 4' (shown by yellow square with red edging), I 
object on the grounds of no identified benefit. 

 Residents, visitors, deliveries etc already have the ability to park 

 There are no short term facilities within easy reach, only offices and supermarkets with 
their own parking are close by.  

There is no benefit to residents or close facility users to support this change. 
 
One of the main reasons I moved to chestnut close was the availability of on street parking. I'm 
mindful of other residence and always park on my drive when possible, but on street parking is 
essential (while not often used) for  occasional family/friend  visitors who may stay during the 
week or weekend, trades people, or simply parking my own car at the top of the close to ensure 
I can get to work when there are snow warnings. 
 
As such I would virulently oppose any time based parking restrictions for Chestnut Close.  

6 I am the owner of -- Chestnut Close which I purchased in 1972 and subsequently rebuilt in 
1996/7. I am writing to strongly object to the above Borough of Eastleigh ( Eastleigh Town 
Centre) (Amendment No: 12 ) Order 2021. 
 
Chestnut Close was built on an isolated site off Chestnut Avenue in 1958.  It was a semi-rural 
environment, with a little commercial development on Chestnut Avenue.  In 1974, the Carrefour 
(now Asda) Hypermarket was built close by.  A Prohibition of Driving Order was put in place in 
Chestnut Close to prevent overspill parking 
 
Over the last 45 years substantial Commercial development has taken place namely Tollgate 
Business Park. Three very large office blocks in Stoney Croft Drive, B & Q Head Office and the 
BMW car showroom and associated workshops. 
 
Most of these offices were built subject to a planning policy restricting on site parking, This of 
course has meant that they are unable to provide sufficient on site parking for all there staff, 
with the result that some of their commuting staff are parking all day Monday to Friday in the 
surrounding residential roads including Chestnut Close. 
 
It is not unusual to have significant unlawful unpleasantness when drivers hhave been spoken 
to by residents about commuter parking in Chestnut Close ( still with the occasional Asda 
shopper) 
 
This has sometimes led to.  On one occasion, the Police had to be called to deal with a serious 
obstruction when commuters from offices in Bournemouth Road effectively blocked the street 
by parking on both sides. 
 
In the early days, the Police enforced the Prohibition of Driving Order.  However, they say they 

92



no longer have the resources to do this.  For a time, they allowed residents to put “official” 
letters on offending vehicles, but later told us to stop doing that 
 
Velmore Road, Castle Lane, Bournemouth Road (service road) and Holland Close have waiting 
prohibited for one or two hour(s) a day, which evidently is enough to prevent all day 
parking.  Velmore Road also has a Prohibition of Driving Order.** The western end of Castle 
Lane also has a Prohibition Order. 
 
Removal of the Prohibition of Driving Order would expose us once again to all-day 
parking.  This is a real problem for residents and carers trying to go about their  normal lives. 
There would be a strong possibility of real obstruction affecting emergency vehicles, 

tradespeople,  and deliveries which are much more frequent since the pandemic.   
 
The adoption of proposed Borough of Eastleigh ( Eastleigh Town Centre ) (Amendment No: 12 ) 
Order 2021, as it currently exists would in no way improve the parking situation in Chestnut 
Close, quite the contrary it would make matters much worse by allowing legal unrestricted all 
day parking both sides of the road for any part of the road without a single yellow line with 
restricted parking prohibited for one or two hour(s) a day,  
 
The solution of a single yellow line to prevent all-day parking is our preferred solution.  The 
actual time(s) of the restriction could be set after consultation with residents, taking account of 
carer visiting times, and convenience of enforcement       
 
I absolutely cannot see how the proposals meet the Statement Of Reasons given in the 
Order.  How do they avoid danger to persons or traffic? - the road will be busier. How do they 
facilitate passage of vehicular traffic? - the street will be narrowed by parked vehicles.   How do 
they preserve or improve the amenities of  the area? - it will be cluttered up with cars.  There is 
no existing right for commuters to park here. 
 
 Please take all the above into consideration in order to maintain this quiet residential road for 
our mostly elderly residents 

7 My neighbour ----------- has shared the correspondence you had with him yesterday so 
I am writing to add my very strong support to the comments he has made regarding 
your proposals to alter the current traffic regulations in Chestnut Close. 
There is a long-standing issue of unwelcome & obstructive long term parking in this 
street, but not (as far as I am aware) an issue of short term parking for residents' 
visitors. If the existing regulation was properly enforced it would resolve the current 
problem; if you revise the regulations as you propose then it will simply make the 
imagined problem a reality for the parts of the street which then become unregulated. 
Having had a quick look around other local streets, I noted that Bournemouth 
Rd/Holland Close, Castle Lane and Velmore Rd all have a single yellow line with 
limited prohibition (eg Mon-Fri 10-11 am) whilst Templars Mede is (like us) only 
protected by an 'except for access' prohibition, there were no cars parked there. If the 
authorities really are incapable of enforcing the existing regulations (How does it work 
in Templars Mede?), then I suggest that the limited time restriction might be the most 
effective alternative solution. I myself received a fixed penalty for contravening an 
'except for access' sign some years ago, but it wasn't in Hampshire. 

If you implement the proposals as currently outlined, I am certain that the difficulties we 
are already experiencing will only get worse. I agree that the 'no waiting at any time' 
extension at the junction with Chestnut Ave is sensible on safety grounds, but your 
other proposals are ill conceived and will only add to the current problem of obstructive 
parking. I urge you to review this. 

Just to clarify the situation I live at -- Chestnut Close, which is at the very bottom of the 
street and the most distant property from the entrance at Chestnut Avenue. My 
particular concerns in relation your proposals, in order of priority are: 

93



1. safe egress and access between my house and Chestnut Avenue 24/7 for 
vehicles and pedestrians 

2. that an unobstructed route and stopping location for Emergency, Service & 
Delivery vehicles is available 

3. access and reasonably convenient parking on the street for occasional visitors 
to my house (not at the opposite end of the close) 

4. the ability to park cars on the street in close proximity to my property on the rare 
occasions my private drive is unavailable. 

5. obviously I also want all of my other neighbours to share in the enjoyment of 
these everyday requirements. 

I have lived here for nearly 30 years, but for the last 5 to 10 of those the impact of 
unwelcome/obstructive parking by those with no business in the close has steadily 
grown. As explained in my previous message to you there is no doubt that the 
measures you are proposing can only lead to a worsening of this situation. 
 
Your justification for the proposals appears to be based on the premise that commuters 
have an entitlement to park in Chestnut Close. Can we be clear that they absolutely 
DO NOT. The signs at the top of the close prohibit access to the street for all vehicles 
except those requiring access to (or having business with) the properties on it. There 
can be no doubt that the intention when this was introduced here and on other adjacent 
streets was to prevent exactly the problem we are recently experiencing. I disagree 
that it is ineffective, I am sure that some potential parkers are deterred by the signage, 
the problem is that it is not as effective as it should be because the authorities we 
expect to enforce it (ie local & county councils and police) are collectively 
unwilling/incapable of doing so. Consequently the less respectful and more determined 
element of the commuter community will take some delight in contravening the 
objective of the prohibition because they know the worst penalty will be the wrath of the 
residents who are prevented from going about their daily business. 
 
If there really is no way of making the existing regulations work as they were intended 
to, and I can assure you from first-hand experience that receiving a fixed penalty 
certainly focuses minds, then I absolutely object to any proposal to remove the existing 
regulation unless an adequate alternative deterrent is in place. As previously stated, 
the single yellow line with a minimal restriction during the working week would seem to 
be the least unpalatable option. Your proposal to leave the majority of the street 
unregulated can only lead to chaos. 
 
Do not hesitate to call me if you would like to discuss any of this in greater detail. A 
large number of my neighbours share these concerns, perhaps a site meeting (socially 
distanced of course) might be the best next step. 

8 Your arrangements for Chestnut Close do not give any protection for residents whom live in the close.  
What is needed is for signage to stop all day parking in the close by several cars every day. 
By putting signs at the top end of close with restrictions on parking Mon-Fri between 9am to 11am. 
For safety we still need your extension to red lines on corner of Chestnut Avenue/Chestnut Close.  
This will give better access for your service vehicles and also for other vehicles serving the close. 
Let hope we can resolve the issues between whose responsible for the illegal parking in the close over last 
ten years 

9 There has been a long term issue faced by residents, of local workers using parts of 
Chestnut Close as an all-day parking space. This disrupts our quiet family orientated 
road and reveals the inadequacy of parking provision for their workers provided by their 
employers. 
  
You are now proposing to create four short stay parking spaces near the entrance to 
the Close with the intention of alleviating parking problems for those visiting houses in 

94



the Close. You are also proposing to introduce a  ‘no waiting at any time’ at the far end 
of the Close. Whereas the no waiting area will be beneficial to enable cars to turn 
around at the end of the Close, it is my belief that the short-term parking bays will not 
achieve their intention, but rather they will result in moving the inappropriate parking of 
worker’s vehicles further into the Close. The road is narrow, and as a result of this 
proposal, if implemented, it will, in all likelihood, cause the Close to become a single 
lane road without passing places. 
  
I know that I, and other residents feel strongly that appropriate dialogue should have 
been initiated by you prior to submitting this proposal. I am sure that through such 
dialogue, practical and sensible proposals could be drawn up which address local 
concerns rather than add to them. 
  
Please accept this email as a formal objection to the proposal (as I was unable to 
access the ‘comments’ form on the Eastleigh Borough Council website  due to 
technical errors at your end). 

10 I would like to add my name to the objection raised with regard to your proposal for 
parking changes in Chestnut Close. I concur with my fellow neighbours 

11 In reply to your letter that we received regarding proposed waiting and parking 
restrictions in Nursery Gardens, Chandlers Ford.  This letter is to confirm that we 
support these proposed plans 100% 

12 Dear Sir/ Madam, 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit comments on the referenced Traffic Regulation 
Order which I have listed as follows: 
1. The proposed parking place presents a 'blind spot' to The Oaklands residents when 
negotiating a right turn into Nursery Gardens (i.e. no visual line of sight and impact of 
the angle of the sun during winter months). 
2. The proposed parking place presents a 'bottleneck' restriction at the narrowest 
section of the road and at the top of an incline. 
3. There is no 'Give Way' on Red Lodge and therefore vehicles negotiating a right turn 
into Nursery Gardens will be directly impacted by (i) proposed parked vehicles and (ii) 
vehicles attempting to negotiate a right turn into Red Lodge. 
4. Road surface conditions along the incline of Nursery Gardens and at its junction with 
Red Lodge are hazardous during subzero temperatures (snow / ice). Light vehicles 
(non 4x4) loose control at this incline of the road and safe passage will be impeded by 
the proposed parking place. 
5. Heavy traffic (e.g. articulated lorries, waste collection trucks) will not be afforded a 
sufficient turning circle when entering Nursery Gardens from Red Lodge. Such vehicles 
will be required to drive on the pavement opposite the proposed parking place. 
6. The proposed parking place is introducing a one-way system too close to a road 
junction with no prior warning to incoming users (i.e. mirrors, give-way signage, 
restricted entrance signage). 
7. Cyclists travelling along Red Lodge and turning left into Nursery Gardens will be 
impacted by the proposed parking place with no safe egress.  Eastleigh Borough 
Council are advised to consider the introduction of suitable and sufficient parking within 
the woodlands area between Red Lodge and the adjacent cycle path. 
Please let me know whether you require any further collaboration on this matter as I 
am happy to assist. 

 

Crestwood View 

1 The residents only have one space per household, hence why residents have to park 
on the road because most families have more than one car. Where are the residents 

95



and/or visitors expected to park if this is enforced as there is no where to park nearby. 
2 I am objecting to this proposal for Crestwood view due to the limited parking on this 

estate, residents park on these areas as there is nowhere else to park. There is only 
one space allocated to each residence, and the climate we are in there is usual a 
minimum of two cars and often more per property. I understand with the larger vehicles 
it is hard to navigate through, but there needs to be consideration of where else 
these vehicles are going to park? 

3 understand why this needs to be undertaken but I have concerns as to where the cars 
will be parked. Has this been considered as this will only cause issues with people 
using designated visitors spaces. Developments are not designed with enough parking, 
this is what needs to addressed 

4 A well thought out plan. Being a compromise on number of much needed parking spots 
and access to the under arch car parks... 

5 We are lucky that we only have one car which we can park on our driveway. However, 
the new restrictions would mean that our visitors would have nowhere to park. There is 
no provision whatsoever in Crestwood View for visitor parking and there are not any 
alternatives nearby. We also fail to see how our neighbours that have more cars than 
allocated spaces (which is a large number) will be able to park. There's also nothing 
nearby that would cause people that aren't visitors or residents to park here (shops, 
offices etc). 
Although cars do park down both sides it is very rare that this causes an obstruction. 

6 Where is the council proposing the residents to park if this parking restriction is put into 
place?  
There is only one parking space allocated to each household, which in modern living is 
very unrealistic given that the majority of households will have more than one car. 
This estate does not have a shared carpark or indeed any nearby parking as the estate 
is solitary to other roads/residential areas. Is the council going to invest in creating an 
area for parking for the residents of Crestwood view, or even suggest where they could 
park close by which wouldn't intrude on other streets and homes? 
It is unacceptable to restrict these areas from parking without any inference as to 
where the residents of Crestwood View and visitors could park as an alternative, when 
households have been provided with only one parking space per house. The 
overparking in Crestwood View has gone on for years and has never been an issue to 
the council until now. This problem is caused by the council and development 
companies agreeing on development plans for new housing estates that simply do not 
provide enough parking for the residents of these homes being built in the 21st century. 

7 Bin lorries do already manage to come through crestwood view with no problems. This 
proposal would cause major parking problems for those who will not be able to park 
and will therefore be utilising the spaces of others which there is already to few. 

8 I would like to object to the TRO relating specifically to the impact this will have on 
Crestwood View where I am a property owner. 
The reason you state for the TRO is to enable easier passage of larger vehicles which 
can be inhibited by cars parking on either side of the road. Am I correct this is primarily 
driven by the impact on bin lorries as these are operated by Eastleigh Council rather 
than private delivery vehicles? The reason for this is a problem with the design of the 
roads within this small housing estate which Eastleigh Borough Council would have 
approved through the planning system and therefore this a problem that could have 
been avoided. I believe in general there is only provision for one vehicle per household 
with very limited additional visitor capacity. However, in general the properties are 
occupied by households with more than one vehicle and therefore parking on the road 
is required, particularly around the flats at the entrance to the estate. By 
implementing the TRO you will further reduce the available space for parking making 
this problem worse. Given the estate was constructed in 2007 now changing the 
parking regulations retrospectively seems very soon and reflects badly on the grant of 

96



planning permission and associated conditions at the time. 
It does seem that moving from no restrictions to what I believe are double yellow lines 
is very drastic and the issue you are seeking to resolve could be addressed by a more 
proportionate approach. Although I would also object due to the impact upon my 
household, surely daytime restrictions during the working week would be sufficient as 
this is when bin lorries are operating and the majority of delivery vehicles are active. 
Has this option been considered and why has it not been proposed? I wonder if the 
additional cost of signage is a factor. 
Please can you provide evidence that you have properly assessed the impact of your 
proposals and minutes of the meeting(s) where this proposal was agreed by the 
council, I would like this recognised as a formal request under the Freedom of 
Information Act. I cannot see where the displaced vehicles which are causing the issue 
you are seeking to resolve will be parked. At present there are no nearby alternatives, 
Woodside Avenue currently has no parking restrictions so I would fear people are 
tempted to park there.  This would raise safety concerns as it is a 40mph road with 
significant traffic volumes including large lorries, buses and a route for emergency 
services vehicles from the nearby ambulance station to the northbound M3. Beyond 
that vehicles maybe displaced to the roads to the west of Woodside Avenue. 
I also fear that your proposals reducing the amount of available parking will mean 
visitors to properties on the estate may not be able to park close by, and along with 
making parking for households with a second vehicle more challenging would reduce 
the potential value of my property should I choose to move home. 
Finally, although on reading the TRO regulations it seems the very limited publicity of a 
laminated notice on a telegraph pole is in line with the requirements it seems poor that 
you are not required to contact residents who will be directly impacted on an individual 
basis. I do not think this is sufficient to ensure you have appropriately allowed all those 
affected to realise what is proposed and allow them to comment. 
I think this badly thought through proposal will make the current situation worse. I look 
forward to a response to my queries and a recognition of my objection. 

9 Please let me start by saying that the Statement of Reasons states for Crestwood View 
“Currently vehicles are frequently parked on both sides of the road and at junctions 
within Crestwood View, which restricts or prevents access for larger vehicles.”. This is 
just NOT true along the section of Crestwood View after turning left as it’s NOT 
possible to park on both sides, or even on one side along much of this section of 
Crestwood View. This alone indicates that this statement is inaccurate and therefore 
the proposals which have been developed to overcome this statement are way over 
and above what is needed along much of Crestwood View. 
Why have these proposals been made throughout the whole of Crestwood View? They 
are completely and utterly pointless on the section after turning left as they just run 
along the front of existing driveways where nobody ever currently parks! This section of 
Crestwood View is NEVER blocked, well I’ve never seen it to be so in 13 years of living 
here. I challenge anyone to justify the parking restrictions running throughout most of 
this section of Crestwood View! 
We live in number -- so are well placed to witness pretty much all of the vehicular 
movements along this section of Crestwood View and I have never seen a delivery 
vehicle not be able to make a delivery and we have NEVER had any delivery 
problems. Only this week we have had deliveries from both Ikea and Curry’s and both 
of these had very large delivery vehicles. Both delivered on time as expected. 
I am aware that the refuse collection vehicle has had a handful of access issues over 
the years, however these have been very few and far between and the last time our bin 
was not emptied was so long ago that I can’t actually recall when it was! Does this 
justify such an extent of 24hr parking restrictions? Of course not. 
The reason why cars park on both sides of the road in the first section of Crestwood 
View is because they have NOWHERE else to go. The residential parking provided by 
Bellway is now far less than demand requires and therefore residents have no other 

97



option than to park in the road once the off road residential parking areas are full. They 
have NO other option. Where else can they go? Do you want them to park in Woodside 
Avenue? Again, of course not. Having cars parked on both sides of the first section of 
Crestwood View really helps with traffic speeds. The parked vehicles do a fantastic job 
by way of traffic calming. During the daytime when very few vehicles are parked along 
the first section of Crestwood View (another reason why 24hr parking restrictions are 
not required), vehicles drive a lot faster into and along this section of Crestwood 
View…and this includes delivery vehicles. This will only get worse should 24hr parking 
restrictions be introduced. Has anyone thought about this? 
The main point which causes access issues is the pinch point just as one turns left into 
the second section of Crestwood View. This is due to the narrowing of the running 
carriageway at this point and because residents often park on both sides of the road 
immediately adjacent to it when they are left with nowhere else to go. This just 
exacerbates things further. Has anyone considered the removal of this pinch point? 
Removal of this pinch point and very local parking restrictions at this point and nearby 
may well resolve most, if not all, of the current access issues. It doesn’t need 
wholesale restrictions throughout the whole of Crestwood View which will cause 
unnecessary problems for many. 
I would also like to take this opportunity to state that the area immediately in front of my 
property is the only place in Crestwood View where large vehicles are able to turn 
around. This includes the refuse collection vehicle. If a vehicle is parked immediately in 
front of my property it really hampers vehicles trying to turn around as they are parked 
in the way of these turning movements. I myself have had my own vehicle hit 3 times in 
the past couple of years by vehicles turning around, therefore I must implore that the 
current gap in the proposals immediately in front of my property is closed up should 
anything proceed, which I’m pretty confident it won’t due to the points raised above. 
To finish I would just like to say that the current proposals are very excessive in trying 
to overcome a minor access issue.  An issue which may well be resolved easily by way 
of removing the pinch point and installing local restrictions just at that point. Yes this 
will cost more, however it will have hugely less impact upon on the residents. I implore 
you to at least consider this as an option as I genuinely do feel that this area is the 
problem point. It’s just not fair on residents to install 24hr no waiting restrictions 
throughout the whole of Crestwood View, especially as there are no current problems 
along a huge amount of the extent of these parking proposals. 

10 Introducing a No Waiting system in this road will be devastating for the residents. The 
properties were already built with poor parking, most of the vehicles parked on the 
areas where you are looking to implement these restrictions belong to the residents. 
There is no other parking available, there are no other roads close by so there will be 
no where at all for residents to park their vehicles. Some properties have one allocated 
parking space, but families with more than one car will have nowhere. 
If these restrictions are introduced then my family will have no option but to move 
home. I have already spoken to one other resident who has said the same. The people 
who park in this road generally live here, it's not as though people are parking here to 
go somewhere else. 
I assume that you will be posting your proposals to each property, but I strongly 
suggest that you cancel these plans with immediate effect. 

11 I strongly disagree with the councils proposed waiting restrictions in Crestwood View 
Eastleigh. 
There is already next to no parking on such a poorly designed estate. Where are we 
supposed to park our vehicles once this has been introduced !  
Why was this estate allowed in the first place with such a poor design ? 
Why should we now be penalised for having to live here, it is already terrible for 
parking and now you want to take away 50% of available spaces ! Are you serious !  
 

98



12 I’m writing to inform you that I’m aware of the proposed “No waiting at any time 
lines”are being put in place on our road Crestwood view Eastleigh, I’m slightly 
concerned as there will be no parking for people that have more than one car and feel 
that it is only busy during the day time due to people working from home during this 
pandemic, I also feel that maybe single yellow lines could be considered as to double 
yellow lines and a weekday only restriction so we could park evenings and weekends. 
Thank you for taking time to acknowledging my email. 
 

13 I live at -- Crestwood View, SO50 4NF, where there is a plan to put a 'No Waiting At 
Any Time' restriction in place.  I assume this means double yellow lines but I'd be 
grateful for clarity on this. 
 
I understand the issue here, and I have observed the refuse collectors skilfully navigate 
their van down our narrow road.  However I think it will cause a parking issue for us 
residents, which I won't go into as I'm sure you're aware of the implications. 
 
Therefore I wonder if you would consider some other options before pursuing this: 
 
1) As the issue relates to the refuse collection and large delivery vehicles, could there 
be a daytime restriction only, so that residents/visitors can park in the evening and 
weekends? 
 
2) Could the space next to 53 be left unrestricted?  This still leaves ample room for 
vehicles to safely use the road (my house looks directly on to this junction so I've 
observed the traffic flow and believe this wouldn't impede it). 
 
3) Could there be a trial period of the restriction to see if it works for both the Council 
and the Residents? 
 
I'd be really grateful if you could consider the above options so we can come to a 
resolution which works for all parties. 
 

14 I am writing to raise an objection to Eastleigh Borough Council's proposal to cover most 
of Crestwood View with double yellow lines. 
 
Whilst I do understand there is some need for parking restrictions in this development I 
feel strongly that double yellow lines are not the way forward.  The Council's planning 
department signed off with the builders of this development twelve years ago, allowing 
it to be built with an incredibly narrow service road for over 80 dwellings and as well as 
that,signing off on 1 parking space to 1 bed apartments through to 4 bedroom 
townhouses and very little visitor parking.   
 
In this regard, now twelve years later, proposing to put in double yellow lines is unjust 
and unfair on the residents, particularly in the entrance road.  People bought their 
homes here looking at the roads and knowing that a second car could be parked if 
needed.  f this goes ahead there will be no yellow lines on the right which fits about 6 
cars for all residents in the road.  Also the people that live in these apartments and 
houses on the right side will suffer with not being able to park outside their own homes 
with their second car and also face undoubtedly a level of aggression from people 
wanting to park in the development.   And yes, planning department, as you are well 
aware, people do generally have two cars and also post Covid should reasonably 
expect to have a visitor now and then and yes normally visitors will have a car.  
 
I propose in the sense of fairness and reasonableness, a single yellow line should be 
strongly considered with a parking restriction between the hours of 8 a.m. and 6 pm. 

99



Monday to Friday to allow residents and their visitors to be able to park outside their 
homes.   Alternatively, like in most of Eastleigh, parking permits would also be a good 
alternative.  One per household.  That would prevent the residents who park 3 cars or 
more from one household (and there are several) on the road but also be fair to the 
residents who have the standard two cars per household.   

 

Stoneham Lane 

1 I do support the "no waiting at any time" restriction on Stoneham Lane in general since 
it is a road that parked vehicles can cause problems on especially where it is narrow 
or on one of the bends. I write as the Rector of St Nicolas Church to lodge an objection 
on the basis that the blanket restrictions proposed would prevent a hearse stopping at 
the Lych Gate of the church to allow a coffin to be brought from there to the church for 
funerals. It would also prevent brides from arriving at, and newly married couples 
departing from, the Lych Gate. The Lych Gate on Stoneham Lane is the traditional and 
still used entrance to the churchyard for both weddings and funerals. Guests for 
weddings and funerals (and all other church services and events) park in the church 
car park rather than on Stoneham Lane so I wonder if it would be possible to have an 
exemption for "official vehicles" such as hearses or wedding limosines for a limited 
time? Such an exemption would only be used occasionally under 20 times per year on 
current figures) and for a short time on each occasion but I don't think it's right that 
traffic restrictions should prevent traditional access to the church for local people on 
these special occasions. I'm very happy to discuss this further if any more information 
might help come to a decision that allows this use of the Lych Gate to continue. 
 

2 On behalf of Bluestar buses we support this parking restriction which will greatly 
improve journey time reliability as buses will not have to negotiate parked vehicles on 
this section of highway and will also go towards general journey time savings as part of 
the transforming cities project for this route. We wholeheartedly support these 
restrictions. 

 

100



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)  

 

Title of EqIA: 

The Borough of Eastleigh (Eastleigh Town Centre) 
(Amendment No 12) Order 2021 

Brief description of  
the Proposal: 

The effect of the proposal is to introduce waiting restrictions 
at various junctions and along sections of road in Eastleigh, 
(including the whole of Stoneham Lane), to introduce time 
limited parking places in Chestnut Close and Nursery 
Gardens, and extend a Permit Parking bay in Mansbridge 
Road. 

The proposal also proposes a way to introducing up to six 
Disabled Persons’ Parking Bays (DPBs) in various roads as 
required without the need to go through the TRO process 
each time, which will make installing and removing DPBs 
much quicker and more flexible. 

Assessment: 

For all of categories below please consider: 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 
 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with 
protected characteristics.  

Age: Minor negative impact by displacing cars whose drivers had 
been able to park close to their homes on Allbrook Hill – 
these drivers may now have to park further away. 

Disability: Positive impact in terms of improving access for 
wheelchairs by regulating kerbside parking, and prohibiting 
vehicles from parking on footways.    

101



Positive impact by making the process to introduce 
Disabled Persons Parking Bays quicker and more flexible  

Gender: None 

Gender reassignment: None 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity: 

Positive impact in terms of improving access for pushchairs 
by regulating kerbside parking, and prohibiting vehicles 
from parking on footways.    

Minor negative impact by displacing cars whose drivers had 
been in the habit of parking on footways – these drivers 
may now have to park further away from their homes 

 

Race: None 

Religion or belief: None 

Sexual Orientation: None 

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 

None 

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 
experiencing social deprivation. 

Social deprivation: Positive by introducing measures to remove obstructive 
parking on two bus routes, which will improve bus journey 
times 

 

102



What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out? 

Statutory public notice in local press and on street, 
letterdrop to households directly affected by proposals 

What could reduce any 
adverse impact on 
these groups? 

N/A 

Action Plan  

Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person responsible 

    

    

    

 

Lead Officer: Barbara Thomas  

Manager: Toni Johnson 

Corporate Director: Andy Trayer 

Date completed: 11 May 2021 

 

 

103



This page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE  

Tuesday, 8 June 2021  

GUIDING REGENERATION PRINCIPLES FOR EASTLEIGH TOWN 
CENTRE 

Report of the Corporate Director 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that ELAC: 
 
(1) Consider the Guiding Regeneration Principles document – Together we make 

Eastleigh, at Appendix 1 and recommend for adoption by Cabinet at the 
meeting on the 24 June 2021 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(2) Approve the Guiding Regeneration Principles document – Together we make 
Eastleigh, at Appendix 1 

 

Summary 
 
The Guiding Regeneration Principles document captures the key themes that together will 
guide the regeneration of Eastleigh town centre as we recover from the pandemic.  It aims 
to give strategic direction to delivery in the short to medium term, and frame more detailed 
discussions with stakeholders about how we collectively shape Eastleigh in the future.   

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area. 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to the Prosperous Place Corporate Objective - 
Reinvigorating town and local centres - Creating vibrant, active places where 
people want to spend time, generating the right environment for economic, 
social, and cultural prosperity.   

 
2. Led by the Cabinet Member for Economy, town and local centres are 

considered a cross-cutting issue that relates to all the Corporate Plan 2015-
2025 objectives. 

105

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Introduction 

3. Our towns and local centres have been changing gradually for some time, due 
to competition from both online and out-of-town retail and leisure offers which 
has led to the slow decline of the retail sector.  

 

4. The pandemic, and the social distancing restrictions imposed by the 
Government, have further impacted our Local Centres and the businesses 
within them. The pandemic has accelerated existing trends to the extent that 
footfall has decreased (50%-60% during lockdown in Eastleigh), shopping 
online has increased (nationally 20% to 33.8% sales by the end of the 2nd 
lockdown), and occupancy levels have fallen (93% to 89% in Eastleigh town 
centre, excluding charity shops, since February 2020). 
 

5. The Council is committed to the economic recovery of our towns and local 
centres, already making use of the Government’s Re-opening High Streets 
Safely (RHSS) Fund to support the safe reopening of our ‘High Streets’ and 
prepare action plans to support the economic recovery across all six of the 
Borough’s town and local centres.   
 

6. Research conducted by the RHSS team tells us that, of the six main retail 
areas looked at across the Borough, Eastleigh town centre has had the 
largest increase in the number of vacant units during the pandemic. This is not 
surprising given it is the largest retail area and the one with the highest 
proportion of retail chains, which have struggled in the last 15 months. This 
reflects the national picture.  Local centres with higher numbers of 
independent businesses have fared better.   
 

7. As Covid restrictions begin to lift there is still a great deal of uncertainty.  We 
don’t yet know the full impact of the pandemic in terms of; the future need for 
office accommodation, the emerging relationship between bricks and mortar 
and online retail, and what will underpin the ‘High Street’ offer since the 
decline of the retail sector, but early intelligence points at flexibility and mixed 
uses being key to creating a sustainable town centre.  Many aspects of our 
‘High Streets’ are still evolving, and all in the context of a Climate Emergency.  
 

8. The regeneration of Eastleigh town centre is an important priority for the 
Council, who for many years have been acquiring property assets, 
redeveloping sites, and undertaking extensive public realm improvements to 
stimulate market-led regeneration. Recent examples include Fanfare Place / 
Bandstand Court on Romsey Road and the former Post Office site on the 
High Street.  These mixed-use developments aim to bring new residents into 
the town along with purpose-built commercial units.  
 

9. Councillors recognise the need to re-think the strategic positioning of 
Eastleigh town centre and ensure there is clear strategic direction for the 
future. There is support at both a Cabinet and Local Area level to reclaim the 
‘High Street’ as a destination that serves our communities as a place to live, 
work, socialise, and access public services and cultural activities.  

 

106



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Guiding Regeneration Principles 

10. The Prosperous Place Corporate Strategy 2018 sets out that ‘national issues 
manifest themselves differently at a local level and retaining local 
distinctiveness between communities is a priority for the Council, strategic 
approaches for each of our towns and local centres will be set out in their own 
strategy documents’. 

11. Through consultation with staff from across the organisation, the Strategic 
Planning Team has drafted a set of eight ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles’. 
These were presented to ELAC Councillors and relevant Cabinet Members at 
an internal workshop for discussion and comment on the 4 March 2021.  
Feedback has been collated and the amended version of the document can 
be seen in Appendix 1.   

12. The proposed ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles – Together we make 
Eastleigh’ are overarching principles to guide the regeneration of Eastleigh 
town centre.  They form the foundation for strategic planning and future policy 
development and aim to frame more detailed discussions with stakeholders 
about how we collectively shape Eastleigh town centre in the future.  

13. The eight Guiding Regeneration Principles work together to ensure Eastleigh 
develops a strong identity - is locally distinct, sustainable and resilient for the 
future; 

Principle 1 A great place to live 

Principle 2  A great place to do business 

Principle 3 A green town  

Principle 4  Meeting the needs of its communities 

Principle 5  Well-connected and accessible 

Principle 6  A place you want to spend time 

Principle 7  A distinct town  

Principle 8  Strong leadership and effective partnerships 

14. A more detailed summary of each principle can be found in Appendix 1.  The 
‘Guiding Regeneration Principles’ set out a high-level vision statement for 
each key theme. It is anticipated that as we move forward, Council delivery 
across the town will reflect these eight themes, which will serve to move us 
closer to these proposed vision statements. 

15. The essence of the principles is that ‘Together we make Eastleigh’ and it is 
anticipated that the Guiding Regeneration Principles will be the basis on 
which we engage with partners about the future of the town following further 
work with Councillors and Council staff to identify priorities and actions.   

107



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Financial Implications 

16. There are currently no financial implications as the matters are policy 
procedural matters only.  

Risk Assessment 

17. The risk of not adopting a more strategic approach is that Eastleigh town 
centre will become a less attractive destination, and less competitive to 
comparable local centres in the region.  It will fail to attract external funding 
and investment and will not be able to meet the needs of its communities.  
Adopting a more strategic approach and focusing delivery across these eight 
key themes will result in a greater sense of direction and improved strategic, 
programme and service planning in the longer term. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

18. Town centres, by their very nature, need to be inclusive places and the 
importance of this is picked up within the ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles’ 
document, in particular Principle 4 - A town that meets the needs of its 
communities. The town already promotes inclusion in a variety of ways: good 
accessibility due to flat topography, seating, pedestrian areas and disabled 
parking; Safer Places and Breastfeeding welcome initiatives; annual Mela and 
Pride events.  The Council wants to build on this approach and will work with 
local community groups to understand how we can make the town more 
inclusive.  In addition, Equality Impact Assessments will be completed prior to 
the commencement of relevant delivery activities.   

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

20 A Climate change report is not relevant at this stage as the report deals with 
policy procedural matters only and does not directly lead to an increase of 
Greenhouse Gas/CO2, damage ecology or the environment. 

 
21 ‘Guiding Regeneration Principle 3 – ‘A green town’ aims to support adaptation 

to climate change; protect the environment and promote environmental 
resilience for Eastleigh town centre. We will be seeking to work with residents 
and businesses to change behaviours in a positive way.  Climate change 
reports will be provided at point of delivery. 
 

Conclusion 

22 Eastleigh town centre has been significantly impacted by both changes in 
consumer behaviour over many years, and the pandemic.  Councillors at 
Cabinet and a Local Area level recognise the need to strategically reposition 
the town.  It is recommended that the ‘Guiding Regeneration Principles – 
Together we make Eastleigh’, as set out in Appendix 1, are approved by 
Councillors, and used as a starting point to shape and guide the future 
regeneration of Eastleigh town centre. 

108



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

NATALIE WIGMAN 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 

 
Date: 25 May 2021 
Contact Officer: Joanne Calcutt 
Tel No: 023 80 688822 
e-mail: joanne.calcutt@eastleigh.gov.uk     
Appendices Attached: 1 – Together We Make Eastleigh  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 
 

109

mailto:joanne.calcutt@eastleigh.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Together 
we make 
Eastleigh

May 2021

1

111



Contents

Context

1. Introduction 

2. Purpose of this document

3. ‘Reopening the High Street safely’ survey findings

4. The local picture

5. Challenges

6. Opportunities

Principles for regeneration 

7. The principles

• Principle 1 A great place to live

• Principle 2 A great place to do business

• Principle 3 A green town

• Principle 4 Meeting the needs of its communities

• Principle 5 Well-connected and accessible

• Principle 6 A place you want to spend time

• Principle 7 A distinct town

• Principle 8 Strong leadership and effective partnerships

2

112



1.Introduction

Gradual decline of the retail sector and changes in consumer behaviour has been subtly changing our towns for many 
years.  The pandemic and the social restrictions have accelerated these changes 

The Corporate Plan 2015, the Prosperous Place Corporate Strategy 2018 and the Local Plan 2016-2036 set out the Council’s 
commitment to the regeneration of Eastleigh town centre. 

2.Purpose

The purpose of this document is to capture the key themes that together will guide the regeneration of Eastleigh as we 
recover from the pandemic.  They aim to give direction to delivery in the short to medium term, and frame more detailed 
discussions with stakeholders about how we collectively shape Eastleigh town centre in the future.  

3

113



3. Reopening the High Street Safely (RHSS) survey 
findings; 

• .
4

573 people selected Eastleigh town centre as their local high street.  
They described it as run down, empty and limited but also believe it has 
a lot of potential. 

114



• Consumers are tending to shop locally - Fewer visits, lower duration times, with higher spend per footfall ratios

• Greater commitment to small, independent, specialist retailers

• Retail Parks are performing well - higher ratio of ‘essential’ stores and click and collect provision

• Shopping online has increased - nationally 20% to 33.8% sales by the end of the 2nd lockdown

• Home working has increased - significantly impacting footfall and consumer spend in the town

• Occupancy levels have fallen - 93% to 89% in Eastleigh town centre, excluding charity shops, since February 2020

• Retail chains are disappearing – Eg Burtons, Next, Edinburgh Wool, Peacocks

4. The local picture 

5

115



• Lack of Local Authority ownership and control

• Impact of COVID 19 – loss of retail chains, loss of confidence 
and loss of footfall

• Lack of investment in/poor quality of building stock

• Strong retail presence available locally – such as Southampton, 
Hedge End retail park etc

• Strong ‘alternative offer’ available locally – such as Winchester 
and Romsey. Places that encourage dwell time with a mixed 
offer

• Beyond convenience, there is a lack of unique selling point 
currently

• Securing investment and encouraging entrepreneurs into the 
town

• Encouraging businesses to merge the benefits of physical space 
(shopping local) with digital commerce to attract new customers

• Perception of crime and antisocial behaviour, not matched by 
actual crime levels which are very low

5. Challenges

6

116



6. Opportunities

• Support communities to reconnect with each other, and the 
town, as the risk of Covid-19 reduces

• Encourage behaviour changes that reduce impact on the 
environment – Home working, shopping local, waste 
reduction, walking, cycling and public transport use

• Secure government funding

• Build on Eastleigh’s strengths; flat, compact, highly 
accessible, convenient and friendly

• Repurpose surplus retail units, create an attractive 
sustainable offer that meets the needs of our local 
community

• Create high-density mixed-use development - mixed 
tenure homes on brown field sites

• Create positive stories about Eastleigh using the culture 
programme and the feedback from the Reopening High 
Streets Safely Fund work

7

117



7. Guiding principles for regeneration

• Principle 1 A great place to live

• Principle 2 A great place to do business

• Principle 3 A green town

• Principle 4 Meeting the needs of its communities

• Principle 5 Well-connected and accessible

• Principle 6 A place you want to spend time

• Principle 7 A distinct town

• Principle 8 Strong leadership and effective partnerships

8

118



A 
distinct town

A great place 
to live

A great place 
to do 

business 

A green town

Well-
connected 

and 
accessible

A place you 
want to

spend time

Meeting the 
needs of its 

communities

7. The principles

The Regeneration Principles set out a high level vision 
statement for Eastleigh town centre.

Principles 1-6 work together to ensure Eastleigh 
develops a strong identity - is locally distinct,
sustainable and resilient for the future

9

119



Principle 1 - A great place to live

Modern homes in the heart of the town will increase life and 

activity and safety, supporting the daytime, evening, and night-

time economies.

We will attract new residents through the creation of quality urban 

living environments, that are sympathetically located within 

mixed-use developments, meeting the needs of homeowners and 

visitors alike.

We will ensure that new development and the spaces around 

them are attractive, functional and locally distinct.  

Appropriate in terms of design, scale and siting, in relation to 

existing buildings, spaces, views, natural and historic features and 

Victorian heritage.

Providing a mix of tenure, will meet a range of specifically 

identified needs,  and support the longer-term regeneration of the 

town.

Current activity in this area;

• Strategic Acquisitions (land and 
property/site assembly)

• Post Office redevelopment

• Fanfare Place

• Partnerships e.g. Hanns Way Car Park 
scheme

10

120



Principle 2 - A great place to do business

Current activity in this area;

• LSH Market feasibility report

• Reopening the High Street Safely project

• Wessex House

• Post Office Redevelopment

• Sorting Office relocation

• Environmental Health

• Hampshire House

• Fanfare Place

The recovery of our town, and access to jobs and 

employment, is vital to the health and wellbeing of our 

communities. Our reliance on digital technologies has 

increased, the town now needs to look beyond the Borough 

for new market opportunities and investment. 

We will support our businesses, and the creation of

employment space and facilities fit for, and compatible with, 

future needs and working practices, particularly those that 

promote a healthy, low carbon lifestyle. 

Working with stakeholders to; ensure Eastleigh is inclusive, in 

terms of career pathways, with available paid and voluntary 

opportunities. To create multifunctional spaces that support 

both businesses and leisure activity and improve physical 

links with the Riverside and associated employment land.  

11

121



Principle 3 - A green town

There is a need for Eastleigh to adapt to climate change and make 

the transition to a town with a positive environmental impact.  Re-

enforcing Eastleigh as a highly sustainable location with excellent 

public transport links will increase its long-term resilience and make 

it a more attractive place.

We will capitalise on the high level of environmental awareness and 

encourage green and sustainable lifestyles for visitors, residents, 

and businesses, supporting them to reduce their carbon footprint. 

We will work alongside partners to encourage the development of 

a circular/zero waste economy and reduce commercial waste. 

We will encourage the use of zero carbon construction methods, 

improve energy efficiency in existing builds, reduce water 

consumption, increase biodiversity in the form of trees and 

planting, use sustainable urban drainage in new developments and 

increase renewable energy generation.  Making Eastleigh a greener 

and more pleasant place to be.

Current activity in this area;

• Tree planting

• Recreation Ground improvements (wilding 
up)

• Seasonal planting

• Climate Change Action Plan

• Air Quality Action Plan

• Providing infrastructure such as electric 
charging points for vehicles.

12

122



Principle 4 - A town that meets the 
needs of its communities

We wish to celebrate the towns diverse demographic and 

provide the services businesses and residents need, conveniently 

located, without having to travel out of the town, to make 

Eastleigh a greener, healthier and more inclusive destination.

To enhance the town’s offer and ensure it remains relevant and 

vibrant, we will develop co-located public services, offices, 

leisure facilities and a wider cultural offer within mixed use 

development.

Focusing on development that acts as a catalyst for further 

regeneration, we will maximise opportunities to enhance the 

function of the town through careful positioning of services, 

improving accessibility and legibility, whilst making the town an 

attractive and distinct destination.

We will build resilience through the development of more 

flexible spaces that allow the town to evolve, and a mix of uses 

that support each other, as well as offering increased benefits to 

residents.

Current activity in this area;

• Public Toilet refurbishment (including 
Changing Places at Eastleigh House)

• Strategic acquisitions programme (land 
and property/site assembly)

• LSH Research – What does the market 
need?

• The Point venue
• Partnership working with;

o Hampshire Libraries service
o Hampshire Cultural Trust
o One Community
o One Public Estate
o Citizen Advice

• Parking
• Licensing

13

123



Principle 5 - Well-connected and accessible

Eastleigh town centre is by far the most accessible location in the 

Borough.  Designed around the Victorian grid system, it is well 

connected both regionally, nationally and internationally, benefiting 

from strong rail, road and air links, and access to UK ports 

We can play a part in reducing congestion and improving air quality 

by making maximising opportunities to encourage sustainable 

transport modes, particularly walking and cycling, creating landmarks 

and enhancing street legibility and local wayfinding with Green 

Infrastructure and Creative streetscape interventions

Working with residents and community transport providers to 

provide high quality services, low and ultra- low emission vehicles 

and car sharing opportunities and the messaging around this.

Digital connectivity is essential, and we will champion high-quality 

broad band provision, making it standard in our own developments, 

to support a low carbon lifestyle and make the town centre a more 

competitive place to do business.

Current activities in this area;

• Encouraging the use of Electric vehicles 
through access to vehicles (Car club) & 
installation of charging points

• Mobility hub project in the town centre

• New improved cycle route from Town 
centre to/from Southampton Airport 
Parkway (led by HCC)

• Walking and Cycling Strategy

• Post Office & Enterprise House – Improved 
connections between main streets

• Shop Mobility & Community Transport

• Town centre free WiFi

14

124



Principle 6 - A place you want to spend time

Restrictions during the pandemic, have had a severe impact on 

Eastleigh’s residents, with loneliness and isolation being felt by 

many.

It is important that Eastleigh re-establishes itself as a safe place, 

where diversity is celebrated, and new and existing communities 

can; connect, thrive and fully participate in its life and economy. 

A place with well-defined attractive routes that take you on a 

journey and spaces that are easy to navigate, characterful 

buildings with active frontages, and facilities that present 

opportunities to sit, space to chat, or play. 

A well-designed public realm functions as anchor, for further 

investment in the town. We will actively encourage the 

development of café culture and alfresco dining along with a

programme of community events and festivals to animate 

spaces, attracting visitors and encourage a sense of belonging.

Current activity in this area;

• Public realm improvements

• BAD Architects ‘Reimagining the space’ 
report and illustrations in this document

• Recreation Ground improvements

• Road closures

• Street cleansing

• Arts and Culture health and wellbeing 
programme

• Post Office redevelopment - Wells Rd 
improvements

• Pavement licenses

• CCTV review project

15

125



Without compromising the town’s profile as an 

accessible convenience town, we want to develop it as a 

destination where people want to spend time. A place that 

attracts both local visitors, and those from further afield, and for 

them all to feel connected to the town.

We will work with local creative communities across principles 1-6 

to develop a common understanding and language for what 

makes Eastleigh distinct. Building on qualities often overlooked; 

the energy of Eastleigh’s diverse communities, its industrious 

past, its unpretentiousness, it strong cultural offer and its resilient 

independent businesses to continue its story.

To create a sense of place that reflects the pride of its resident’s 

and is memorable in a positive way. Through the new homes we 

build, and spaces we create, the businesses and services we 

attract, the events and festivals we host.

Because the thing that makes Eastleigh distinct is its people.

Principle 7- A distinct town

Current activity in this area;

• RHSS consultation – what do residents 
and businesses want from their town?

• Arts & culture offer via the Point

• Partnership working with the museum

• Public realm improvements, including 
public art

• Post Office redevelopment

• Partnership working with Southampton 
on City of Culture bid 2025

16

126



Principle 8 – Strong leadership and effective 
partnerships

A successful town centre requires landlords, the Local 

Authority, trading communities and consumers to all share the 

same vision and have the right leadership and tools in place to 

make it happen.

Maintaining strong working relationships within the public and 

private sectors and the wider community will ensure residents 

and businesses engage with the vision, support the changes 

and can share in the benefits.  

Current activity in this area;

• Partnership working with Eastleigh BID

• Reopening High Streets Safely Fund

• Fanfare Place

• One Public Estate – Co-location of 
services in Council properties

• Partnership working with Hampshire 
County Council on High Street and 
Market Street and electric charging

• Partnership with the bus operators

• Relationship with landlords and agents 
in the town

17

127



18

128



EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 

Tuesday, 8 June 2021  

APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES AND REGULATORY 
PANELS AND OTHER GROUPS 

Report of the Democratic Services Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

(1) It is recommended that the Eastleigh Local Area Committee make 
appointments to the following Outside Bodies,: 

 
i. Age Concern, Eastleigh  

ii. Asian Elders, Culture and Welfare Organisation  
iii. Barton Peveril/Eastleigh College Liaison Group  
iv. Lakeside Country Park Users Group  
v. Pavilion on the Park  

vi. The Hub  
vii. University of Southampton (Wide Lane Sports Facilities – Users 

Advisory Group)  

(2) It is recommended that the Eastleigh Local Area Committee make 
appointments to the following other groups; and 

 

i. Eastleigh Borough Council/Test Valley Liaison Group  
ii. Shopwatch  

iii. Eastleigh Museum Joint Management Committee  
 

(3) It is recommended that all members of the Eastleigh Local Area Committee 
be appointed to the Regulatory Panel to form a pool for all licensing appeals 
from which any three can be selected. 

 

Summary 
 
In addition to attending Council meetings and other constituency work, Councillors and 
some staff are required to sit as representatives of the Council on other organisations and 
agencies known as Outside Bodies.  An Outside Body is an organisation that has a 
separate governance structure to that of the Council. 

Statutory Powers 
 

 The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

129

Agenda Item 10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

Strategic Implications  

1. These appointments demonstrate the Council’s community leadership role 
and support all of the Corporate Plan 2015-2025 objectives as they relate to a 
range of environmental, social and economic matters.  

Introduction 

2. The Council appoints elected members, and in some instances staff, to 
represent it on a range of Outside Bodies at a national and local level.  Such 
appointments ensure that the Council’s and residents’ interests are 
represented within key agencies. 

3. The Council recognises the value outside organisations make to the wider 
community and in the achievement of Council’s corporate priorities. 

4. Appendix 1 to this report detail the organisations to which appointments are to 
be made and detail previous appointees. 

Financial Implications 

5. There are no financial implications associated with these appointments. 

Risk Assessment 

6. There are no risks associated with these appointments. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

7. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because: 

 It is a report making an appointment to an outside body. 
 

Therefore, it is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not 
need to be addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not 
been carried out. 

 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

8. There are no climate change and environment implications associated with 
these appointments. 

 

Conclusion 

9. That the roles listed in appendix A be appointed to and appointments 
recorded in the minutes. 

130



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

LAURA JOHNSTON 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES MANAGER 

 
Date: 27 May 2021 
Contact Officer: Laura Johnston  
Tel No: 02380688041 
e-mail: laura.johnston@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* None. 
 

131



This page is intentionally left blank



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22 
 

Eastleigh Local Area Committee 
 

Name of Organisation: AGE CONCERN, EASTLEIGH 

2019/21 
Representative(s): 

Cllr T Campbell 

Contact Officer: Guy Riddoch 

Committee: Eastleigh Local Area Committee 

Terms of reference  
and objectives of 
organisation: 

To advise and assist in solving the problems of the elderly 
people of Eastleigh and to provide a social and recreational 
facility. 

Key areas of interest and 
topical Issues for the 
organisation: 

Problems mainly in allowances and housing.  Will writing, 
inheritance financial arrangements, general problems of old 
age such as inability to housekeep and do gardening. 

No of meetings per year: 
 
7 

Usual time of meeting(s): 
 
4.45 pm -6.00 pm 

Normal amount of 
notice given of 
meeting(s): 
 
One Month 

Desired skills, qualities, 
knowledge or experience 
Members should have: 

A knowledge and sympathy of/for the problems of the 
elderly and a willingness to try to correct them where 
possible. 

Details of any training 
provided: 

Nil - except if elected on to Executive. 

Details of anticipated 
workload: 
eg will member attend 
meeting only or be 
involved in other work?  

Follow-up work. 

Name and address of 
contact for organisation: 

Mr D Kandiah   
Chair, Age Concern, Eastleigh 
20 Romsey Road 
EASTLEIGH 
SO50 9AL    

133



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22 
 

Eastleigh Local Area Committee 
 

Name of Organisation: ASIAN ELDERS, CULTURE AND WELFARE 
ORGANISATION 

2019/21 
Representative(s): 

Cllr T Campbell 

Contact Officer: Rajni Bali 

Committee: Eastleigh Local Area Committee 

Terms of reference  
and objectives of 
organisation: 

 

Key areas of interest and 
topical Issues for the 
organisation: 

Tackling health and social inequalities for excluded groups.  
Enhancing community cohesion. 

No of meetings per year: 
 

Usual time of meeting(s): 
 
Varies.  Usually 3pm on Wednesday. 

Normal amount of 
notice given of 
meeting(s): 
 
One week. 

Desired skills, qualities, 
knowledge or experience 
Members should have: 

Good understanding of issues affecting BME communities 
and individuals.  Ability to 'stand up' for unpopular causes. 

Details of any training 
provided: 

N/A 

Details of anticipated 
workload: 
eg will member attend 
meeting only or be 
involved in other work?  

Member will be attending meetings on request of committee 
as and when required by ACWA. 

Name and address of 
contact for organisation: 

Rajni Bali, Community Engagement Specialist  
Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

134



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22 
 

Eastleigh Local Area Committee 
 

Name of Organisation: BARTON PEVERIL/EASTLEIGH COLLEGE/QUILLEY 
LIAISON GROUP 

2019/21 
Representative(s): 

Cllr A Bourne, Vacancy 

Contact Officer: Guy Riddoch 

Committee: Eastleigh Local Area Committee 

Terms of reference  
and objectives of 
organisation: 

To act as a point of liaison between residents' 
representatives, south ward councillors and the college 
management team.  To promote positive relationships and 
address local issues. 

Key areas of interest and 
topical Issues for the 
organisation: 

Community interaction between residents and students.  
Addressing issues of mutual concern.  Agency attendance 
according to agenda (ie Police, Engineers) 

No of meetings per year: 
 
Usually 3 or 4 

Usual time of meeting(s): 
 
5.00 pm to 6.30 pm 

Normal amount of 
notice given of 
meeting(s): 
 
Arranged at each 
meeting 

Desired skills, qualities, 
knowledge or experience 
Members should have: 

Knowledge of south ward, interest in college and resident 
issues. 

Details of any training 
provided: 

The Principal of the College provides a background to the 
college service plan. 

Details of anticipated 
workload: 
eg will member attend 
meeting only or be 
involved in other work?  

Attendance at meetings.  Follow up action usually 
undertaken by the Area Co-ordinator. 

Name and address of 
contact for organisation: 

Jonathan Prest   
Principal 
Barton Peveril College 
Chestnut Avenue 
EASTLEIGH   SO50 9YN 

135



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22 
 

Eastleigh Local Area Committee  
 

Name of Organisation: LAKESIDE COUNTRY PARK USERS GROUP 

2019/21 
Representative(s): 

Cllr P Bicknell 
Dep: Cllr T Campbell 

Contact Officer: Jenna Dewhurst 

Committee: Eastleigh Local Area Committee  

Terms of reference  
and objectives of 
organisation: 

Forum for involving user groups in the planning and 
management of the Country Park 

Key areas of interest and 
topical Issues for the 
organisation: 

A new Management Plan is to be produced for the Country 
Park which will take account of the impact of new residential 
development at South Street/Monks Way, and utilise the 
developers contributions arising from that development for 
the future improvement of Lakeside. 

No of meetings per year: 
 
Currently 3 per year 

Usual time of meeting(s): 
 
7.00 pm 

Normal amount of 
notice given of 
meeting(s): 
 
Normally 4 months 

Desired skills, qualities, 
knowledge or experience 
Members should have: 

An interest in recreation and countryside management, 
experience of public consultation and partnership working; 
knowledge of the operation and management of a large 
public park. 

Details of any training 
provided: 

To be agreed. 

Details of anticipated 
workload: 
eg will member attend 
meeting only or be 
involved in other work?  

In addition to the formal meetings, it is anticipated that the 
Member representative would also be involved in occasional 
informal internal and external meetings, reviewing reports 
and statistics on the operation and use of the site and 
participating in t 

Name and address of 
contact for organisation: 

Jenna Dewhurst   
Lakeside Manager 
Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

136



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22 
 

Eastleigh Local Area Committee 
 

Name of Organisation: PAVILION ON THE PARK 

2019/21 
Representative(s): 

Cllr W Irish, Cllr A Bourne 

Contact Officer: Guy Riddoch 

Committee: Eastleigh Local Area Committee 

Terms of reference  
and objectives of 
organisation: 

To provide a facility and focus for local community.  The 
Centre is an independent and totally voluntary trust 

Key areas of interest and 
topical Issues for the 
organisation: 

Community performing arts for the young.  Young families.  
Senior citizens. 

No of meetings per year: 
 

Usual time of meeting(s): 
 
6.30 pm 

Normal amount of 
notice given of 
meeting(s): 
 
Two weeks + 

Desired skills, qualities, 
knowledge or experience 
Members should have: 

Knowledge of area and the requirements of residents.  Full 
knowledge of community support available from Borough. 

Details of any training 
provided: 

None. 

Details of anticipated 
workload: 
eg will member attend 
meeting only or be 
involved in other work?  

Currently meetings only. 

Name and address of 
contact for organisation: 

Mr J Vaughan   
Chairman 
Pavilion On The Park 
11 Shaftesbury Avenue 
Chandlers Ford   EASTLEIGH  SO53 3BR 

137



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22 
 

Eastleigh Local Area Committee  
 

Name of Organisation: THE HUB 

2019/21 
Representative(s): 

Cllr J Doguie and vacancy 

Contact Officer: Tbc 

Committee: Eastleigh Local Area Committee  

Terms of reference  
and objectives of 
organisation: 

A facility that hosts a programme of recreational and social 
opportunities for all sections of the community.  (Managed 
by the Youth Options on behalf of the Council and in 
conjunction with Eastleigh Rugby Club) 

Key areas of interest and 
topical Issues for the 
organisation: 

Programme is evolving with boxing, fitness classes, martial 
arts and social functions.  Changing rooms used by rugby, 
football and cricket players.  Physiotherapy unit has 
relocated to the Hub from the Mount Hospital. 

No of meetings per year: 
 
Two 

Usual time of meeting(s): 
 
4.30 pm 

Normal amount of 
notice given of 
meeting(s): 
 
6 months 

Desired skills, qualities, 
knowledge or experience 
Members should have: 

Knowledge of local issues/needs.  Ability to chair meetings. 

Details of any training 
provided: 

None. 

Details of anticipated 
workload: 
eg will member attend 
meeting only or be 
involved in other work?  

Currently meetings only but may become involved in high 
level issues especially those requiring funding. 

Name and address of 
contact for organisation: 

Tbc   

138



APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2021/22 
 

Eastleigh Local Area Committee  
 

Name of Organisation: UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON (WIDE LANE SPORTS 
FACILITIES - USER ADVISORY GROUP) 

2019/21 
Representative(s): 

Cllr J Doguie 

Contact Officer: Marianne Cairley 

Committee: Eastleigh Local Area Committee  

Terms of reference  
and objectives of 
organisation: 

1. Producing and agreeing an annual community sports 
development plan; 
2. Monitoring and reviewing the use of the facilities by the 
University and the local community; 
3. Discussing and advising on the fees to be charged for the 
use of the facilities; 
4. Monitoring and reviewing accidents and complaints; 
5. Monitoring and reviewing the condition and maintenance 
of the facilities. 

Key areas of interest and 
topical Issues for the 
organisation: 

The Council has an agreement with the University to 
provide outdoor sports facilities for the Eastleigh community, 
thus helping to address the shortfall in accessible sports 
pitches in the Borough. 

No of meetings per year: 
 
TBA 

Usual time of meeting(s): 
 
Evenings (exact times to be agreed) 

Normal amount of 
notice given of 
meeting(s): 
 
At least 3 months 
normally 

Desired skills, qualities, 
knowledge or experience 
Members should have: 

An interest in sports development and promoting active 
participation in physical recreation; experience of 
partnership working; knowledge of the operation of large 
public leisure facilities. 

Details of any training 
provided: 

To be agreed. 

Details of anticipated 
workload: 
eg will member attend 
meeting only or be 
involved in other work?  

Formal meetings only. 

Name and address of 
contact for organisation: 

Marianne Cairley 
Health and Wellbeing Specialist 
Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

139



This page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE  

Tuesday, 8 June 2021  

FINANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Report of the Local Area Manager 

 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that   
 
(1) £207,303.64 is allocated to the North Stoneham Park Community Building 

project from developers’ contributions; 

(2) £19,500 is allocated to the Lawn Road Recreation Ground improvements, with 
£12,500 from the revenue budget and £7k from developers’ contributions; 

(3) £5,000 is allocated to the Bishopstoke Recreation Ground riverbank repairs 
from the developers’ contributions; and 

(4) £2,000 is allocated for commemorative seats at the Eastleigh War Memorial 
from the revenue reserve. 

 

Summary 
 
This report contains recommendations for expenditure from the Committee’s capital 
budget and revenue budget.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011, ie the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.  

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The recommendations in this report support the Council’s approach to 
localism by allocating devolved resources to meet local needs. The 
recommendations align with Corporate Plan objectives of Tackling 
Deprivation, Enabling Healthier Lifestyles and Wellbeing and Supporting an 
Excellent Environment. 

141

Agenda Item 11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

North Stoneham Park Community Building  

2. The new community building on the North Stoneham Park development 
opened to the public in May this year. While the site was affected by a period 
of bad weather in the autumn and the delays due to Covid, the build has 
otherwise gone according to plan and the YMCA, the building tenants and 
operators, are now in occupation. Evening room hires are nearly fully booked, 
and the day-time hires are also proving popular. A formal launch event is 
being planned for September this year to allow for a period of uncertainty with 
the proposed lifting of restrictions in June.  

3. The Council secured the funding for the building from the developer within the 
Section 106 Agreement, to ensure delivery at an optimum time during the 
development. Some of the build costs were forward funded, pending a capital 
receipt from the developer. The funds have now been received and now need 
to be formally allocated to the project. They cover the cost of the Council’s 
project management work together with the building fit out cost. It is therefore 
recommended that the following funds are allocated from developers’ 
contributions: 

Community Building Administration Contribution £50,385.74 

Community Building Fit Out Contribution £114,318.90 

Deed of Variation Community Building fit out contribution £42,599.00 

 

Lawn Road Recreation Ground improvements 

4. The Lawn Road Recreation Ground play improvements project is well 
underway. New earth mounds have been formed and been allowed to settle 
for six months. We can now proceed with the next stages, which involve the 
procurement and installation of the main pieces of new equipment on and 
around the mounds. A tender exercise was recently completed; however, the 
cheapest quote was £7,000 over the £68,000 estimated budget. Councillors 
would like to proceed with the full installation, and it is therefore recommended 
that a further £7,000 is allocated from the following developers’ contributions: 

OSF/15/77475, Elite Murphy Development, 37 Twyford Rd, 
Eastleigh 
 

£616.72 

OSF/14/74660, First Wessex, Land corner of Wide Land & South 
Street, Eastleigh 

£3,628.45 
 

OSF/11/70108, Taylor Wimpey, Travis Perkins Site, Mill Street, 
Eastleigh 
 

£1,708.75 
 

F/13/72562, S Roberts, 77 Allbrook Hill, Eastleigh £1,046.08 

142



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Total £7,000 

 

5. Since this project was first designed the Committee has developed a 
specification for deep refurbishments of existing play areas, to extend their life 
and make them more appealing to local residents. Two such refurbishments 
were completed last year, at Leigh Road Recreation Ground and Grantham 
Green, each costing in the region of £12,000. The Committee has created a 
new £24,000 annual budget for an on-going rolling programme of play area 
refurbishments.  

6. It is now suggested that a similar refurbishment is undertaken with toddler 
play area at Lawn Road, at a cost of £12,500. It is therefore recommended 
that £12,500 is allocated for this project from the Play Area Revenue Budget.  

Bishopstoke Recreation Ground riverbank repairs 

7. The northernmost area of the Bishopstoke Recreation Ground is prone to 
regular seasonal flooding. This usually recedes and leaves the area relatively 
dry through the summer, allowing access for walkers along the riverside 
footpath and for the nearby rugby pitches to be used. The most recent floods 
have washed away several metres of riverbank, creating a more permanent 
breach. This is diverting a significant amount of the river flow onto to the 
recreation ground resulting in a reduced flow in the main channel. The knock-
on effect is a lower flow over the nearby fish pass, which is threatening the 
upstream migration of the breeding salmon and trout. The River Itchen 
footpath has now been severed and walkers have to wade through a short 
stretch next to the breach. Lastly the recreation ground itself is now 
underwater and unlikely to dry this year and the rugby practice pitch is 
partially affected. Without further action the breach will grow, and the river 
water diversion will increase.  

8. Hampshire County Council Public Rights of Way Team and the Environment 
Agency are working with the Council to develop the most cost-effective 
solution and explore funding options. The reinstatement of the bank will cost 
in the region of £10,000 to £15,000. The riverbank and fishing rights are 
owned by the Fleming Estate [need to confirm], and the footpath passes over 
this land. The Landowner has indicated they are unable to fund the bank 
repairs. The Environment Agency Legal Team have advised that there is no 
law requiring the landowner to repair the bank in this circumstance.  

9. Bearing in mind the loss of amenity, The County Council and Environment 
Agency are each willing to contribute £5,000 and have asked the Council to 
contribute an equal share. 

10. Councillors wish to repair the bank as soon as possible and restore the 
footpath. It is therefore recommended that £5,000 is allocated from the 
following developers’ contributions: 

143



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

TRF/04/50286C Grayston & R Clarke Re: 31 Barton Road, 
Eastleigh Receipt Date:23/11/2006 formerly allocated to 
T9054025 ITI (30.3.09) Footway on North Side of Bishopstoke Rd 
(12.5.09) 

£1,443.72 

TRF/06/58397, Cranbourne Homes Re: 4 Dutton Lane, Eastleigh 
Receipt Date:16/11/2006, formerly allocated to T9054025 ITI 
(30.3.09) Footway on North Side of Bishopstoke Rd (12.5.09) 

£722.06 

OSF/14/74660, First Wessex, Land corner of Wide Land & South 
Street, Eastleigh 

£2,834.22 

Total £5,000 

 

War Memorial commemorative seats 

11. 2021 marks the centenary of the Royal British Legion supporting veterans and 
their families in Eastleigh, and Local Councillors would like to join in 
commemorating this milestone. The Eastleigh War Memorial provides the 
focal point for the annual service for the whole Borough and well over two 
hundred people attend each year. The memorial has no seating and as the 
audience are often elderly the Local Area Committee would like to join with 
the Mayor to provide two new seats, with a bespoke design to commemorate 
the Centenary.  

12. The estimated cost for the supply and installation of the seats is £4,000 and it 
is therefore recommended that £2,000 is allocated from the revenue reserve, 
with the balance being funded corporately. 

Equality Impact Assessment 

13. An Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out for this report, as the 
events and services are designed to be inclusive. A separate equality impact 
assessment has already been carried out for the Lawn Road Project and both 
the riverbank repairs and the seating projects focus on improving 
accessibility.   

Climate Change and Environmental Implications  

14. This report contains a projects with varying environmental impacts. The 
Council’s project management process includes individual assessments of 
this impact and how to mitigate it. The Lawn Road Project has considered 
environmental impact through the original project initiation document process 
and is seeking to use long life materials and re-use a large percentage of play 
equipment through a comprehensive refurbishment process.   

GUY RIDDOCH 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER 

 
Date: 8 June 2021 
Contact Officer: Guy Riddoch  
Tel No: 02380 683369 

144



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

e-mail: guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: None 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 

145



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	ELAC AIRPORT minutes 25 March 2021

	7 Planning Application - Land West of Allbrook Way, Knowle Hill, Eastleigh, SO50 4LZ - O/19/86980
	8 Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) - Various Roads in Eastleigh
	TRO Appendix 1
	TRO Appendix 2
	TRO Appendix 3

	9 Guiding Regeneration for Eastleigh Town Centre
	Regeneration of Eastleigh Town Centre - Appendix 1

	10 Appointments to Outside Bodies
	Outside Bodies Appendix 1

	11 Financial Management Report

